ETHNIC AND GENDER DIFFERENCES IN THE CORRELATES OF BONE MINERAL DENSITY

by

Deanna Darlene Hill

BS, Howard University, 1993

MPH, University of Michigan, 1995

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2005

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

Deanna Darlene Hill

It was defended on

April 14, 2005

and approved by

Clareann H. Bunker, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Carol E. Baker, PhD, Associate Professor/Director Office of Measurement and Evaluation, School of Education, University of Pittsburgh

Alan L. Patrick, MD, Adjunct Associate Professor, Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Gloria L. Beckles, MD, MSc, Medical Epidemiologist, Division of Diabetes Translation, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Jane A. Cauley, DrPH, Professor, Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh Dissertation Director Copyright by Deanna Darlene Hill 2005

ETHNIC AND GENDER DIFFERENCES IN THE CORRELATES OF BONE MINERAL DENSITY

Deanna Darlene Hill, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2005

ABSTRACT

Osteoporosis is an important public health concern because of the significant morbidity and mortality associated with osteoporotic fractures. It is well established that ethnic and gender differences influence osteoporosis risk, but the etiology of these differences is not well studied. The goals of this research were to examine correlates of hip bone mineral density (BMD) and rates of bone loss among persons of African ancestry in three complementary analyses.

In the first analysis, correlates of BMD were identified for 1,784 Tobagonian males, aged 40-84 years. BMD was inversely associated with age, height, and history of a broken bone. Lean mass, working on a fishing boat, and diabetes were positively associated with BMD. Correlates explained 25% of the variability in hip and femoral neck BMD.

Correlates of BMD were also identified for 340 postmenopausal Tobagonian females, aged 50-94 years. BMD was positively associated with weight, thiazide diuretics, aspirin, recent back pain, and diabetes. BMD was inversely associated with age, thyroid medication, family history of fracture, and beta-blockers. Correlates explained 37% - 38% of the variability in hip and femoral neck BMD.

Lastly, ethnic differences in rates of bone loss within gender were investigated among 457 Caucasian and 121 African American males and females, aged 65-87 years. Baseline and follow-up BMD was measured four years apart. African American males lost significantly less

hip BMD compared to Caucasian males (-0.04% vs. -0.45%), after adjusting for covariates. Longitudinal changes in lean and fat mass explained more variability in rates of bone loss than weight, after adjustment for covariates.

In conclusion, BMD was approximately one standard deviation higher among Tobagonians, despite gender, compared to NHANES data for African American males and females. Correlates of BMD were similar across gender among Tobagonians. Interestingly, older African American females had rates of bone loss that were comparable to Caucasian females, while African American males experienced significantly lower rates of hip bone loss.

With our aging society and longer life expectancies for persons of African ancestry, the public health significance of this research is that osteoporosis may have a greater impact among minorities in the future.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNO	WLEDGEMENTS	X		
1. Intr	oduction			
2. Lite	terature Review: Epidemiology of Osteoporosis			
2.1.	Disease Burden	2		
2.2.	Public Health Impact	2		
2.3.	Background			
2.3.	1. Bone Biology			
2.3.	2. Phases of Bone Growth			
2.3.	3. Bone Metabolism	6		
2.3.	4. Genetics	11		
2.4.	Bone Mineral Density			
2.5.	Bone Loss	30		
2.6.	Hip Fractures			
2.7.	Synopsis			
2.8.	References	40		
3. Cor	3. Correlates of Bone Mineral Density in Men of African Caribbean Ancestry: Tobago Bone			
Health S	tudy	51		
3.1.	Abstract	52		
3.2.	Introduction	53		
3.3.	Methods	54		
3.4.	Results	57		
3.5.	Discussion	59		
3.6.	References	64		
4. Cor	relates of Bone Mineral Density among Postmenopausal Women of Africar	1 Caribbean		
Ancestry	r: Tobago Women's Health Study	76		
4.1.	Abstract	77		
4.2.	Introduction			
4.3.	Methods	79		
4.4.	Results	83		
4.5.	Discussion	87		
4.6.	References			
5. Bor	ne Mineral Density and Body Composition Changes in Older African An	nerican and		
Caucasia	an Men and Women	103		
5.1.	Abstract			
5.2.	Introduction	105		
5.3.	Methods			
5.4.	Results	110		
5.5.	Discussion			
5.6.	References			

25
30
32
33
36
36
37
こうららろろろ

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1. Descriptive Characteristics (N=1,784) 71
Table 3-2. Correlates of Total Hip Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent Difference in
BMD per Unit Change of the Variable
Table 3-3. Correlates of Femoral Neck Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent
Difference in BMD per Unit Change of the Variable
Table 3-4. Statistically Significant Correlates of Hip BMD in Multiple Linear Regression
Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation of the
Predictor Variables (n=1,666)74
Table 3-5. Statistically Significant Correlates of Femoral Neck BMD in Multiple Linear
Regression Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation
of the Predictor Variables (n=1,666)
Table 4-1. Descriptive characteristics (N=340) 96
Table 4-2. Correlates of Total Hip Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent Difference in
BMD per Unit Change of the Variable
Table 4-3. Correlates of Femoral Neck Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent
Difference in BMD per Unit Change of the Variable
Table 4-4. Statistically Significant Correlates of Hip BMD in Multiple Linear Regression
Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation of the
Predictor Variables (n=339) 101
Table 4-5. Statistically Significant Correlates of Femoral Neck BMD in Multiple Linear
Regression Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation
of the Predictor Variables (n=339) 102
Table 5-1. Baseline Descriptive Characteristics 120
Table 5-2. Age-Adjusted Annualized Percent Changes in BMD and Body Composition ^a 121
Table 5-3. Adjusted Annualized Percent Changes in BMD ^a 122
Table 5-4. Final Multiple Regression Models for Annualized Percentage Change in
BMD/BMAD Among Females
Table 5-5. Final Multiple Regression Models for Annualized Percentage Change in
BMD/BMAD Among Males 124

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1. Mean total hip BMD (g/cm ²) by gender and ethnicity, NHANES III, US 1988-1994
Figure 2-2. Mean femoral neck BMD (g/cm ²) by gender and ethnicity, NHANES III, US 1988-
1994
Figure 2-3. Hip fracture incidence rates (per 1,000 person-years) by gender and ethnicity, US
1986-89
Figure 3-1. Mean total hip BMD (g/cm ²) for Tobago males compared to African American and
Caucasian American males, NHANES III, US 1988-1994
Figure 3-2. Mean femoral neck BMD (g/cm ²) for Tobago males compared to African American
and Caucasian American males, NHANES III, US 1988-1994
Figure 4-1. Mean total hip BMD (g/cm ²) for Tobago females compared to African American and
Caucasian American females, NHANES III, US 1988-1994
Figure 4-2. Mean femoral neck BMD (g/cm ²) for Tobago females compared to Tobago females
compared to African American and Caucasian American females, NHANES III, US 1988-
1994

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my parents, Janet and Russell L. Hill, for always encouraging me to pursue my goals and their enduring love and support. To my husband, Lucky E. Oamen, I appreciate your love, encouragement, wisdom, and patience during my most difficult times. Lucky, Mom, and Dad, whenever I felt troubled, just the sound of your voice made me feel much better and gave me the courage to continue. To my older brother, Darryl L. Hill, you were my very first 'teacher' and you have always applauded my accomplishments. I thank you for being so understanding over the years. I am so fortunate to have friends who encouraged me and laughed with me, instead of crying at times, when I needed your friendship most. To my family members and loved ones, we have traveled along this educational journey together! I thank you for your prayers and compassion.

To my committee members, my deepest gratitude for patiently guiding me through the dissertation process, challenging me to stretch beyond my comfort level, and not giving up on me. Jane, thank you for being a great advisor and I have learned so much from you. I know that you had my best interest in mind and I appreciate the telephone calls and e-mails when I was not in regular communication. Dr. Baker, you helped me so much throughout my dissertation and encouraged me at every milestone to forge ahead. You were always available to meet with me when I had statistical questions and provided the quickest feedback. Dr. Bunker, thank you for your support, thorough review of my work, and willingness to share your experiences with international research. You really helped me get through the first few days in Trinidad and Tobago. Dr. Patrick, many thanks for allowing me to complete my dissertation research in Tobago. I looked forward to your Wednesday visits to Tobago and our conversations about medicine, research, and life in Tobago. Special thanks to Mrs. Phillips, Nurse Leach, Nurse de la

х

Rosa, Nurse Richins, and Nurse Joseph who welcomed me with open arms and helped me adjust to life in Tobago. I will always remember Thanksgiving 2002 in Tobago. To the entire staff of the Tobago Research Office, I thank you for rallying around the Tobago Women's Health Study and know that your efforts contributed to the successful completion of the study in a short period of time. Gloria, I am greatly indebted to you for being a member of my committee, in addition to all of your other responsibilities. I appreciate your suggestions and willingness to help me work through some of the challenges I faced along the way to completing my degree. I remember when we met 10 years ago; I was most intrigued by your knowledge of epidemiology and enthusiasm for good epidemiological research. You still inspire me to do my best a decade later.

Throughout my academic and professional experiences, I have met some wonderful people whom I consider my mentors. Mr. Ronald Valutis, Mrs. Tobi McCampbell, Ms. Sherry Magee, Mrs. Eugenia Carpenter, Dr. Marvella Ford, and Dr. Gloria Beckles, I gratuitously thank you for believing in me and sharing your knowledge.

Last, but definitely not least, I dedicate this research to the loving memory of my grandmother, Mrs. Ophelia Ruth Perdue (1900-1991), and other loved ones who live on in memory.

xi

1. Introduction

This body of research focuses on ethnic and gender differences in the correlates of bone mineral density (BMD). Chapter 2 of this document is a review of the literature on the natural history of osteoporosis, BMD, and well-known correlates of BMD. Special emphasis is placed on ethnic and gender differences and gaps in the literature. To address the paucity of literature on the ethnic and gender differences in the risk of developing osteoporosis, three separate analyses were undertaken to evaluate the correlates of BMD and changes in BMD over time among persons of African ancestry.

In chapters 3 and 4 we examined the interrelationships between BMD and demographic, lifestyle, anthropometric, and health-related factors among Tobagonian males and females, respectively. In the first analysis, correlates of total hip and femoral neck BMD were examined in a population-based study of 1,784 Tobagonian males, aged 40 years and older (Chapter 3). A similar analysis was undertaken to identify correlates of total hip and femoral neck BMD among 340 postmenopausal Tobagonian females, aged 50 years and older. Because the analyses with Tobagonian males and females were cross-sectional, we then examined longitudinal changes in total hip and femoral neck BMD among older African American (n=121) and Caucasian American (n=457) males and females. The objective of this final analysis was to evaluate ethnic differences in rates of bone loss within gender (Chapter 4). Factors associated with rates of bone loss were also examined (Chapter 4). Findings from these three complementary analyses are summarized in the final section of this document (Chapter 5).

2. Literature Review: Epidemiology of Osteoporosis

2.1. Disease Burden

Osteoporosis (OP) is a metabolic bone disease that affects the entire musculoskeletal system. (1) OP is characterized by reduced bone mineral density (BMD) and microarchitectural deterioration of bony tissue. (1, 4, 5) These age-related changes in bone contribute to decreased skeletal strength, which is a precursor for fragility and increased fracture risk. In the U.S., OP is clinically recognized by low trauma fractures at the proximal femur (hip), proximal and distal forearm (wrist), vertebrae (spine), and other skeletal sites. (1, 5-8)

2.2. Public Health Impact

OP is a major public health problem, especially among older persons. OP afflicts females more often than males, affecting approximately 44 million females in the United States and another 200 million females worldwide. (2) While OP can affect people of all ethnic groups and both genders, this disease is more prevalent in Caucasian females. (3)

An estimated 1.5 million osteoporotic fractures are reported annually in the US. (2) Osteoporotic-fractures cause significant morbidity and mortality. (1, 5, 9, 10) In 2001, over 17 billion dollars was spent on treatment for osteoporotic fractures and 7% of these costs were used to treat non-Caucasian males and females. (2) Hip fractures have significant economic costs and cause more disability than other osteoporotic fractures. (1) The incidence rate of hip fractures increase exponentially with age. (6, 11) Approximately 50% of people who sustain a hip fracture will have permanent functional disability greater than before hip fracture. Hip fractures are associated with a 15-20% increase in mortality, especially among older persons. (3, 12)

The number of hip fractures worldwide is expected to increase three-fold, from 1.7 million in 1990 to 6.3 million by 2050. (1, 13) One reason for this projected rise in hip fractures

is the increasing life expectancy for persons over the age of 65 years. For example, the number of older minorities is expected to double. (9) Minorities will comprise a larger proportion of the worldwide population and since OP primarily affects older persons, there may be dramatic increases in hip fracture risk among males and minorities. The incidence rate of hip fracture among minorities is lower than Caucasians. (2)

2.3. Background

2.3.1. Bone Biology

The skeletal system is comprised of cartilage and bone. (1, 14, 15) Bone is a living connective tissue consisting of cells and extracellular matrix. (14, 15) Connective tissue of bone has mechanical, protective, and metabolic functions. The extracellular matrix of bone tissue encompasses organic and inorganic components. Collagen fibers are the primary constituents of the organic extracellular matrix. Sixty-five percent of the extracellular matrix is inorganic matter, consisting of calcium and phosphate. Calcium and phosphate deposits are arranged into hydroxyapatite crystals that adhere to collagen fibers.

Bone is comprised of 70% calcium, 22% protein, and 8% water. Bone is also the main mineral repository of calcium, where 98% of the body's calcium is stored and maintained. (14, 15) Calcium is responsible for many biological functions such as bone mineralization, blood clotting, and membrane stability at the extracellular level.

Bone is often classified by its shape and structure. Axial and appendicular are just two types of bone shapes. Long bones are enchondral and provide structural support and include the humerus, radius, and hip. (14, 15) Flat bones are membranous and include the sternum, ribs, and vertebral bodies. (14, 15) Cortical and trabecular are bone structures. Cortical bone is approximately 80% of the skeletal mass and represents the external (periosteal) structure of bone

that is formed by dense (compact), calcified tissue. (14, 15) Cortical bone provides mechanical and protective support. (14, 15) Trabecular bone is made of chancellors and/or spongy tissue that is responsible for metabolic function. (14, 15) The appendicular skeleton (i.e., forearm or heel) is comprised mostly of cortical bone while the axial skeleton (i.e., hip, ribs or spine) is made up of both cortical and trabecular bone. Trabecular bone mass makes up 25% of whole body mass and the surface area of trabecular bone exceeds cortical bone. The spine and hip contain both cortical and trabecular.

Osteocytes, osteoblasts, and osteoclasts are three types of cells in mature bone tissue. Osteocytes originate from osteoblasts that are trapped during bone formation and mineralization. Osteocytes maintain bone matrix and are integral in bone homeostasis. Osteoblasts are bone forming cells that produce and secrete collagenous, non-collagenous, and regulatory factors. Osteoclast activity is the mechanism by which old bone is resorbed and removed. Conversely, osteoblast activity rebuilds new bone using collagen. Osteoblast cells secrete a bone matrix that encapsulates cells that form osteocytes.

2.3.2. Phases of Bone Growth

Skeletal health is largely determined by peak bone mass (PBM). (16-19) PBM is the quantitative amount of bony tissue accumulated from uterine life through the end of skeletal maturation. (16-19) the timing of PBM acquisition differs for axial and appendicular bone. It is estimated that in the second decade of life, the axial skeleton has achieved PBM. For the appendicular skeleton, it is estimated that the rate of bone growth slows considerably during late adolescence and PBM is attained earlier at the axial skeleton. Once skeletal maturation or PBM is achieved, bone mass does not increase any further. Approximately 90% of PBM is acquired by age 18 years. (18-20)

Bone mass acquisition and loss occurs in three phases across the life cycle for both males and females. The first phase is during early childhood when bone is acquired. Throughout adolescence, 50% of peak adult bone mass is acquired. The second phase is bone stabilization in the third decade until late fourth or early fifth decade. During this phase, there is virtually no bone loss and the final phase of bone growth occurs in the fifth decade. (21) PBM may be influenced by a number of factors including hormonal, physical activity, lifestyle, and nutritional factors. (19, 22) Nearly 60% of the risk of developing OP among older persons is explained by PBM acquisition. (17, 22)

Gender Differences in PBM

At birth until puberty, gender differences in bone mass are almost non-existent. (18) The onset of pubertal maturation accompanies gender differences in bone mass. Biochemical markers of bone formation and resorption are higher among males compared to age-matched females, resulting in rapid mineral accrual among males. Pubescent males have a longer bone growth period compared to females resulting in a greater increase in bone size and cortical thickness for males. (18, 19, 23)

Ethnic Differences in PBM

Research has shown that AA children develop higher PBM than Caucasian children, and this difference in PBM partially explains the lower risk of fracture among adult AAs. (24) A small study of 28 adolescent females found that AA adolescents absorb and retain calcium more efficiently than Caucasians, which favors bone accretion. Ethnic differences in calcium metabolism may account for higher BMD that has been observed in AA adults. (24) Another study of young adults showed that PBM was higher among AAs compared to Caucasians, and these ethnic differences did not vary by gender. (25) Higher bone mass among AAs compared to

Caucasians is related, in part, to larger bone size that has been observed in AAs. Within ethnicity, AAs achieve higher PBM compared to native Africans and these differences are attributed to nutritional and health-related factors.

2.3.3. Bone Metabolism

Healthy bone is constantly remodeling through a controlled process that is necessary for bone growth and repair. (14) The bone-remodeling pathway is initiated by signal transduction from osteocytes stimulating bone resorption (osteoclast activity). which triggers bone osteogenesis/formation (osteoblast activity). A synergistic relationship exists between bone formation and bone resorption and this relationship is controlled by calcitropic hormones, namely vitamin D metabolites (25 hydroxyvitamin D and one, alpha 25 dihydroxyvitamin D [25OHD and 1, 25(OH)₂D₃ respectively]), calcitonin, and parathyroid hormone (PTH). Bone remodeling is influenced by mechanical stimuli, hormonal changes (estrogen deficiency or hyperthyroidism), growth factors, and inflammation (rheumatoid arthritis or periodontal disease) that cause pathological alterations in bone tissue. Throughout the third decade of life, bone remodeling is in a state of equilibrium where bone resorption is coupled by bone formation. Around age 40, osteoblast activity is reduced and subsequent imbalances in remodeling contributes to small deficits of bone.(14) This imbalance between bone resorption and bone restoration causes skeletal fragility (i.e., low BMD), elevated excretion of urine metabolites (measured by biochemical assays), subsequent bone loss, and the gradual onset of OP later in life.(14)

Calcitropic Hormones

Dietary calcium and protein are essential for normal bone metabolism. Calcium regulates cell growth and low dietary calcium intake negatively influences bone metabolism by initially

depleting serum (circulating) calcium. The body will attempt to restore normal levels of serum calcium by releasing parathyroid hormone (PTH) which causes the kidney to convert inactive 25(OH)D to an active metabolite of 1, $25(OH)_2D_3$. Increased bone resorption is caused by 1, $25(OH)_2D_3$. When elevated PTH levels combine with 1, $25(OH)_2D_3$, this leads to increases in bone resorption.(14) Small increases in levels of PTH over time are associated with decreased vitamin D and increased levels of biochemical markers of bone turnover resulting from continued loss of BMD.(26,27)

25(OH)D has been shown to decrease with age, while PTH increases.(28-31) Secondary hyperparathyroidism (HPTH) results, in part, from vitamin D deficiency but is also related to sustained elevations in PTH levels.(32) The sustained elevations in PTH levels cause a continued state of high bone turnover, which usually reduces approximately 10 years following menopause in females.(26,31) HPTH causes higher rates of bone turnover, accelerated cortical bone loss, low BMD, and increased risk of fracture.(26,31,32) Research examining the ethnic differences in HPTH, increased bone turnover, and subsequent lower BMD is conflicting.(26,33) Since AAs have higher rates of PTH and low levels of 25OHD, there is some concern that secondary HPTH is more prevalent in AAs compared to Caucasians.(27,32-35) Some research suggests that AAs have skeletal resistance to the bone resorbing effects of PTH since bone turnover is lower, BMD is higher, and fracture rates are lower in AAs, despite elevated levels of PTH.(32,35) Conversely, other studies have identified normal PTH levels in AAs compared to Caucasians.(31,36)

Markers of Bone Turnover

Serum osteocalcin (OC) and urinary N-telopeptide of type I collagen (NTX) are just two of the biochemical markers of bone formation and bone resorption, respectively.(26) OC is a small, hydroxyapatite-binding protein made by osteoblasts that measures osteoblast function, and levels of OC correlate with bone formation rates.(37) NTX is a degradation fragment that reflects osteoclast activity and is considered one of the best indices for assessing bone resorption.(37)

Biochemical markers of bone turnover are higher in children compared to adults because of the skeletal maturation phase that occurs during adolescence. Certain medications, medical conditions, menstrual cycle, time of day, season, exercise, nutritional factors, and physical immobility all affect biochemical markers of bone turnover.(37) For example, biochemical markers are elevated up to one year following a fracture but OC levels decrease substantially during pregnancy.(37) In the 3rd and 4th decades of life, biochemical markers of bone turnover are higher in males compared to females but at older ages, levels are higher in females than males.(37) One explanation for higher levels of biochemical markers in older females is that during menopause, these markers increase substantially and remain elevated for 10-15 years post menopause. Among perimenopausal females, declines in estrogen are accompanied by increased rates of skeletal remodeling, resulting in bone loss. This bone loss is related, in part, to diminished osteoblast activity that is unable to fully restore bone removed by osteoclasts during the resorption phase of skeletal remodeling.

In adult males, biochemical markers typically do not change with age.(37,38) Mechanisms of bone turnover are essential for understanding the pathogenesis of OP because changes in biochemical markers of bone turnover reflect alterations in skeletal metabolism like bone loss.

Biochemical markers of bone turnover are representative of rates of bone resorption and formation in the entire body and therefore, biochemical markers of bone turnover may provide additional insight into age-related changes in BMD since alterations in marker levels are parallel with declines in BMD.(37,38)

8

Ethnic Differences in Rates of Bone Turnover

Comparative studies of AA and Caucasian children as well as adults have demonstrated biochemical markers of bone turnover were lower in AAs compared that to Caucasians.(22,34,36,37) Several studies have also identified higher OC levels in Caucasians compared to AAs suggesting more bone remodeling activity among Caucasians.(31,36,39,40) Even though dietary calcium intake is lower in AA females compared to Caucasian females, calcium efficiency is the same in these two groups.(35) For example, Kleerekoper et al. studied the relationship between BMD, calcitropic hormones, and biochemical markers of bone turnover in 112 AA and 250 Caucasian postmenopausal females aged 55-75 years who were enrolled in a health maintenance organization.(40) In this study, biochemical markers of bone formation and resorption were significantly lower in AAs compared to Caucasians, indicating lower rates of bone remodeling for AAs.(40) Although serum PTH levels were significantly higher in AA females, mean BMD was also higher than Caucasians. This finding suggests that AA females may have greater skeletal resistance to PTH because of lower bone remodeling rates in the presence of elevated PTH and lower OC levels.(40) In another study with AA and Caucasian males, researchers also suspected mild skeletal resistance to PTH in AA males because of elevated PTH in the small sample examined.(33)

A community-based, multi-site study of 2,313 peri- and premenopausal multiethnic females demonstrated that Caucasian females had the highest mean serum OC levels compared to AA, Chinese, and Japanese females, even after adjustment for covariates.(41) Similar results were observed for mean urinary NTX levels after adjusting for covariates, thereby indicating higher biochemical markers of bone turnover in Caucasian females compared to AA and Chinese females in this study.(41) Data from cross-sectional and prospective studies support the premise

that bone turnover indices, serum calcidiol levels, and urinary calcium excretion are lower in AA males and females compared to Caucasian males and females.(26,31,35,36,40,41) Research suggests that AAs have lower levels of 1, $25(OH)_2D_3$, an indicator of reduced bone remodeling/turnover, compared to Caucasians, but mean BMD values are higher and the risk of fracture is lower among AAs.(26,31,35,36,40,41)

Endogenous Sex Hormones

Adequate levels of serum estradiol are necessary for PBM acquisition in both males and females, control of bone remodeling during reproductive years for females, and at older ages for males.(18,42) Estrogen promotes BMD by reducing bone resorption activity of osteoclasts. A positive relationship exists between serum estradiol and BMD in older females at all skeletal sites as well as males, depending on the skeletal site.(42) Review of the sex hormone literature suggests that estradiol was the dominant sex hormone that regulates bone resorption in males and females. Sex hormones maintain stable rates of bone turnover, thereby preserving BMD. (22,38,42) An inverse relationship exists between age and both serum estradiol and testosterone in males and females.(34,42)

Gender Differences in Sex Hormones

Gonadal sex steroid hormones may contribute to gender differences in BMD and both males and females experience age-related changes in testosterone and estradiol.(22,38) Females with hormonal dysfunction have low serum estradiol and elevated gonadotropin levels. (38) Males with hormonal dysfunction experience low testosterone levels commonly referred to as hypogonadism, which is a condition that manifests from testicular dysfunction and results in reduced levels of free testosterone.(38) Research has shown that low BMD was associated with hypogonadism in elderly males and 20-30% of bone loss can be contributed to

hypogonadism.(43) Among females circulating estradiol was reduced by 90% during menopause and this decline in estrogen is associated with increased bone resorption and decreased BMD. The available research proposes a causal link between low estradiol levels, accelerated bone loss, and low BMD in both males and females. Variations in serum estradiol partially accounted for gender differences in the rate of bone loss.(18,42)

Ethnic Differences in Sex Hormones

Gonadal sex steroid hormones may also contribute to ethnic differences in BMD.(22) A study of 402 AA and Caucasian males and females between the ages of 25 and 36 years, demonstrated that younger AAs have higher mean serum testosterone levels compared to younger Caucasians, but there were no ethnic differences in estradiol levels among younger females.(22) Serum testosterone and estradiol levels are typically higher in pre- and postmenopausal AA females compared to Caucasian females. While Cauley et al. demonstrated that serum estrone levels were higher among older AA females in a study of 273 Caucasian and 86 AA females, which was largely explained by obesity, but serum testosterone levels were similar.(44) A study of 33 AA and Caucasian males also demonstrated that AA males had higher circulating estradiol concentrations, which may lead to greater secretion of growth hormone and higher bone mass in AAs.(45) Research suggests that AAs have higher levels of estradiol and/or testosterone throughout all phases of life and this disparity may provide insight into ethnic differences in BMD.(22,44-46) Growth hormones and insulin growth factor I are other sex hormones that may influence bone metabolism, BMD, and bone loss. Sex hormones will not be studied or reported in this research.

2.3.4. Genetics

BMD heritability ranges from 50 to 90% at all ages.(47) Research suggests that genetic factors contribute to 80% of the variability in PBM and genetic differences in bone metabolism account for ethnic differences in BMD.(22) Genetic markers also provide insight to age-related changes in BMD and hip fracture risk.(47,48) This research will not directly assess genetics and its relationship to ethnic and gender differences in BMD.

2.4. Bone Mineral Density

BMD is a strong determinant of fracture risk and bone strength.(12,49) Bone strength encompasses the amount of bone tissue, architectural arrangement of bone, the presence of bone matrix or mineralization abnormalities, and the presence of microfractures.(50) Bone mass accounts for 70-80% of bone strength and is primarily determined by PBM acquisition and age-related bone loss.(16,51) Areal BMD is measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and this device is the gold standard for measuring BMD at the hip and spine.(52) BMD is an estimated calculation of bone mineral within a specific scanned area (bone mineral content) divided by the projected area in the same region commonly referred to as areal density.(53) Areal BMD is a two-dimensional measurement that is based on bone length and width, which may be confounded by bone thickness.(53) Estimated volumetric BMD, defined as bone mineral apparent density (BMAD), is a calculation that partially adjusts for bone size and addresses potential confounding in areal BMD measures.(53)

The World Health Organization (WHO) diagnostic criteria for OP among postmenopausal Caucasian females is defined as hip, spine, or distal forearm BMD that lies 2.5 standard deviation (SD) or more below the young normal mean (T-score) of females aged 25-30 years.(1,53-56) Low BMD, a precursor to OP, is defined as BMD ranging between 1.0 to 2.5 SD below the young normal mean (T-score) at any one of the three skeletal sites previously

mentioned. Whether these diagnostic criteria are applicable to males and non-Caucasian females is unclear.

Low BMD is the best asymptomatic predictor of fracture risk. The lower the BMD, bone strength is diminished and less trauma is required to cause a fracture.(55-57) BMD can be measured at any skeletal site but areal hip BMD is a reliable surrogate for bone fragility that can be used to predict hip fracture risk.(1) Each SD decrease in BMD increases the risk of hip fracture two- to three-fold.(55-57) BMD varies by age, gender, and ethnicity and there is an age-related decrease in BMD across genders and ethnic groups.(58) PBM and patterns of bone loss determine BMD in older persons. Factors that influence PBM acquisition and patterns of bone loss have been discussed earlier.(16)

Gender Differences in BMD

Males acquire a greater amount of bone during skeletal maturation than females, such that males have a larger skeleton, which may confound areal BMD values.(16,51) Areal hip BMD is higher in males than females because males have a wider and longer femur than females.(16,51) Additional explanations for higher BMD in males compared to females include greater PBM acquisition, bone size, and slower rates of bone loss. Looker et al. examined gender differences in BMD using data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Survey (NHANES III). Before adjusting for body size, males had significantly higher BMD than females. After adjusting for body size, gender differences in BMD attenuated.(59)

Ethnic Differences in BMD

The National Osteoporotic Foundation provides estimates for the prevalence of OP and low BMD for US males and females aged 50 years and older. (2) According to these estimates, 4% of AA males are osteoporotic compared to 7% for Caucasian males. Nineteen percent of AA males are estimated to have low BMD compared to 35% of Caucasian males. Among AA females, 5% are osteoporotic compared to 10% of Caucasian females. An additional 35% of AA females and 49% of Caucasian females have low BMD. These estimates show that even though BMD is higher among persons of African ancestry, the risk of developing OP still exists. The ratio of low BMD measured at the femoral neck for African and Caucasian American females has been reported to be 1:7 at age 50 but at age 70, this ratio decreases considerably to 1:2.(35)

Mean total hip and femoral neck BMD data from the NHANES III are presented in figures 1 and 2 for non-institutionalized adults, aged 50 years and older in the US, by gender and ethnicity. (58) NHANES III data confirmed that AA males and females had greater hip and femoral neck BMD compared to Caucasians, and the greatest ethnic difference was observed for hip BMD. (58) Indeed, mean BMD values for AA females, aged 50-59 years, were comparable to mean BMD in Caucasian males of the same age. (58) Among males, AAs had mean total hip BMD that was 5% higher than Caucasians. These findings have been confirmed in other studies of AA and Caucasian males aged 23-80 years where AA males had 20% higher femoral neck and 8% higher whole body BMD compared to Caucasians. (64,65)



Looker et al. Osteoporosis International 1998; NHANES III

Figure 2-1. Mean total hip BMD (g/cm²) by gender and ethnicity, NHANES III, US 1988-1994



Looker et al. Osteoporosis International 1998; NHANES III



NHANES III data also demonstrated that AA females had 10% higher total hip BMD than Caucasian females of the same age. Despite ethnic differences in mean BMD, 28% of AA females had low hip BMD, which increases the risk of hip fracture.(66) Major strengths of the NHANES III data are the inclusion of both males and females from two ethnic groups, older persons, and the generalizability of the data. These data represent the most comprehensive, population-based reference values of BMD in U.S. males and females by ethnicity.(66)

Higher BMD among AA females compared to Caucasian females has been reported in other prospective, large studies with minorities. Siris et al. confirmed that AA postmenopausal AA females had higher BMD than Caucasian females, but the inclusion criteria was very strict such that females who were previously diagnosed with OP, used therapeutic agents to preserve BMD, and recently had a DXA exam were excluded from the study.(3) Because these study participants do not mirror the general population, their findings may not be generalizable to all postmenopausal females since rates of low BMD and fracture risk may be underestimated.(3)

Most of the ethnic disparity in BMD is related to differences in skeletal growth and maturation. Persons of African ancestry do not necessarily have higher BMD compared to Caucasians.(67-69) Studies examining ethnic differences BMD in persons of African ancestry and Caucasians have been primarily conducted in US females.(40,70-72) Few studies have examined ethnic differences in BMD among males, and all have consistently shown higher BMD among AA males compared to Caucasian males.(65,73-77) A study with only 34 AA males and 160 Caucasian males, aged 23-80 years, found that AA males had higher BMD the Caucasian males at every site measured.(65) Femoral neck BMD was 20% higher for AA males than Caucasian males, but with only 34 AA males, these results should be confirmed in a larger sample of AA males.(65) Another small study compared BMD of Gambian males (n=12) living

in the UK to Caucasian males (n=10). The study population was young (aged 18-48 years) and Gambian males had 21% higher femoral neck BMD compared to Caucasian males, but BMD was not higher among Gambian males at other sites measured.(74) George et al. compared BMD among older AA (n=191) and Caucasian (n=503) males. Older AA males had 10% higher femoral neck BMD compared to older Caucasian males, even after adjusting for covariates.(75) In most of these studies, researchers suggested that body size partially accounted for the higher BMD observed in AA males, which could be a function of higher PBM. Dibba et al. suggested that lean mass, rather than body size, explained the higher femoral neck BMD among Gambian males (74)

Gender and ethnic differences in BMD persist even after adjusting for important covariates, which suggests that these differences in BMD cannot be completely explained by body size, clinical and biochemical variables.(44,64) Adjusting for bone size still does not eliminate, possibly minimizes, gender or ethnic differences in BMD because males have greater BMD than females, due to greater bone width. AAs have higher BMD compared to Caucasians because of thicker trabecular bone. (22,62,78) Based on this information, the underlying mechanism(s) of gender and ethnic differences in areal BMD and subsequent hip fracture risk are not clearly understood.

As mentioned previously, BMD also differs among persons of African ancestry living in different geographical locations, which suggests BMD heterogeneity and that caution should be exercised when considering persons of African ancestry as a homogenous group.(67,69,74,79) Different lifestyle factors may to contribute to geographical differences in persons of similar ancestry. It has been speculated that both native Africans and AAs have genetic characteristics for superior BMD compared to Caucasians, but the potential for high BMD is not realized in

African because of lifestyle factors and that BMD is not preserved with advancing age even though trauma fractures are minimized. (67,79)

A limited number of studies have examined determinants of BMD in persons of African ancestry, and these studies have been primarily conducted in the US and among females. (3,6,60-62) AA males and females, both young and older, have 3-20% higher BMD at all skeletal sites compared to Caucasian males and females. (34,58,62,63)

Correlates of BMD

Extensive examination of anthropometric and lifestyle correlates of BMD have been studied in Caucasian males and females. (7,11,12,80-92) Results from population-based studies of middle-aged and older Caucasian males and females consistently found that age, low body mass index (BMI), inadequate dietary calcium intake, current cigarette smoking, and physical inactivity were risk factors for low BMD. Other risk factors for low BMD include medical history (personal history of fracture, osteoarthritis, gastrectomy, and etc.) and anthropometric factors (shorter height, lower weight, lower grip strength, and etc.)

Few studies have examined risk factors associated with lower BMD among AA males and females. (60,70,75) In a population-based study of AA males and females, low BMI, cigarette smoking, and physical inactivity (males only) were risk factors for low BMD.(70) Furthermore, the presence of one or more of these risk factors increased the risk of low BMD 2fold for AA females and 3-fold for AA males, after adjusting for the effects of age.(70) A recent study by Robbins et al. examined correlates of BMD among 302 AA and 1289 Caucasian males and females in the Cardiovascular Health Study.(60) Older age and female gender were associated with lower BMD and interestingly, weight explained 21 and 27% of the variability in hip BMD for females and males, respectively.(60) Robbins et al. did not find a significant association between smoking, physical inactivity, alcohol consumption and BMD among this small sample of older AAs, perhaps due to inadequate power.(60)

George et al. examined correlates of BMD among 191 older AA males, aged 65+ years, and found that taller height, higher weight, and physical activity were positively associated with BMD measured at the femoral neck and smoking was inversely associated with BMD. (75)

Age

Each decade of life translates to a 1.4 to 1.8-fold increase risk of fracture in both males and females because of substantial decline in BMD, gradual weakening of bone, declines in neuromuscular function, and increased risk of falls.(1,50,93) Aging is related to a curvilinear decline in musculoskeletal mass, linear decline in lean mass, and increase in fat mass.(94-96) Low BMD, lifestyle factors, falls, elevated cytokines, and reduced osteoblastic activity are common manifestations of aging that may lead to increases in fracture risk for both males and females. Older age alone increases risk of fracture such that an older person with the same mean BMD as a younger person is at higher absolute risk of fracture. Females in the eighth and ninth decade of life experience accelerated rates of bone loss greater than the immediate postmenopausal period. (1,93)

Anthropometry

Several studies have demonstrated that body weight and/or BMI is positively associated with BMD and that both are important predictors of BMD.(60,85,86,91,97,98) The protection from body weight stems from mechanical force that is exerted on to the skeleton, increased sex steroid levels, and growth factors.(99) Body weight is comprised of several components, including fat mass and lean mass, commonly referred to as body composition.(100,101) Lean mass combines muscle, visceral and connective tissue, glycogen, and body water. Fat mass is a

measure of adiposity. Estimates of soft-tissue lean mass and fat mass are calculated from whole body DXA. The contribution of lean and fat mass to BMD remains unclear because some studies report that lean mass was a stronger determinant of BMD (64,84,102), other studies report fat mass was stronger(103-105), and then it was reported that both were important determinants of BMD.(106) Research confirms that there is a progressive decline in lean mass and a progressive increase in fat mass with increasing age for both males and females. The age-related decrease in lean mass is associated with disability (80,96,107,108), but ethnic differences in age-related changes in body composition are not well established.

Anthropometric Gender Differences

Body weight is typically greater among males than females. Females who experience weight loss during perimenopause typically have higher rates of annualized BMD loss at the hip and spine.(109) Few studies examining the interrelationships between body composition and BMD have included minorities.(34,62,71,110,111) Research has shown that lean mass is greater in males compared to females and that fat mass is higher in females than males, especially in postmenopausal females.(112) Fat mass appears to be associated with BMD among postmenopausal females and lean mass is a strong predictor of BMD among males.(83)

Anthropometric Ethnic Differences

Anthropometric differences exist between AAs and Caucasian as demonstrated by AAs being heavier and taller, which is due in part to obesity and a larger musculoskeletal system in AAs, which may contribute to higher BMD among AAs.(34,64,106,113) AAs are thought to have genetically greater skeletal mass compared to Caucasians, which adds stress on the bone and results in greater BMD.(111,113) A comparative review of body composition in AA and Caucasian males and females substantiated ethnic differences in lean mass for these two groups,

and showed that AAs had significantly more lean mass.(113) Studies have also confirmed higher fat mass and lean mass in AA females compared to Caucasian females.(34,63)

Taaffe et al. examined the effects of lean mass and fat mass on BMD in a cohort of 2619 older Caucasian and AA males and females.(62) In this large study, they found that lean mass was a significant determinant of BMD for Caucasian males and AA males and females. Among females, fat mass was also significantly associated with BMD. Barondess et al. addressed the effect of body composition on BMD in healthy AA and Caucasian males aged 33-64 years.(64) They found that lean mass was an important determinant of BMD in males despite no ethnic differences in height, body weight, or BMI. Perry et al. demonstrated that the correlations between lean and fat mass were much weaker in Caucasian females compared to AA females aged 20-90 years. (34) There is some suggestion that fat mass, not lean mass, partially explains why AA females have greater BMD compared to Caucasian females. (113)

Within ethnicity, there may be differences in body composition based on geographical location as suggested in a study of 1,054 males and females of African ancestry residing in Nigeria, Jamaica, and the U.S. (114) Researchers found that for both genders, height, weight, waist and hip circumferences, percent body fat, and BMI were highest in the U.S. followed by Jamaica and then Nigeria.(114) Our research will further examine this notion by comparing several anthropometric variables in AA and Tobagonian males and females, which should provide additional insight into the contribution of body composition variables to ethnic differences in BMD (Chapters 3-5).

Falls

Mild trauma falls occur more often with advancing age and we believe the age-related increases in hip fracture incidence are directly related to a higher risk of falling.(7,8,93,115-118) Falls can lead to permanent disability, increased mortality, and hip fracture. Ninety percent of falls sustained by older persons occur at standing height or lower, and these falls account for over 330,000 hospitalizations in the U.S. annually. (1) The frequency of falls, direction of falls, and characteristics of falls all affect hip fracture risk. (50,93,115) Of particular note is the increased risk of hip fracture resulting from landing on or near the hip/thigh after a fall.(50) Interestingly, the same mild trauma fall that causes fracture in older persons does not cause fracture in healthy adults because BMD and bone strength are greater in younger persons.(93) This finding supports the notion that BMD is also an important determinant in the risk of falling. For example, physical inactivity is also related to an increased risk of falling by accelerating bone loss, which contributes to lower BMD. Physical activity has osteogenic effects on bone, which improves coordination, BMD, and bone strength. (119)

Females aged 45-49 years have a 20% risk of falling and after the age of 80, the risk of falling is 50% in older females and 33% in older males. (1) A study by Means et al. compared history of falls and fall-related injuries among 280 ambulatory, community-dwelling AA and Caucasian females aged 65 and older.(120) They reported similar number of recent falls between AA and Caucasian females even though AA females had poorer balance and mobility, suggesting that higher BMD among AAs may be protective against sustaining a fall, even in the presence of fall-related risk factors.(120) Since BMD and lifestyle factors can attenuate the risk and impact of falling, we will further examine patterns of recent falls in Tobagonian males (Chapter 3) and females (Chapter 4).

Personal/Family History of Fracture

Personal history of fracture increases the risk of subsequent fracture 1.7 to 7fold.(1,5,12,121) Sustaining a fracture at an earlier age and number of previous fractures substantially increases the risk of future fracture(s), which results from lower BMD.(1,5,12,93,121) A longitudinal study of nearly 10,000 Caucasian females aged 65 and older from the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures (SOF) demonstrated that females who experienced a premenopausal fracture had a 30% greater rate of fracture following menopause.(122) The SOF did not report findings for minority participants so we cannot be certain that these findings are relevant to minority females. A case-control study of older AA females by Grisso et al. identified heavier body weight at age 50, calcium supplement use, and prednisone use as risk factors for subsequent fracture.(8) Parental history of osteoporotic fractures predisposes females to low BMD and increases the risk of fracture based on results from the SOF. (10,12,85,123)

Physical Activity

During childhood, adolescence, and young adulthood, bone is greatly influence by exercise or mechanical loading. As mechanical loading increases, BMD also increases. Physical inactivity is associated with lower BMD across the entire lifespan. Physical inactivity inhibits osteoblast bone formation and accelerates osteoclast bone resorption leading to increased risk of OP. (124) Physical activity, three to five times per week, may contribute to preservation of BMD and reduction in fracture risk due to the effects skeletal loading.(93,119,125)

Smoking

Smoking alters estrogen metabolism, which has been shown to accelerate bone loss. A meta-analysis on the effects of smoking, BMD, and risk of hip fracture in females concluded that smoking was associated with lower BMD. (126) At age 50, the risk of hip fracture was the same for female smokers and non-smokers but increased thereafter for smokers. In postmenopausal females, current smokers lost 2% more BMD with each increasing decade of life compared to

23

non-smokers. At age 80, smokers had 6% less BMD than non-smokers. Smoking has an independent, direct effect on bone in both males and females and lower BMD among smokers increases the lifetime risk of hip fracture for males and females 40% and 31% respectively.(127) *Alcohol Consumption*

Moderate consumption, less than seven drinks per week, of alcohol containing beverages has been reported to be positively associated with BMD.(8) Chronic alcohol consumption, however, may cause lower bone density because alcohol has a toxic effect on the mechanisms of bone formation.(128) Additionally, intoxication may increase the risk of falling.(128)

Caffeine Consumption

Research on the relationship between caffeine consumption and BMD is conflicting. In the Rancho Bernardo study, lower BMD was identified in females who drank two cups of coffee everyday and did not consume milk regularly.(129) Another study of 138 postmenopausal females did not show any relationship between caffeine consumption and BMD measured at the whole body and total hip.(130) Research has not shown an association between caffeine consumption and BMD among males.

Reproductive History

Older age at menarche and earlier age at menopause are both associated with lower BMD.(12,131) Even though pregnancy affects calcium homeostasis, at least one pregnancy was associated with higher spine BMD because of the weight gain during the pregnancy. Females may have experienced low BMD during pregnancy, but this condition typically resolved two to six months after giving birth. An international study of 580 early postmenopausal, Caucasian European females aged 45-61 years, investigated reproductive and menstrual factors that affect BMD.(131) Results from this study identified a positive association between BMD and number

of pregnancies, younger age at menarche, longer years of menstruation and/or reproductive years, and hormone therapy (HT) use while duration of breast feeding, oral contraceptive use, and premenopausal amenorrhea were not associated with BMD.(131) Hysterectomy was associated with rapid loss of bone if estrogen-containing HT was not prescribed shortly after surgical menopause. Based on a review of the literature, we expect that females who have a hysterectomy will have lower BMD compared to females who experience natural menopause. We also expect that parity and HT will be positively associated with BMD among postmenopausal Tobagonian females (Chapter 4).

If we rely solely on the limited data from studies in the US, postmenopausal AA females begin menopause with substantially higher BMD and lower risk of fracture compared to Caucasians, but this protection may vary with older age. (6,61,132,133)

Medical Conditions

Diabetes

Persons with impaired glucose tolerance or type 2 diabetes typically have higher mean BMD compared to those with normal hypoglycemic index levels.(134-136) Strotmeyer et al. found that older AA and Caucasian American males and females with type 2 diabetes had 4-5% higher total hip BMD, independent of body composition variables.(137) Further exploration of the relationship between diabetes and BMD suggests persons with diabetes have lower rates of bone turnover that may mediated by hypoparathyroidism and this condition reduces age-related bone loss.(135) Other studies have suggested that diabetes is associated with an elevated fracture risk, especially among older Caucasian females with diabetes.(108,134,138)
Hypertension & Stroke

Hypertension is a very common condition, especially among AAs, that manifests from elevated systolic (pressure when heart contracts to pump blood to the body) and/or diastolic (pressure when the heart relaxes between beats) blood pressure. A study of older hypertensive, Caucasian females who were not treated with thiazide diuretics found lower BMD and increased bone loss at the femoral neck. Abnormalities in calcium metabolism may have mediated the effect of hypertension on BMD.(139) Use of thiazide diuretics is associated with increased BMD in both males and postmenopausal females. The benefit of thiazide use is blunting of calcium excretion, a mechanism similar to estrogen use.(140) Thiazide diuretics are prescribed primarily for hypertension treatment.

Persons with hypertension are three times more likely to have a stroke. Data from NHANES I did not find an association between BMD and stroke for AAs and Caucasians between the ages of 45 and 74 years.(141) Persons with a history of stroke have up to a 4-fold increased risk of hip fracture due in part to their high incidence of falls and loss of bone mass following stroke-related paralysis.(142)

Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

Corticosteroids are a common treatment for RA patients. A study that examined BMD among people with RA showed that females who took corticosteroids had the significantly lower BMD compared to those who were not prescribed corticosteroids. (143) The negative association between corticosteroid use and lower BMD has been investigated for a number of years. (144,145) Researchers suggest that limited functional ability (i.e., lack of weight bearing movement and/or exercise) contributed to lower BMD in females not taking corticosteroids.

Osteoarthritis (OA)

OA is a chronic condition that affects articular joints and the prevalence of OA increases with age. Eighty percent of people aged 60 and older have radiologic evidence of OA. (146) OA is more severe among older females compared to males. (146) Hip OA is more common among older Caucasian females than AA females. Hip and spinal OA are associated with higher BMD, despite higher bone turnover. (146,147) People with severe OA develop osteophytes and the presence or severity of osteophytes may be associated with higher BMD. (146,147)

Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is common in females with elevated estrogen levels, particularly estradiol. On the other hand, females with a history of fracture typically have lower levels of estrogen; which is an independent risk factor for fracture. Based on this information, studies have shown that females with a previous history of fractures were at lower risk of developing breast cancer. Cauley et al. recently reported that during four years of follow-up, the risk of breast cancer was 2.0-2.5 times higher among females with BMD above the lowest quartile compared to females with BMD in the lowest quartile. (148) Similar results were obtained in the SOF study population where females with higher BMD had increased risk of breast cancer.(149) A study of 8,000 postmenopausal females identified a positive relationship between femoral neck BMD and breast cancer risk. After adjusting for covariates, there was a 1.5 to 2.0-fold increased risk of breast cancer with each increasing quartile of femoral neck BMD compared to the lowest quartile.(150) Estrogen is thought to be the link between breast cancer and higher BMD, which is supported by the influence of hormone therapy on BMD. It is hypothesized the BMD may indicate the cumulative effect of estrogen exposure. Recently, Nelson et al. examined BMD among 221 AA females with newly diagnosed breast cancer and found an association between BMD and breast cancer risk. (151)

Thyroid Diseases

Both hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism may impair bone formation. Hyperthyroidism may invoke long-lasting effects on bone metabolism including increased rates of bone turnover, which reduces bone strength, BMD, and accelerates bone loss. Increased rates of bone turnover are mediated by excess thyroid hormone and estrogen deficiency. (152)

Coronary Heart Disease

Both coronary heart disease (CHD) and OP are more common in postmenopausal females than younger females. (154) Postmenopausal estrogen deficiency increases the risk of developing both CHD and OP, which is characterized by accelerated bone loss and low BMD.(153) Risk factors for CHD overlap with lifestyle factors associated with OP.

Medication Use

Exogenous Hormones

Estrogen-containing HT reduces bone turnover and decreases bone loss by decreasing urinary calcium excretion soon after menopause.(29) Age-related bone loss is reduced by 0.5% per year by using HT as well as a 45% reduction in risk of fracture. Conjugated equine estrogen is the most commonly prescribed form of HT in the US. (155) Progestin added to estrogen HT may enhance bone-sparing properties found in estrogen. (155) HT was thought to most beneficial during early postmenopause. (155) Randomized, controlled clinical trial data have shown that HT is associated with reduced fracture risk and reduces femoral neck bone loss by 30%, but discontinuation of HT leads to immediate and rapid bone loss comparable to the menopause period.(155)

Studies have shown that AA and other minority females are less likely to have physicians prescribe and use HT compared to Caucasians, such that the benefits of HT on BMD preservation may not be available to all females.(155,156) Other therapies, bisphosphates and selective estrogen receptor modulators, have also been shown to preserve bone among postmenopausal women. (157,158)

Among males, androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is commonly used to treat prostate cancer.(159) This therapy is administered either by bilateral orchiectomy or use of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist, which progressively decreases BMD and increases fracture risk.(159,160)

Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids may induce generalized OP at trabecular sites. Prolonged use of exogenous glucocorticoids can lead to hypercortisolism which results in reduced bone formation, higher rates of bone resorption, and low BMD.(144,145) Systemic lupus erythematosus is more common in AA females and glucocorticoids are the common treatment for this condition.(161) <u>Statins</u>

Statins are prescribed commonly to lower plasma cholesterol levels. This medication contains enzymes that limit cholesterol synthesis. Some research has suggested that statins may increase BMD and reduce fracture risk in postmenopausal females.(162) Beta-blockers treat hypertension, abnormal heart rhythms, and angina and these drugs may also influence bone.(163) Daily nitrate use in 317 older females was positively associated with hip and heel BMD compared to non-users.(164) Heparin, anticonvulsants, aluminum-containing antacids, and thyroid hormone are all suspected to increase bone loss.(93)

2.5. Bone Loss

When the rate of bone resorption exceeds the rate of bone formation, an imbalance occurs and this imbalance in bone remodeling coupled with aging are two key components for bone loss and weakened bone structural integrity.(26) Age-related bone loss causes low BMD in males and females as well as Caucasians and minorities. Bone loss may be influenced by low BMI, smoking, chronic alcohol consumption, physical inactivity, and HPTH.(34) Bone loss is not homogeneous, meaning increased rates of bone loss may be observed at one site while other sites have normal BMD.

Trabecular bone has a higher rate of bone turnover (due to its structure and surface area) compared to cortical bone and trabecular bone loss is more severe than cortical bone loss.(14) Depending on the severity of bone loss, OP ensues and trabecular bone sites (hip and spine) are most affected by OP.(14,26) With OP, trabecular bone is thinner and shows evidence of osteoclastic resorption, which causes deterioration of structural integrity.(14) OP in cortical bone causes tunneling resorption that may cause stress fractures and gradual thinning of cortical bone.(14)

Gender Differences in Patterns of Bone Loss

Both males and females lose bone with increasing age and deterioration in bone architecture. Healthy males experience a slower rate of bone loss compared to females because bone stress decreases bone loss more in males, probably due to periosteal apposition. Cortical bone loss occurs mostly at the inner structure, but periosteal apposition occurs at the outer surface. Periosteal apposition is the increase in width of long bones (axial skeleton), such that the same quantity of bone that is distributed over a wider area is stronger. This widening of bone, or periosteal apposition, compensates for age-related bone loss in men since it is estimated to be 3fold higher for men compared to women. Among older males and females, alteration in bone strength is less in males compared to females. (165) Age-related bone loss is approximately 25-30% for cortical bone and 35-50% for trabecular bone in females and among males the rates are 5-15% and 15-45%, respectively.(166) For example, females lose approximately 58% of femoral neck BMD and males lose on 39% over a lifetime.(50)

Among females, aging is accompanied by menopause, increased rates of bone remodeling, and an imbalance between bone formation and resorption; all of which results in excess loss of bone in females.(26) Estrogen deficiency that is present after menopause, surgical or natural, resulting from cessation of ovarian function leads to higher rates of bone turnover (i.e., decreased bone formation/decreased osteoblast function) and subsequent accelerated bone loss in females compared to males of similar age.(14,26) In the immediate postmenopause period females typically experience an imbalance between osteoclasts and osteoblasts, which causes increased rates of bone remodeling and accelerated trabecular bone loss. During menopause, trabecular bone loss increases three-fold while rates of cortical bone loss are slower. (14) Up to 20% of BMD is lost within five to seven years of menopause. (14)

A review of the literature suggests that in the five years following menopause, females lose bone at a rate of 2-4% per year and 10 years after menopause this rate decreases to 1-1.5% per year compared to a steady 0.5-0.7 per year for older males, beginning around age 55.(93) A combination of factors contributes to lower rates of bone loss in males. These factors include skeletal size, greater cortical BMD in later years (over age 60), and higher bone turnover that replaces damaged bone. Approximately 10 years after menopause bone loss is similar in females compared to males of the same age. (14,35) There is an accelerated loss of cortical bone among older (aged 65+) males and females. (14,35)

A recent study of 811 Caucasian males, aged 45-92 years, reported and average of

-0.47% annual hip bone loss and -0.34% at the femoral neck. (87) Predictors of bone loss included older age (aged 75+), low BMI ($<24 \text{ kg/m}^2$), weight loss, current smoking, and physical activity. (87)

Ethnic Differences in Patterns of Bone Loss

In females, bone loss accelerates with age, changes in sex steroid hormones, and changes in body composition. (34) Substantial reductions in BMD have been observed in middle-aged females, but AA females start menopause with considerably higher BMD compared to Caucasian American females. (34,63,65,167) Postmenopausal bone loss is heavily influenced by biochemical markers, even though ethnic differences in biochemical markers of bone turnover and subsequent rates of bone loss are not consistently reported.(26)

Luckey et al. measured rates of bone loss (forearm and spine) between 121 AA and 122 Caucasian pre- and postmenopausal females. (63) Among premenopausal females, rates of bone loss were similar between AA and Caucasian American females. In early menopause (5 years or less), they found that bone loss was 2-fold faster among Caucasian Americans compared to AAs. Ethnic differences in the rate of bone loss attenuated among AA and Caucasian American females who were more than 5 years postmenopause.

Cauley et al. recently examined bone loss in 482 AA and 6007 Caucasian females, aged 65+, who participated in SOF.(97) Adjusted annual percent change in hip BMD was significantly greater among Caucasian females compared to AAs (-0.57% per year vs. -0.33% per year). The magnitude of the annual rate of bone loss was stronger for femoral neck BMD, where AA females had significantly lower rates. (97) Another longitudinal study reported that AAs had lower rates of bone remodeling compared to Caucasians. (63) This study suggested that the lower rates of bone remodeling and higher BMD may protect AAs from age-related bone

loss.(63) Whether the rates of bone loss among postmenopausal females vary by ethnicity is not clear, but research supports the association between higher levels of bone turnover markers and greater risk of accelerated bone loss.(37)

Bone loss has not been well studied in males because only a small number of longitudinal studies have male participants. (49,87,168,169) In the Rancho Bernardo study, bone loss was measured over 4 years for 507 Caucasian males aged 45-92 years.(87) Annual BMD loss averaged 0.47% and 0.34% at the hip and femoral neck, respectively. The annual percent change in hip BMD ranged from -0.2% (< 65 years) to -0.8% (\geq 75 years). Similar annual percent change in femoral neck BMD was observed, stratified by age group. Older age (75+), BMI <24 kg/m², weight loss, smoking, and physical inactivity were associated with greater bone loss. We were unable to find any published literature on bone loss in males of African ancestry.

In Chapter 5, we will examine longitudinal changes in trabecular bone in older AA and Caucasian males and females. This research should enhance the current body of literature on age-related changes in trabecular bone loss for older AAs and Caucasians since few longitudinal studies have studied rates of bone loss in AAs females.

2.6. Hip Fractures

Fracture incidence is bimodal, peaking in youth and older age.(1) In younger persons, fractures are attributed to traumatic accidents and at older ages, fractures of the spine, hip, and wrist are common manifestations of OP.(1,6) After age 50, fracture incidence increases for both males and females.(1,6,11,92) Since hip fractures are the most debilitating, costly, and extensively studied site compared to all other skeletal sites, this review of the literature will focus on gender and ethnic differences in hip fracture incidence.(1) Differences in hip fracture rates have been widely attributed to gender, ethnicity, BMD, behavioral, and lifestyle factors.(1,63,170) Figure 2-3

shows hip fracture incidence for African American (AA) and Caucasian American (CA) males and females in the US, between 1986 and 1989 based on a 5% sample of the Medicare population.(171)



Baron JA et al. Epidemiology 1994;5(1):42-47.

Figure 2-3. Hip fracture incidence rates (per 1,000 person-years) by gender and ethnicity, US 1986-89

As shown in Figure 2-3, hip fracture incidence increases exponentially with age for both males and females, despite ethnicity. (1,57) Dramatic increases in hip fracture incidence occurred approximately 15 years following menopause in females and after age 70 in males. (1,57)

Gender Differences in Hip Fracture

Thirty percent of all hip fractures occur in males and data suggests that U.S. males experience an estimated 150,000 hip fractures per year.(172) Caucasian females have a two-fold higher incidence of fracture compared to Caucasian males at any age. These gender differences

are attributed to higher BMD, slower rates of bone loss, and lower risk of falling among males compared to females.(1,16,170) Furthermore, U.S. Caucasian males and females aged 50 years and older have an estimated 13% and 40% lifetime risk of fracture, respectively. The increased risk of fracture among women is partly due to the longer life expectancy of females.(1,172) Even though Caucasian males have lower rates of fracture compared to Caucasian females, males have an increased mortality from these fractures.(38) Hip fracture incidence raters are similar for males and females of low risk ethnic groups, like Asians and AAs, suggesting that gender may not be a strong determinant of fracture risk among minorities.(1,170,173)

Ethnic Differences in Hip Fracture

Research has established that the risk of sustaining a fracture varies across ethnic groups.(7,8,117,170) Limited data are available for hip fracture incidence in minority males.(6,170,171,173) As shown in Figure 2-3, Baron et al. demonstrated that AA males and females had lower hip fracture incidence rates compared to Caucasians in the same age group using Medicare data.(171) Griffin et al. identified similar patterns of non-vertebral fracture incidence as Baron et al. among older Tennessee AAs compared to older Caucasians.(173) In this study, AA had 60% less fractures than Caucasians, after controlling for covariates.(173) A potential limitation of this study was that the study population was of lower socioeconomic status and the findings may not be generalizable to the entire US population. The higher rate of hip fracture among Caucasian males and females compared to AAs is consistent with other studies.(170,171,173)

In the US, risk of hip fracture is highest for Caucasian females with one out of every two females experiencing a hip fracture in her lifetime. Caucasian females have twice the incidence of hip fracture compared to AA females.(6,8,170,171,173) Postmenopausal Caucasian females

experience 75% of all hip fractures and the age-adjusted fracture incidence rates are substantially higher compared to non-Caucasian females.

The lifetime risk of hip fracture is only six percent for AA females, but the resulting morbidity and mortality is greater for AAs. (1,132) Although the incidence of osteoporotic fracture is lower among AA females through mid-life, hospital data suggested that hip fracture risk increases exponentially in older AA females. A longitudinal study to ascertain risk factors associated with nonvertebral fractures in community dwelling females consisting of 1,404 AAs and 1,186 Caucasians, aged 65 and older, confirmed the higher risk of fracture in Caucasian females. At baseline, less than one-fifth of AAs reported a previous fracture compared to one-third of Caucasians. (6) AAs were more likely to report a history of hip fracture and Caucasians reported a history of wrist fracture most often. (6) Caucasian females were twice as likely to sustain an incident hip fracture compared to AAs.(6) One explanation for the lower fracture risk in AA females compared to Caucasian females was higher bone mass, which may be a function of skeletal size.(35,170)

Rates of hip fracture also vary by geographical location and season. For example, the incidence of hip fracture is greater in the winter and age-adjusted hip fracture incidence rates are lower for Caucasian American females compared to Scandinavian females.(1) Within Europe, there is a seven-fold variation in fracture rates between the North and South, and this pattern is also observed in Asian females.(1) Similarly, in the US hip fracture rates are lower in the northeast and west compared to the southeast.(1) Geographical differences in hip fracture rates may be related to lifestyle factors. Lastly, worldwide hip fracture rates are higher in urban areas compared to rural areas, due in part to lower BMD among urban persons resulting from poorer nutrition, sedentary lifestyle, and higher prevalence of other risk factors for low BMD.(1)

Hip Fracture Risk Factors

Low BMD, previous history of fracture, and frequency of falls are all important risk factors for hip fracture.(1,50,93) The presence of multiple risk factors further increase the risk of fracture such that the presence of 5 or more hip fracture risk factors increases the risk of fracture 17-fold among Caucasian postmenopausal females.(93,121)

Gender Differences in Risk Factors for Hip Fracture

According to Campion and Maricic, major risk factors for fracture in Caucasian males include low BMD, hypogonadism, previous fracture history, and older age, although we know considerably less about risk factors in males.(172) A study by Grisso et al. observed higher risk of fracture in Caucasian males who reported physical inactivity and lower limb dysfunction.(7)

Well established risk factors for hip fracture in Caucasian females include age, low BMD, falls, low body weight and/or BMI, weight loss after age 50, gender, ethnicity, glucocorticoid use (greater than six months), caffeine consumption, sedentary lifestyle, cognitive impairment, personal and/or family history of fracture, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, medical conditions, use of certain medications, and lifestyle factors.(6,13,14,116,117)

Ethnic Differences in Risk Factors for Hip Fracture

Risk factors for hip fracture in AA females are similar to Caucasian females based on very limited data and low BMD is an important predictor of fracture risk, for both ethnic groups.(3,6,8) In fact, the some of the protective factors against hip fracture, like current hormone replacement use and increased BMI, are also similar for AA and Caucasian females. BMI protection is related to increased adipose-based production of estrogen that influences BMD, greater gravitational forces on bone mass, and increased padding around hip to reduce the

impact of a fall. AA ethnicity has been reported to be protective for nonvertebral fractures, even in the presence of differences in lifestyle factors.(8)

Risk factors for hip fracture have been identified in cross-sectional, case-control, and longitudinal studies for Caucasian males and females. Ethnic differences in risk factors for hip fracture, specifically low BMD, are not well established because few studies have actually included ethnic minority males and females and even less is know about non-AA minorities. (170,171,173)

2.7. Synopsis

Correlates of BMD and risk factors for osteoporotic conditions have been studied for several decades. The volume of peer-reviewed literature on OP is enormous. This review of OP literature does not summarize the findings from available published articles, but focuses on gender and ethnic differences in the risk of developing OP. The determinants of OP in males and minorities are not well established and poorly understood since most studies that describe the determinants of BMD have been studied primarily in Caucasian females. Studies that examined the relationship between BMD and pathogenesis of osteoporotic conditions were reviewed, with an emphasis on gaps in the literature regarding gender and ethnic differences.

As mentioned previously, only a limited number of studies have included persons of African ancestry. Among these studies, most are cross-sectional in design. Cross-sectional studies are useful to generate hypotheses, but more longitudinal studies are warranted to comprehensively evaluate BMD and its determinants, as well as the subsequent risk of fracture among persons of African ancestry. The etiology of gender and/or ethnic differences in BMD is unknown and may be related to a combination of bone geometry, PBM, bone homeostasis, bone loss, lifestyle factors, and genetics factors. Since low BMD is an established predictor of fracture

risk, we will examine correlates of BMD among Tobagonian males (Chapter 3), postmenopausal Tobagonian females (Chapter 4), older Caucasians and AAs (Chapter 5). In Chapter 5, we also report ethnic differences in longitudinal rates of bone loss for U.S. AA and Caucasian males and females, age 65 and older and review the relevant literature.

This research will facilitate our understanding of the prevalence of low BMD, annual rates of bone loss, correlates of bone health, and risk factors for developing OP in persons of African ancestry residing in the United States and on the Caribbean Island of Tobago. This research will not address ethnic differences in bone turnover, hip geometry, PBM, or genetics.

2.8. References

- 1. Cummings SR, Melton LJ 2002 Epidemiology and outcomes of osteoporotic fractures. Lancet **359**(9319):1761-7.
- 2. Fast Facts on Osteoporosis. *Disease statistics*. Accessibility verified April 6, 2005 Available at: http://www.nof.org/osteoporosis/stats/htm.
- 3. Siris ES, Miller PD, Barrett-Connor E, Faulkner KG, Wehren LE, Abbott TA, Berger ML, Santora AC, Sherwood LM 2001 Identification and fracture outcomes of undiagnosed low bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: results from the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment.[see comment]. JAMA **286**(22):2815-22.
- 4. Ettinger B 1997 Postmenopausal osteoporosis. Current Therapy in Endocrinology & Metabolism **6:**639-44.
- 5. Cummings SR, Kelsey JL, Nevitt MC, O'Dowd KJ 1985 Epidemiology of osteoporosis and osteoporotic fractures. Epidemiologic Reviews **7:**178-208.
- 6. Bohannon AD, Hanlon JT, Landerman R, Gold DT 1999 Association of race and other potential risk factors with nonvertebral fractures in community-dwelling elderly women. American Journal of Epidemiology **149**(11):1002-9.
- Grisso JA, Kelsey JL, O'Brien LA, Miles CG, Sidney S, Maislin G, LaPann K, Moritz D, Peters B 1997 Risk factors for hip fracture in men. Hip Fracture Study Group. American Journal of Epidemiology 145(9):786-93.
- 8. Grisso JA, Kelsey JL, Strom BL, O'Brien LA, Maislin G, LaPann K, Samelson L, Hoffman S 1994 Risk factors for hip fracture in black women. The Northeast Hip Fracture Study Group. New England Journal of Medicine **330**(22):1555-9.
- 9. Gullberg B, Johnell O, Kanis JA 1997 World-wide projections for hip fracture. Osteoporosis International **7**(5):407-13.
- 10. Kannus P, Parkkari J, Sievanen H, Heinonen A, Vuori I, Jarvinen M 1996 Epidemiology of hip fractures. Bone **18**(1 Suppl):57S-63S.
- 11. Orwoll ES 1998 Osteoporosis in men. Endocrinology & Metabolism Clinics of North America **27**(2):349-67.
- 12. Kanis JA, McCloskey EV 1998 Risk factors in osteoporosis. Maturitas **30**(3):229-33.
- 13. Cooper C, Campion G, Melton LJ, 3rd 1992 Hip fractures in the elderly: a world-wide projection. 2(6):285-9.
- 14. Lane J, Russell L, Khan S 2000 Osteoporosis. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research (372):139-50.
- 15. Christodoulou C, Cooper C 2003 What is osteoporosis? Postgraduate Medical Journal **79**(929):133-8.
- 16. Heaney RP, Abrams S, Dawson-Hughes B, Looker A, Marcus R, Matkovic V, Weaver C 2000 Peak bone mass. Osteoporosis International **11**(12):985-1009.
- 17. Bachrach LK, Hastie T, Wang MC, Narasimhan B, Marcus R 1999 Bone mineral acquisition in healthy Asian, Hispanic, black, and Caucasian youth: a longitudinal study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **84**(12):4702-12.
- 18. Rizzoli R, Bonjour JP 1999 Determinants of peak bone mass and mechanisms of bone loss. Osteoporosis International **9 Suppl 2:**S17-23.
- 19. Mora S, Gilsanz V 2003 Establishment of peak bone mass. Endocrinology & Metabolism Clinics of North America **32**(1):39-63.

- 20. Bailey D, McKay H, Mirwald R, Crocker P, Faulkner R 1999 A six-year longitudinal study of the relationship of physical activity to bone mineral accrual in growing children: the university of Saskatchewan bone mineral accrual study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 14(10):1672-9.
- 21. Slemenda CW, Peacock M, Hui S, Zhou L, Johnston CC 1997 Reduced rates of skeletal remodeling are associated with increased bone mineral density during the development of peak skeletal mass. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(4):676-82.
- 22. Ettinger B, Sidney S, Cummings SR, Libanati C, Bikle DD, Tekawa IS, Tolan K, Steiger P 1997 Racial differences in bone density between young adult black and white subjects persist after adjustment for anthropometric, lifestyle, and biochemical differences. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **82**(2):429-34.
- 23. Orwoll ES, Belknap JK, Klein RF 2001 Gender specificity in the genetic determinants of peak bone mass. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(11):1962-71.
- Bryant RJ, Wastney ME, Martin BR, Wood O, McCabe GP, Morshidi M, Smith DL, Peacock M, Weaver CM 2003 Racial differences in bone turnover and calcium metabolism in adolescent females. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 88(3):1043-7.
- 25. Henry YM, Eastell R 2000 Ethnic and gender differences in bone mineral density and bone turnover in young adults: effect of bone size. Osteoporosis International **11**(6):512-7.
- 26. Garnero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Chapuy MC, Delmas PD 1996 Increased bone turnover in late postmenopausal women is a major determinant of osteoporosis. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **11**(3):337-49.
- 27. Bell NH 1995 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 reverses alteration of the vitamin D-endocrine system in blacks.[erratum appears in Am J Med 1996 Aug;101(2):239]. American Journal of Medicine **99**(6):597-9.
- 28. Dawson-Hughes B, Harris S, Kramich C, Dallal G, Rasmussen HM 1993 Calcium retention and hormone levels in black and white women on high- and low-calcium diets. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 8(7):779-87.
- 29. McKane WR, Khosla S, Burritt MF, Kao PC, Wilson DM, Ory SJ, Riggs BL 1995 Mechanism of renal calcium conservation with estrogen replacement therapy in women in early postmenopause–a clinical research center study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **80**(12):3458-64.
- 30. Aloia JF, Mikhail M, Pagan CD, Arunachalam A, Yeh JK, Flaster E 1998 Biochemical and hormonal variables in black and white women matched for age and weight.[see comment]. Journal of Laboratory & Clinical Medicine **132**(5):383-9.
- 31. Meier DE, Luckey MM, Wallenstein S, Clemens TL, Orwoll ES, Waslien CI 1991 Calcium, vitamin D, and parathyroid hormone status in young white and black women: association with racial differences in bone mass. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 72(3):703-10.
- 32. Harris SS, Soteriades E, Dawson-Hughes B, Framingham Heart S, Boston Low-Income Elderly Osteoporosis S 2001 Secondary hyperparathyroidism and bone turnover in elderly blacks and whites. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **86**(8):3801-4.

- 33. Fuleihan GE, Gundberg CM, Gleason R, Brown EM, Stromski ME, Grant FD, Conlin PR 1994 Racial differences in parathyroid hormone dynamics. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **79**(6):1642-7.
- 34. Perry HM, 3rd, Horowitz M, Morley JE, Fleming S, Jensen J, Caccione P, Miller DK, Kaiser FE, Sundarum M 1996 Aging and bone metabolism in African American and Caucasian women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(3):1108-17.
- 35. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Yeh JK, Flaster E 1996 Risk for osteoporosis in black women. Calcified Tissue International **59**(6):415-23.
- 36. Meier DE, Luckey MM, Wallenstein S, Lapinski RH, Catherwood B 1992 Racial differences in pre- and postmenopausal bone homeostasis: association with bone density. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 7(10):1181-9.
- 37. Delmas PD, Eastell R, Garnero P, Seibel MJ, Stepan J, Committee of Scientific Advisors of the International Osteoporosis F 2000 The use of biochemical markers of bone turnover in osteoporosis. Committee of Scientific Advisors of the International Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporosis International **11 Suppl 6:**S2-17.
- 38. Center JR, Nguyen TV, Sambrook PN, Eisman JA 1999 Hormonal and biochemical parameters in the determination of osteoporosis in elderly men. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **84**(10):3626-35.
- Kleerekoper M, Nelson DA, Peterson EL, Flynn MJ, Pawluszka AS, Jacobsen G, Wilson P 1994 Reference data for bone mass, calciotropic hormones, and biochemical markers of bone remodeling in older (55-75) postmenopausal white and black women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9(8):1267-76.
- 40. Kleerekoper M, Nelson DA, Peterson EL, Wilson PS, Jacobsen G, Longcope C 1994 Body composition and gonadal steroids in older white and black women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **79**(3):775-9.
- 41. Finkelstein JS, Sowers M, Greendale GA, Lee ML, Neer RM, Cauley JA, Ettinger B 2002 Ethnic variation in bone turnover in pre- and early perimenopausal women: effects of anthropometric and lifestyle factors.[see comment]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **87**(7):3051-6.
- 42. Greendale GA, Edelstein S, Barrett-Connor E 1997 Endogenous sex steroids and bone mineral density in older women and men: the Rancho Bernardo Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(11):1833-43.
- 43. Seeman E 2002 Pathogenesis of bone fragility in women and men. Lancet **359**(9320):1841-50.
- 44. Cauley JA, Gutai JP, Kuller LH, Scott J, Nevitt MC 1994 Black-white differences in serum sex hormones and bone mineral density. American Journal Of Epidemiology **139**(10):1035-1046.
- 45. Wright NM, Renault J, Willi S, Veldhuis JD, Pandey JP, Gordon L, Key LL, Bell NH 1995 Greater secretion of growth hormone in black than in white men: possible factor in greater bone mineral density–a clinical research center study.[see comment]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **80**(8):2291-7.
- 46. Ettinger B, Pressman A, Sklarin P, Bauer DC, Cauley JA, Cummings SR 1998 Associations between low levels of serum estradiol, bone density, and fractures among elderly women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **83**(7):2239-43.
- 47. Recker RR, Deng H-W 2002 Role of genetics in osteoporosis. Endocrine 17(1):55-66.

- 48. Cauley JA, Zmuda JM, Yaffe K, Kuller LH, Ferrell RE, Wisniewski SR, Cummings SR 1999 Apolipoprotein E polymorphism: A new genetic marker of hip fracture risk–The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 14(7):1175-81.
- 49. Jones G, Nguyen T, Sambrook P, Kelly PJ, Eisman JA 1994 Progressive loss of bone in the femoral neck in elderly people: longitudinal findings from the Dubbo osteoporosis epidemiology study. BMJ **309**(6956):691-5.
- 50. Melton LJ, 3rd 1996 Epidemiology of hip fractures: implications of the exponential increase with age. Bone **18**(3 Suppl):121S-125S.
- 51. Seeman E 1998 Growth in bone mass and size-are racial and gender differences in bone mineral density more apparent than real?[comment]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **83**(5):1414-9.
- 52. Cummings SR, Bates D, Black DM 2002 Clinical use of bone densitometry: scientific review. JAMA **288**(15):1889-97.
- 53. Katzman DK, Bachrach LK, Carter DR, Marcus R 1991 Clinical and anthropometric correlates of bone mineral acquisition in healthy adolescent girls. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **73**(6):1332-9.
- 54. Anonymous 2001 NIH Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy, March 7-29, 2000: highlights of the conference. Southern Medical Journal **94**(6):569-73.
- 55. Kanis JA 1997 Diagnosis of osteoporosis. Osteoporosis International **7 Suppl 3:**S108-16.
- 56. Kanis JA, Delmas P, Burckhardt P, Cooper C, Torgerson D 1997 Guidelines for diagnosis and management of osteoporosis. The European Foundation for Osteoporosis and Bone Disease. Osteoporosis International **7**(4):390-406.
- 57. Kenny AM, Prestwood KM 2000 Osteoporosis. Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment in older adults. Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America **26**(3):569-91.
- 58. Looker AC, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP, Johnston CC, Jr., Lindsay R 1998 Updated data on proximal femur bone mineral levels of US adults. Osteoporosis International **8**(5):468-89.
- 59. Looker AC, Beck TJ, Orwoll ES 2001 Does body size account for gender differences in femur bone density and geometry? Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(7):1291-9.
- 60. Robbins J, Hirsch C, Cauley J 2004 Associates of bone mineral density in older African Americans. Journal of the National Medical Association **96**(12):1609-15.
- 61. Bohannon AD 1999 Osteoporosis and African American women. Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine **8**(5):609-15.
- 62. Taaffe DR, Cauley JA, Danielson M, Nevitt MC, Lang TF, Bauer DC, Harris TB 2001 Race and sex effects on the association between muscle strength, soft tissue, and bone mineral density in healthy elders: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(7):1343-52.
- 63. Luckey MM, Wallenstein S, Lapinski R, Meier DE 1996 A prospective study of bone loss in African-American and white women–a clinical research center study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(8):2948-56.
- 64. Barondess DA, Nelson DA, Schlaen SE 1997 Whole body bone, fat, and lean mass in black and white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(6):967-71.
- 65. Nelson DA, Jacobsen G, Barondess DA, Parfitt AM 1995 Ethnic differences in regional bone density, hip axis length, and lifestyle variables among healthy black and white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **10**(5):782-7.

- 66. Looker AC, Orwoll ES, Johnston CC, Jr., Lindsay RL, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP 1997 Prevalence of low femoral bone density in older U.S. adults from NHANES III.[see comment]. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(11):1761-8.
- 67. Aspray TJ, Prentice A, Cole TJ, Sawo Y, Reeve J, Francis RM 1996 Low bone mineral content is common but osteoporotic fractures are rare in elderly rural Gambian women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **11**(7):1019-25.
- 68. Cundy T, Cornish J, Evans MC, Gamble G, Stapleton J, Reid IR 1995 Sources of interracial variation in bone mineral density. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10(3):368-73.
- 69. Prentice A, Shaw J, Laskey MA, Cole TJ, Fraser DR 1991 Bone mineral content of British and rural Gambian women aged 18-80+ years. Bone & Mineral **12**(3):201-14.
- 70. Broussard DL, Magnus JH 2004 Risk assessment and screening for low bone mineral density in a multi-ethnic population of women and men: does one approach fit all? Osteoporosis International **15**(5):349-60.
- 71. Finkelstein JS, Lee ML, Sowers M, Ettinger B, Neer RM, Kelsey JL, Cauley JA, Huang MH, Greendale GA 2002 Ethnic variation in bone density in premenopausal and early perimenopausal women: effects of anthropometric and lifestyle factors.[see comment]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **87**(7):3057-67.
- 72. Nelson DA, Kleerekoper M, Parfitt AM 1988 Bone mass, skin color and body size among black and white women. Bone & Mineral **4**(3):257-64.
- 73. Bell NH, Gordon L, Stevens J, Shary JR 1995 Demonstration that bone mineral density of the lumbar spine, trochanter, and femoral neck is higher in black than in white young men. Calcified Tissue International **56**(1):11-3.
- 74. Dibba B, Prentice A, Laskey MA, Stirling DM, Cole TJ 1999 An investigation of ethnic differences in bone mineral, hip axis length, calcium metabolism and bone turnover between West African and Caucasian adults living in the United Kingdom. Annals of Human Biology **26**(3):229-42.
- 75. George A, Tracy JK, Meyer WA, Flores RH, Wilson PD, Hochberg MC 2003 Racial differences in bone mineral density in older men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **18**(12):2238-44.
- 76. Turner LW, Wang MQ, Fu Q 1998 Risk factors for hip fracture among southern older women. Southern Medical Journal **91**(6):533-40.
- 77. Turner LW, Wallace LS, Perry BA, Bleeker J 2004 Risk factors for osteoporosis among middle-aged women. American Journal of Health Behavior **28**(3):250-9.
- 78. Seeman E 1998 Growth in bone mass and size-are racial and gender differences in bone mineral density more apparent than real?]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.:1414-9.
- 79. Melton IL, Marquez MA, Achenbach SJ, Tefferi A, O'Connor MK, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL 2002 Variations in bone density among persons of African heritage. Osteoporosis International **13**(7):551-9.
- 80. Guo SS, Zeller C, Chumlea WC, Siervogel RM 1999 Aging, body composition, and lifestyle: the Fels Longitudinal Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **70**(3):405-11.

- Khosla S, Atkinson EJ, Riggs BL, Melton LJ, 3rd 1996 Relationship between body composition and bone mass in women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 11(6):857-63.
- 82. Kirchengast S, Peterson B, Hauser G, Knogler W 2001 Body composition characteristics are associated with the bone density of the proximal femur end in middle- and old-aged women and men. Maturitas **39**(2):133-45.
- 83. Pluijm SM, Visser M, Smit JH, Popp-Snijders C, Roos JC, Lips P 2001 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men and women: body composition as mediator. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(11):2142-51.
- 84. Van Langendonck L, Claessens AL, Lefevre J, Thomis M, Philippaerts R, Delvaux K, Lysens R, Vanden Eynde B, Beunen G 2002 Association between bone mineral density (DXA), body structure, and body composition in middle-aged men. American Journal of Human Biology **14**(6):735-42.
- Bauer DC, Browner WS, Cauley JA, Orwoll ES, Scott JC, Black DM, Tao JL, Cummings SR 1993 Factors associated with appendicular bone mass in older women. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine 118(9):657-65.
- 86. Orwoll ES, Bauer DC, Vogt TM, Fox KM 1996 Axial bone mass in older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Annals of Internal Medicine **124**(2):187-96.
- 87. Bakhireva LN, Barrett-Connor E, Kritz-Silverstein D, Morton DJ 2004 Modifiable predictors of bone loss in older men: a prospective study.[erratum appears in Am J Prev Med. 2004 Oct;27(3):265]. American Journal of Preventive Medicine **26**(5):436-42.
- 88. Glynn NW, Meilahn EN, Charron M, Anderson SJ, Kuller LH, Cauley JA 1995 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **10**(11):1769-77.
- 89. Huuskonen J, Vaisanen SB, Kroger H, Jurvelin C, Bouchard C, Alhava E, Rauramaa R 2000 Determinants of bone mineral density in middle aged men: a population-based study. Osteoporosis International **11**(8):702-8.
- 90. Izumotani K, Hagiwara S, Izumotani T, Miki T, Morii H, Nishizawa Y 2003 Risk factors for osteoporosis in men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Metabolism **21**(2):86-90.
- 91. Orwoll ES, Bevan L, Phipps KR 2000 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men. Osteoporosis International **11**(10):815-21.
- 92. Pande I, Francis RM 2001 Osteoporosis in men. Best Practice & Research in Clinical Rheumatology **15**(3):415-27.
- 93. Ross PD 1996 Prediction of fracture risk. II: Other risk factors. American Journal of the Medical Sciences **312**(6):260-9.
- 94. Nguyen TV, Kelly PJ, Sambrook PN, Gilbert C, Pocock NA, Eisman JA 1994 Lifestyle factors and bone density in the elderly: implications for osteoporosis prevention. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9(9):1339-46.
- 95. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Ross P, Cohn SH 1990 Aging bone loss from the femur, spine, radius, and total skeleton. Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental **39**(11):1144-50.
- 96. Kyle UG, Genton L, Hans D, Karsegard L, Slosman DO, Pichard C 2001 Age-related differences in fat-free mass, skeletal muscle, body cell mass and fat mass between 18 and 94 years. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition **55**(8):663-72.

- 97. Cauley JA, Lui L-Y, Stone KL, Hillier TA, Zmuda JM, Hochberg M, Beck TJ, Ensrud KE 2005 Longitudinal Study of Changes in Hip Bone Mineral Density in Caucasian and African-American Women. J Am Geriatr Soc **53**(2):183-189.
- 98. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Feuerman M, Mikhail M, Ma R 2000 Differences in skeletal and muscle mass with aging in black and white women. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology & Metabolism **278**(6):E1153-7.
- 99. Harris SS, Dawson-Hughes B 1996 Weight, body composition, and bone density in postmenopausal women. Calcified Tissue International **59**(6):428-32.
- 100. Kuczmarski MF, Kuczmarski RJ, Najjar M 2000 Descriptive anthropometric reference data for older Americans. Journal of the American Dietetic Association **100**(1):59-66.
- 101. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Ma R, Flaster E 1997 Comparison of body composition in black and white premenopausal women.[see comment]. Journal of Laboratory & Clinical Medicine **129**(3):294-9.
- 102. Taaffe DR, Lang TF, Fuerst T, Cauley JA, Nevitt MC, Harris TB 2003 Sex- and racerelated differences in cross-sectional geometry and bone density of the femoral mid-shaft in older adults. Annals of Human Biology **30**(3):329-46.
- 103. Reid IR, Ames R, Evans MC, Sharpe S, Gamble G, France JT, Lim TM, Cundy TF 1992 Determinants of total body and regional bone mineral density in normal postmenopausal women–a key role for fat mass. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 75(1):45-51.
- 104. Reid IR, Ames RW, Evans MC, Sharpe SJ, Gamble GD 1994 Determinants of the rate of bone loss in normal postmenopausal women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **79**(4):950-4.
- 105. Reid IR, Plank LD, Evans MC 1992 Fat mass is an important determinant of whole body bone density in premenopausal women but not in men. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **75**(3):779-82.
- 106. Reid IR 2002 Relationships among body mass, its components, and bone. Bone **31**(5):547-55.
- 107. Kyle UG, Genton L, Slosman DO, Pichard C 2001 Fat-free and fat mass percentiles in 5225 healthy subjects aged 15 to 98 years.[see comment]. Nutrition **17**(7-8):534-41.
- 108. Schwartz AV, Nevitt MC, Brown BW, Jr., Kelsey JL 2005 Increased falling as a risk factor for fracture among older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. American Journal of Epidemiology **161**(2):180-5.
- 109. Salamone LM, Cauley JA, Black DM, Simkin-Silverman L, Lang W, Gregg E, Palermo L, Epstein RS, Kuller LH, Wing R 1999 Effect of a lifestyle intervention on bone mineral density in premenopausal women: a randomized trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **70**(1):97-103.
- 110. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Ma R, Flaster E 1995 To what extent is bone mass determined by fat-free or fat mass? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **61**(5):1110-4.
- 111. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Mikhail M, Flaster ER 1999 Body composition by dual-energy Xray absorptiometry in black compared with white women. Osteoporosis International **10**(2):114-9.
- 112. Kyle UG, Genton L, Hans D, Karsegard VL, Michel JP, Slosman DO, Pichard C 2001 Total body mass, fat mass, fat-free mass, and skeletal muscle in older people: crosssectional differences in 60-year-old persons. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 49(12):1633-40.

- 113. Wagner DR, Heyward VH 2000 Measures of body composition in blacks and whites: a comparative review. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **71**(6):1392-402.
- 114. Luke A, Durazo-Arvizu R, Rotimi C, Prewitt TE, Forrester T, Wilks R, Ogunbiyi OJ, Schoeller DA, McGee D, Cooper RS 1997 Relation between body mass index and body fat in black population samples from Nigeria, Jamaica, and the United States. American Journal of Epidemiology **145**(7):620-8.
- 115. Schwartz AV, Nevitt MC, Brown BW, Jr., Kelsey JL 2005 Increased falling as a risk factor for fracture among older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures.180-5.
- 116. Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Browner WS, Stone K, Fox KM, Ensrud KE, Cauley J, Black D, Vogt TM 1995 Risk factors for hip fracture in white women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. New England Journal of Medicine 332(12):767-73.
- 117. Nevitt MC, Cummings SR 1993 Type of fall and risk of hip and wrist fractures: the study of osteoporotic fractures. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society **41**(11):1226-34.
- 118. Cummings SR, Nevitt MC 1994 Falls. New England Journal of Medicine **331**(13):872-3.
- 119. Gregg EW, Pereira MA, Caspersen CJ 2000 Physical activity, falls, and fractures among older adults: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society **48**(8):883-93.
- 120. Means KM, O'Sullivan PS, Rodell DE 2000 Balance, mobility, and falls among elderly African American women. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation **79**(1):30-9.
- 121. Cummings SR, Black D 1995 Bone mass measurements and risk of fracture in Caucasian women: a review of findings from prospective studies. American Journal of Medicine **98**(2A):24S-28S.
- 122. Hosmer WD, Genant HK, Browner WS 2002 Fractures before menopause: a red flag for physicians. Osteoporosis International **13**(4):337-41.
- 123. Fox KM, Cummings SR, Powell-Threets K, Stone K 1998 Family history and risk of osteoporotic fracture. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Osteoporosis International **8**(6):557-62.
- 124. Takata S, Yasui N 2001 Disuse osteoporosis. Journal of Medical Investigation **48**(3-4):147-56.
- 125. Snelling AM, Crespo CJ, Schaeffer M, Smith S, Walbourn L 2001 Modifiable and nonmodifiable factors associated with osteoporosis in postmenopausal women: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine **10**(1):57-65.
- 126. Law MR, Hackshaw AK 1997 A meta-analysis of cigarette smoking, bone mineral density and risk of hip fracture: recognition of a major effect.[see comment]. BMJ 315(7112):841-6.
- 127. Ward KD, Klesges RC 2001 A meta-analysis of the effects of cigarette smoking on bone mineral density. Calcified Tissue International **68**(5):259-70.
- 128. Rico H 1990 Alcohol and bone disease. Alcohol & Alcoholism **25**(4):345-52.
- 129. Barrett-Connor E, Chang JC, Edelstein SL 1994 Coffee-associated osteoporosis offset by daily milk consumption. The Rancho Bernardo Study. JAMA **271**(4):280-3.

- 130. Lloyd T, Rollings N, Eggli DF, Kieselhorst K, Chinchilli VM 1997 Dietary caffeine intake and bone status of postmenopausal women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **65**(6):1826-30.
- 131. Grainge MJ, Coupland CA, Cliffe SJ, Chilvers CE, Hosking DJ 2001 Reproductive, menstrual and menopausal factors: which are associated with bone mineral density in early postmenopausal women? Osteoporosis International **12**(9):777-87.
- 132. Kotzan JA, Martin BC, Reeves JH, Wade W 1999 The impact of race and fractures on mortality in a postmenopausal Medicaid population. Clinical Therapeutics **21**(11):1988-2000.
- 133. Barrett JA, Baron JA, Karagas MR, Beach ML 1999 Fracture risk in the U.S. Medicare population. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology **52**(3):243-9.
- 134. Schwartz AV, Sellmeyer DE, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Tabor HK, Schreiner PJ, Jamal SA, Black DM, Cummings SR, Study of Osteoporotic Features Research G 2001 Older women with diabetes have an increased risk of fracture: a prospective study.[see comment]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **86**(1):32-8.
- 135. Barrett-Connor E, Kritz-Silverstein D 1996 Does hyperinsulinemia preserve bone? Diabetes Care **19**(12):1388-92.
- 136. Gregg EW, Beckles GL, Williamson DF, Leveille SG, Langlois JA, Engelgau MM, Narayan KM 2000 Diabetes and physical disability among older U.S. adults. Diabetes Care 23(9):1272-7.
- 137. Strotmeyer ES, Cauley JA, Schwartz AV, Nevitt MC, Resnick HE, Zmuda JM, Bauer DC, Tylavsky FA, de Rekeneire N, Harris TB, Newman AB, Health ABCS 2004 Diabetes is associated independently of body composition with BMD and bone volume in older white and black men and women: The Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **19**(7):1084-91.
- 138. Nicodemus KK, Folsom AR, Iowa Women's Health S 2001 Type 1 and type 2 diabetes and incident hip fractures in postmenopausal women. Diabetes Care **24**(7):1192-7.
- 139. Cappuccio FP, Meilahn E, Zmuda JM, Cauley JA 1999 High blood pressure and bonemineral loss in elderly white women: a prospective study. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Lancet **354**(9183):971-5.
- 140. Reid IR, Ames RW, Orr-Walker BJ, Clearwater JM, Horne AM, Evans MC, Murray MA, McNeil AR, Gamble GD 2000 Hydrochlorothiazide reduces loss of cortical bone in normal postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial.[see comment]. American Journal of Medicine 109(5):362-70.
- 141. Mussolino ME, Madans JH, Gillum RF 2003 Bone mineral density and stroke. Stroke **34**(5):e20-2.
- 142. Ramnemark A, Nilsson M, Borssen B, Gustafson Y 2000 Stroke, a major and increasing risk factor for femoral neck fracture. Stroke **31**(7):1572-7.
- 143. Shibuya K, Hagino H, Morio Y, Teshima R 2002 Cross-sectional and longitudinal study of osteoporosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clinical Rheumatology **21**(2):150-8.
- 144. Reid IR 2000 Preventing lucocorticoids-induced osteoporosis. Zeitschrift fur Rheumatologie **59 Suppl 2:**II/97-102.
- 145. Reid IR 2000 Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 14(2):279-98.
- 146. Stewart A, Black AJ 2000 Bone mineral density in osteoarthritis. Current Opinion in Rheumatology **12**(5):464-7.

- 147. Burger H, van Daele PL, Odding E, Valkenburg HA, Hofman A, Grobbee DE, Schutte HE, Birkenhager JC, Pols HA 1996 Association of radiographically evident osteoarthritis with higher bone mineral density and increased bone loss with age. The Rotterdam Study. Arthritis & Rheumatism **39**(1):81-6.
- 148. Cauley JA, Lucas FL, Kuller LH, Vogt MT, Browner WS, Cummings SR 1996 Bone mineral density and risk of breast cancer in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. JAMA 276(17):1404-8.
- 149. Zmuda JM, Cauley JA, Ljung BM, Bauer DC, Cummings SR, Kuller LH, Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research G 2001 Bone mass and breast cancer risk in older women: differences by stage at diagnosis. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 93(12):930-6.
- 150. Buist DS, LaCroix AZ, Barlow WE, White E, Cauley JA, Bauer DC, Weiss NS 2001 Bone mineral density and endogenous hormones and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women (United States). Cancer Causes & Control **12**(3):213-22.
- 151. Nelson DA, Darga LL, Simon MS, Severson RK 2004 Radial bone density and breast cancer risk in white and African-American women. Osteoporosis International **15**(7):535-40.
- 152. Kumeda Y, Inaba M, Tahara H, Kurioka Y, Ishikawa T, Morii H, Nishizawa Y 2000 Persistent increase in bone turnover in Graves' patients with subclinical hyperthyroidism. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **85**(11):4157-61.
- Pyorala K, Wood D 1998 Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice. European recommendations revised and reinforced.[comment]. European Heart Journal 19(10):1413-5.
- 154. Levine JP 2003 Long-term estrogen and hormone replacement therapy for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Current Women's Health Reports **3**(3):181-6.
- 155. Rymer J, Wilson R, Ballard K 2003 Making decisions about hormone replacement therapy.[see comment]. BMJ **326**(7384):322-6.
- 156. Harris TJ, Cook DG, Wicks PD, Cappuccio FP 1999 Ethnic differences in use of hormone replacement therapy: community based survey. BMJ **319**(7210):610-1.
- 157. McClung M, Clemmesen B, Daifotis A, Gilchrist NL, Eisman J, Weinstein RS, Fuleihan Ge-H, Reda C, Yates AJ, Ravn P 1998 Alendronate prevents postmenopausal bone loss in women without osteoporosis. A double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Alendronate Osteoporosis Prevention Study Group.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine 128(4):253-61.
- Riggs BL, Hartmann LC 2003 Selective estrogen-receptor modulators mechanisms of action and application to clinical practice.[see comment][erratum appears in N Engl J Med. 2003 Mar 20;348(12):1192]. New England Journal of Medicine **348**(7):618-29.
- 159. Smith MR 2003 Management of treatment-related osteoporosis in men with prostate cancer. Cancer Treatment Reviews **29**(3):211-8.
- 160. Dawson NA 2003 Therapeutic benefit of bisphosphonates in the management of prostate cancer-related bone disease. Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy **4**(5):705-16.
- 161. Liang MH, Mandl LA, Costenbader K, Fox E, Karlson E 2002 Atherosclerotic vascular disease in systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of the National Medical Association **94**(9):813-9.

- 162. Watts N 2002 Bisphosphonates, statins, osteoporosis, and atherosclerosis. Southern Medical Journal **95**(6):578-82.
- 163. Pasco JA, Henry MJ, Sanders KM, Kotowicz MA, Seeman E, Nicholson GC, Geelong Osteoporosis S 2004 Beta-adrenergic blockers reduce the risk of fracture partly by increasing bone mineral density: Geelong Osteoporosis Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 19(1):19-24.
- 164. Jamal SA, Browner WS, Bauer DC, Cummings SR 1998 Intermittent use of nitrates increases bone mineral density: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **13**(11):1755-9.
- 165. Seeman E 2001 During aging, men lose less bone than women because they gain more periosteal bone, not because they resorb less endosteal bone. Calcified Tissue International **69**(4):205-8.
- 166. Francis RM 2001 Falls and fractures. Age & Ageing **30 Suppl 4:**25-8.
- 167. Nelson DA, Barondess DA, Hendrix SL, Beck TJ 2000 Cross-sectional geometry, bone strength, and bone mass in the proximal femur in black and white postmenopausal women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **15**(10):1992-7.
- Knoke JD, Barrett-Connor E 2003 Weight loss: a determinant of hip bone loss in older men and women. The Rancho Bernardo Study. American Journal of Epidemiology 158(12):1132-8.
- 169. Hannan MT, Felson DT, Dawson-Hughes B, Tucker KL, Cupples LA, Wilson PW, Kiel DP 2000 Risk factors for longitudinal bone loss in elderly men and women: the Framingham Osteoporosis Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **15**(4):710-20.
- 170. Farmer ME, White LR, Brody JA, Bailey KR 1984 Race and sex differences in hip fracture incidence. American Journal of Public Health **74**(12):1374-80.
- 171. Baron JA, Barrett J, Malenka D, Fisher E, Kniffin W, Bubolz T, Tosteson T 1994 Racial differences in fracture risk. Epidemiology **5**(1):42-7.
- 172. Campion JM, Maricic MJ 2003 Osteoporosis in men. American Family Physician **67**(7):1521-6.
- 173. Griffin MR, Ray WA, Fought RL, Melton LJ, 3rd 1992 Black-white differences in fracture rates. American Journal of Epidemiology **136**(11):1378-85.

3. Correlates of Bone Mineral Density in Men of African Caribbean Ancestry: Tobago Bone Health Study

(Manuscript to be submitted)

Deanna D. Hill¹, Jane A. Cauley¹, Clareann H. Bunker¹, Carol E. Baker², Alan L. Patrick³, Gloria

L.A. Beckles⁴, Joseph M. Zmuda¹

¹Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh,

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA.

²Office of Measurement and Evaluation, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania,

USA.

³Tobago Health Studies Office, Scarborough, Tobago, Trinidad and Tobago.

⁴Division of Diabetes Translation, Epidemiology and Statistics Branch, National Center for

Chronic Disease Prevention, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, USA.

3.1. Abstract

Objective: To test the hypotheses that components of body weight (fat mass and lean mass), lifestyle factors, and health-related factors are correlated with bone mineral density (BMD), we conducted a cross-sectional, population-based study of African Caribbean males residing on the island of Tobago.

Materials and Methods: 1,784 ambulatory males, aged 40-84 years, were recruited from the Tobago Prostate Cancer Screening Study. Participants completed a questionnaire, physical examination, and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) examination that measured BMD for whole body, total hip, and femoral neck subregion. In this analysis we focused on BMD measured at the total hip and femoral neck subregion and utilized body composition data derived from whole body DXA scans.

Results: BMD was approximately 10% and 20% higher across age groups for Tobagonian males compared to NHANES III data for African and Caucasian American males of the same age. In multiple linear regression models, greater lean mass, history of working on a fishing boat and diabetes were significantly associated with higher BMD, while older age, taller height, and history of a fractured or broken bone were associated with lower BMD. Lean body mass explained 18% and 15% of the variance (\mathbb{R}^2) in BMD measured at the total hip and femoral neck, respectively, after adjusting for covariates.

Conclusions: High BMD was observed in this population of middle-aged and older African Caribbean males and lean mass was the strongest correlate of BMD. Final models explained 25% of the variability in total hip and femoral neck BMD. (Word Count: < 250 words)

52

3.2. Introduction

Bone mineral density (BMD) is an important predictor of fracture risk and persons with lower BMD are at an increased risk of sustaining an osteoporotic fracture.(1-6) Several studies have identified the determinants of BMD for Caucasian males and females.(7-16) In Caucasian males, commonly reported determinants of BMD include weight, lifestyle factors, genetics, medical conditions, and medication use. Weight consists of several components, including fat mass and lean mass. The relative contribution of these components to BMD is not known, particularly for males and non-Caucasian populations.

The epidemiology of osteoporosis, risk of sustaining osteoporotic fractures, and determinants of bone mineral density (BMD) are poorly understood in persons of African ancestry, especially males. This is due in part to the paucity of literature on the etiology of BMD and related conditions such as osteoporosis and osteoporotic fracture for non-Caucasians.

Of the few studies that have included persons of African ancestry, BMD was 3-11% higher among persons of African ancestry compared to Caucasians, even after adjusting for important covariates.(17-23) Possible biological explanations for this ethnic difference in BMD include peak bone mass acquisition(24-27), bone geometry(28-32), and genetic factors(33-35). Lifestyle factors associated with BMD may further explain the ethnic differences in BMD, but research in this area is limited.(36) Studies of ethnic differences in BMD have been conducted primarily in Europe, US, and South Africa and the vast majority of these studies have included only females.(21,24,28,31,37) To address this gap in knowledge, we conducted a population-based study to identify anthropometric, lifestyle and health-related correlates of hip BMD in middle-aged and older males of West African ancestry, residing on the Caribbean island of Tobago.

3.3. Methods

Trinidad & Tobago is a twin-island State situated at the southern end of the Caribbean chain of islands. The 1990 census for Trinidad & Tobago reported approximately 5,100 males aged 40 – 79 on the island of Tobago. The majority of the Tobagonian population (92%) was reported to be of West African ancestry.(38) The Institutional Review Boards of University of Pittsburgh and the Tobago Ministry of Health and Social Services approved this study.

A total of 1,841 males were recruited between 1998 and 2000 from a population-based prostate cancer screening study on the Island of Tobago, Trinidad & Tobago. A detailed summary of the Tobago Prostate Cancer Survey Study methods has been published elsewhere.(39) Briefly, the Tobago Prostate Cancer Survey Study is a longitudinal study of prostate cancer in males aged 40 years and older. To be eligible for the Tobago Bone Health Study, males had to be willing to participate, able to provide informed consent, and ambulatory. For this analysis, we excluded participants (n=57) with prostate specific antigen greater than 40 or Gleason score greater than 7 because these levels increase the likelihood of androgen deprivation therapy or orchiectomy to treat prostate cancer, which is inversely related to BMD.(40-42) A final sample of 1,784 males was included in the analysis.

Trained interviewers and nurses administered questionnaires to participants in the Tobago Health Studies Office. Questionnaires gathered information pertaining to demographic characteristics, medical history, fracture history, physical activity, and lifestyle variables. We focused on potential correlates of BMD based on the body of literature for males and females. Ethnicity was self-reported. Physical activity was measured as a continuous variable by the number of hours walked per week. Occupational history was measured as a dichotomous variable and included several common occupations. Most lifestyle characteristics and health-related questions were measured as dichotomous variables. Nominal variables included marital status, occupational status, alcohol consumption, and smoking history. Smoking status was categorized as never, former, or current. Males who smoked cigarettes for less than six months were considered to have never smoked. We also quantified the number of alcohol-containing beverages consumed in the past 12 months.

Body weight was measured in kilograms using a calibrated balance beam scale and participants were allowed to wear indoor clothing with shoes removed. Standing height without shoes was measured in centimeters with a wall-mounted stadiometer. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing body weight (in kilograms) by height (in meters squared). Handgrip strength was measured in kilograms for both dominant and non-dominant hands using a dynamometer.

All participants received a DXA examination during the study period (QDR 4500W, Hologic, Inc: Bedford, MA). The DXA examination was performed by a trained, certified DXA technician. For all participants, the same scanner was used and DXA scans were completed using the array beam mode. Standardized positioning and utilization of QDR software was based on the manufacturer's recommended protocol. Scans were analyzed with QDR software version 8.26a. Total hip and the femoral neck subregion were assessed by scanning the left hip, unless the patient had hip replacement surgery, deformity or some other condition that did not allow for scanning of the left side (n=16). Body composition measures (bone mineral-free lean mass and fat mass), were assessed by whole body scans. To ensure consistency, the DXA technician scanned a spine phantom daily and completed a weekly quality control whole body air scan, prior to completing any scans. Synarc, Inc. (Waltham, MA) monitored spine phantom data, reviewed DXA scans, and flagged scans if positioning errors occurred.

Data Analysis

We compared mean BMD measured at the hip and femoral neck subregion to a nationally representative sample of US African American (AA) and Caucasian males from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III (1988-1994), stratified by 10-year age intervals (Figures 3-1 and 3-2). To identify variables that correlated with hip BMD, predictor variables were analyzed using age- and weight-adjusted models. The strength of the association is expressed as percent change in units of change chosen to approximate one standard deviation (SD) in the distribution for each continuous variable or null category for dichotomous variables. The formula used to calculate the percent difference in BMD per unit change (SD) of the independent variable (β) = (unstandardized β x unit change in independent variable) x 100. The corresponding 95% confidence intervals were calculated using: $\beta \pm 1.96$ x standard error of β .

To limit the number of predictors tested, only variables with p-value less than 0.10 in age-adjusted models were considered in multiple linear regression analyses. Multiple linear regression analyses were performed using the stepwise approach to identify correlates of hip and the femoral neck subregion in separate models. Age was forced into models for both total hip and the femoral neck subregion. The final model only included variables significantly associated with BMD at p < 0.05.

Multicollinearity was assessed with the variance inflation factor (VIF). It is suggested that a VIF greater than 10 for any one variable or the mean of VIFs substantially larger than 1 represents collinearity among the variables.(43,44) In those instances where the data captured information from multiple variables that measured the same characteristic, we used the variable that was most correlated with BMD. For example, lean mass and fat mass, two major components of body weight, explained more of the variability in BMD than body weight or BMI. Therefore, the latter variables were not included in multiple regression analyses.

Potential interactions were derived from extant literature and initial review of the multiple linear regression models. We tested for possible interactions between alcohol consumption and smoking, lean mass and standing height, lean mass and history of working on a fishing boat, lean mass and alcohol consumption, as well as alcohol consumption and history of working on a fishing boat. None of the interactions tested were significant (p < 0.05) in models for the hip or femoral neck subregion. Data were analyzed using SAS software version 8.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).(45)

3.4. Results

The distribution of age and mean BMD for 1,784 participants is shown in Table 2-1. The average age of participants in this study was 56.3 ± 10.4 (range 40 to 84 years), with males aged 40-69 years accounting for more than 85% of the study sample. Mean total hip BMD was considerably higher in this cohort of middle-aged and older males compared to NHANES III data for Caucasian (18-22%) and AA males (8-12%), with larger differences in the three older age groups (Figure 2-1).(46) Similar differences were observed at the femoral neck subregion when we compared mean BMD of Tobagonian males to data for US males (Figure 2-2).(46) Additional descriptive characteristics are shown in Tables 2 and 3 for the hip and femoral neck subregion, respectively, adjusted for age and age in conjunction with weight.

Physical and Anthropometric Variables

57

Bone mass was inversely related to age, decreasing approximately 3% at the hip and 4% at the femoral neck subregion for every additional 10 years in age (Tables 2-2 and 2-3). After adjusting for age, each standard deviation increase in lean mass was associated with a 6-7% increase in BMD at both sites. BMD increased 3-4% for each standard deviation increase in fat mass in age-adjusted models. Each 15 kg increase in body weight was associated with a 6% increase in BMD and 1 standard deviation increase in standing height and grip strength was also associated with nearly a 2% increase in BMD, after adjusting for age. Variables associated with BMD in age-adjusted models remained significant in age- and weight-adjusted models but to a smaller magnitude. In the age- and weight-adjusted model, more television watching was associated with significantly lower BMD at the femoral neck subregion.

Personal/Family History and Lifestyle Characteristics

Lifetime history of sustaining a fracture or broken bone was inversely related to BMD, after adjusting for age (p = 0.0052 total hip and p = 0.0169 femoral neck subregion). Current working status was not significantly associated with BMD, but history of working on a farm and history of working on a fishing boat were both positively associated with hip BMD after adjustment for age, with magnitudes of 2-4% higher BMD. Current physical activity and smoking did not have any significant effect on BMD in the age-adjusted analyses. Males who consumed at least one to five alcohol-containing beverages per week had 2% higher femoral neck BMD in age-adjusted models.

Medical History and Medication Use

Both hypertension and diabetes were associated with 3% higher BMD whereas diverticulitis was associated with 6-9% lower BMD. The proportion of males who had taken selected prescription and nonprescription medications in the last year was relatively low and

58

represented less than 20% of the study sample. None of the medications in this analysis was significantly associated with BMD.

Multiple Linear Regression Analyses

Complete data were available for 1,666 participants who were included in the multiple linear regression analyses for both the total hip and femoral neck subregion models. Models derived from stepwise regression analyses explained 25% of the total variance (R^2) in BMD measured at the hip and femoral neck subregion. Variables associated with total hip BMD are shown in Table 2-4. Each one unit increase in lean mass was associated with nearly an 8% increase in BMD, but a unit increase in standing height was associated with 2% lower BMD, after controlling for the effects of other variables in the model. In models considering lean mass or fat mass separately, each was independently related to hip total BMD (p < 0.001), but after adjustment for covariates, the effect of fat mass was negligible. Consistent associations were observed for the same independent variables at the femoral neck subregion BMD (Table 2-5). For example, each additional 10 years in age was associated with a 2.6% decrease in femoral neck BMD compared to a 1.3% decrease in BMD at the hip, when other variables were included in the model. At both sites, lean mass accounted for the greatest proportion (partial $R^2 = 15$ -18%) of the variance in BMD.

3.5. Discussion

Mean BMD, measured at the total hip and femoral neck subregion, was 8-22% higher among Tobagonian males compared to US Caucasian and AA males of similar age as reported in the NHANES III.(46) One possible explanation for greater mean BMD in Tobagonian males compared to AA males is that admixture in the US for persons of African ancestry is approximately 25% (47) compared to only 6% on the island of Tobago. Another potential explanation for higher BMD is lack of industrialization in Tobago. Residents encounter more weight bearing activities during work and leisure-time activities, possibly resulting in increased muscle strength and bone mass.

Older age, greater standing height, and history of a broken or fractured bone were inversely associated with BMD, whereas lean mass, history of working on a fishing boat, and history of diabetes were positively associated with BMD. BMD significantly decreased with each decade of life, consistent with the findings of published literature for Caucasian males.(7-11,15,21,46,48-56) Taller males had lower BMD in this study, which may be related to the overall lower body weight in this study population, resulting in less dense bone among taller persons (i.e., thinness). Similar to the finding by Orwoll for rural Caucasian males,(11) history of a broken bone or fracture was inversely associated with BMD. This association may be predictive of future fracture risk since history of fracture predisposes one to increased risk of fracture in the future.(3)

Some studies have suggested that both fat and lean mass were significant correlates of BMD among males and females of African ancestry (10,57,58) and other studies suggested that fat mass had a greater effect on bone mass in postmenopausal AA females (19,59-61). Our analysis demonstrated that lean mass was the variable most strongly associated with BMD at the total hip (partial $R^2 = 18.4\%$) and femoral neck subregion (partial $R^2 = 15.3\%$) rather than adiposity which confirms the findings of other studies. (17,19,59,62,63) For example, Dibba et al. suggested that lean mass, rather than body size, explained the higher femoral neck BMD among Gambian males compared to Caucasian males.(28)

We believe lean mass was influenced by lifetime muscle activity and mechanical loading on the skeleton. This proposed mechanism may have contributed to maintenance of BMD, as observed in this study. Ringsberg et al. have shown that physical activity and higher workload increased muscle strength, thereby preserving bone, among females who participated in longterm physical activity. (64) It has been postulated that aromatization of androgens into estrogen also occurs in lean mass, thereby positively influencing bone maintenance and integrity.(65,66) The positive association between BMD and history of working on a fishing boat may be a surrogate for lifetime vigorous physical activity, which better explains the role of skeletal loading on BMD compared to the current number of hours walked per week.

Diabetes was associated with higher BMD and this association has been reported in other studies with Caucasian males and females.(12,13) (67) One possible explanation for increased BMD among persons with type 2 diabetes is the anabolic effect that insulin has on bones, which preserves bone.(68,69) (70)

Predictors of BMD in this study extend results from previous studies of AA males and females.(37,71) George et al. examined correlates of BMD among older AA males and found that height, weight, and physical activity were positively associated with BMD measured at the femoral neck and smoking was inversely associated with BMD.(37) Significant correlates of BMD in this analysis were similar to those reported in the literature for females of African ancestry, where age was inversely associated with BMD and body weight was positively associated with BMD.(60,72-75) Broussard et al. reported that lower BMI, current smoking, and physical inactivity were associated with lower BMD among AA males who participated in NHANES III.(75)

61
In studies of Caucasian males, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, physical inactivity, previous fractures, falling in the past 12 months, glucocorticoid use, rheumatoid arthritis, and gastrectomy were inversely associated with BMD.(7-11,52,54,76) We were unable to confirm that smoking, alcohol consumption, family history of hip fracture, and falling in the past 12 months were associated with lower BMD. The lack of an association between smoking, which has been noted in several studies,(7,77-79) may reflect the small proportion (13.5%) of smokers in this study population. Moderate alcohol consumption (1 to 5 drinks per week) was associated with higher BMD in age-adjusted models but this variable did not enter the multiple regression models. We also note that very few study participants had a family history of fracture (~3%) or reported falling in the previous year (~11.0%), which may explain the lack of association with BMD for these variables in our analysis.

Our analysis offers a unique opportunity to examine correlates of BMD in middle-aged and older males of West African ancestry; a sample of males that has not been well studied. BMD was measured with state-of-the art DXA technology. This population-based study characterized the correlates of BMD in a very stable population with low admixture. Persons of African ancestry comprise a segment of the worldwide population that is underrepresented in the vast majority of osteoporosis research. This analysis contributes to addressing gaps in the osteoporotic literature for males of African ancestry.

We should acknowledge the limitations of our analysis. First, data were collected using a cross-sectional study design, which only allows us to only evaluate associations not causality. Second, data on lifestyle and health-related factors were derived from patient self-report and are subject to recall bias. However, these data were collected prior to BMD measurements, so differential recall related to BMD is highly unlikely. Due to the lack of automated medical

62

history data, we were unable to verify medical history. Furthermore, our study was limited to males on the island of Tobago who were of West African ancestry and findings from this analysis may not be applicable to all males with similar ancestry residing on other Caribbean islands, in North America, or Europe.

In summary, among community-dwelling Caribbean males of West African ancestry residing on the island of Tobago, BMD was considerably higher than males in the US. Lean mass was the major predictor of BMD and explained most of the variability in BMD. Older age, history of a broken or fractured bone, and taller height were all risk factors that might identify African Caribbean males at risk for fracture. Some variables previously reported to influence BMD in US Caucasian males (e.g. smoking, excessive alcohol intake, and family history of fracture) were not important determinants of BMD in this population. Longitudinal analyses of changes in bone are needed to further evaluate correlates of BMD and confirm associations observed in this cross-sectional analysis.

3.6. References

- 1. Tanaka T, Latorre MR, Jaime PC, Florindo AA, Pippa MG, Zerbini CA 2001 Risk factors for proximal femur osteoporosis in men aged 50 years or older. Osteoporosis International **12**(11):942-9.
- 2. Kanis JA, McCloskey EV 1998 Risk factors in osteoporosis. Maturitas **30**(3):229-33.
- 3. Cummings SR, Kelsey JL, Nevitt MC, O'Dowd KJ 1985 Epidemiology of osteoporosis and osteoporotic fractures. Epidemiologic Reviews **7:**178-208.
- 4. Cummings SR, Melton LJ 2002 Epidemiology and outcomes of osteoporotic fractures. Lancet **359**(9319):1761-7.
- 5. Walker-Bone K, Dennison E, Cooper C 2001 Epidemiology of osteoporosis. Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America **27**(1):1-18.
- 6. Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, O'Connor MK, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL 1998 Bone density and fracture risk in men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **13**(12):1915-23.
- 7. Huuskonen J, Vaisanen SB, Kroger H, Jurvelin C, Bouchard C, Alhava E, Rauramaa R 2000 Determinants of bone mineral density in middle aged men: a population-based study. Osteoporosis International **11**(8):702-8.
- Glynn NW, Meilahn EN, Charron M, Anderson SJ, Kuller LH, Cauley JA 1995 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10(11):1769-77.
- 9. Bendavid EJ, Shan J, Barrett-Connor E 1996 Factors associated with bone mineral density in middle-aged men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **11**(8):1185-90.
- Pluijm SM, Visser M, Smit JH, Popp-Snijders C, Roos JC, Lips P 2001 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men and women: body composition as mediator. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 16(11):2142-51.
- 11. Orwoll ES, Bevan L, Phipps KR 2000 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men. Osteoporosis International **11**(10):815-21.
- 12. Orwoll ES, Bauer DC, Vogt TM, Fox KM 1996 Axial bone mass in older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Annals of Internal Medicine **124**(2):187-96.
- Bauer DC, Browner WS, Cauley JA, Orwoll ES, Scott JC, Black DM, Tao JL, Cummings SR 1993 Factors associated with appendicular bone mass in older women. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine 118(9):657-65.
- 14. Carbone LD, Tylavsky FA, Cauley JA, Harris TB, Lang TF, Bauer DC, Barrow KD, Kritchevsky SB 2003 Association between bone mineral density and the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and aspirin: impact of cyclooxygenase selectivity. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **18**(10):1795-802.
- 15. Pande I, Francis RM 2001 Osteoporosis in men. Best Practice & Research in Clinical Rheumatology **15**(3):415-27.
- 16. Cauley JA, Fullman RL, Stone KL, Zmuda JM, Bauer DC, Barrett-Connor E, Ensrud K, Orwoll E 2004 Factors associated with lumbar spine and proximal femur bone mineral density in older men. Osteoporosis International **In press**.
- 17. Barondess DA, Nelson DA, Schlaen SE 1997 Whole body bone, fat, and lean mass in black and white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(6):967-71.
- 18. Ettinger B, Sidney S, Cummings SR, Libanati C, Bikle DD, Tekawa IS, Tolan K, Steiger P 1997 Racial differences in bone density between young adult black and white subjects

persist after adjustment for anthropometric, lifestyle, and biochemical differences. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **82**(2):429-34.

- 19. Taaffe DR, Cauley JA, Danielson M, Nevitt MC, Lang TF, Bauer DC, Harris TB 2001 Race and sex effects on the association between muscle strength, soft tissue, and bone mineral density in healthy elders: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(7):1343-52.
- 20. Nelson DA, Jacobsen G, Barondess DA, Parfitt AM 1995 Ethnic differences in regional bone density, hip axis length, and lifestyle variables among healthy black and white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **10**(5):782-7.
- 21. Cauley JA, Zmuda JM, Wisniewski SR, Krishnaswami S, Palermo L, Stone KL, Black DM, Nevitt MC 2004 Bone mineral density and prevalent vertebral fractures in men and women. Osteoporosis International **15**(1):32-7.
- Looker AC, Orwoll ES, Johnston CC, Jr., Lindsay RL, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP 1997 Prevalence of low femoral bone density in older U.S. adults from NHANES III.[see comment]. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 12(11):1761-8.
- 23. Cauley JA, Gutai JP, Kuller LH, Scott J, Nevitt MC 1994 Black-white differences in serum sex hormones and bone mineral density. American Journal Of Epidemiology **139**(10):1035-1046.
- 24. Henry YM, Eastell R 2000 Ethnic and gender differences in bone mineral density and bone turnover in young adults: effect of bone size. Osteoporosis International **11**(6):512-7.
- 25. Hui SL, Dimeglio LA, Longcope C, Peacock M, McClintock R, Perkins AJ, Johnston CC, Jr. 2003 Difference in bone mass between black and white American children: attributable to body build, sex hormone levels, or bone turnover? Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **88**(2):642-9.
- 26. Bachrach LK, Hastie T, Wang MC, Narasimhan B, Marcus R 1999 Bone mineral acquisition in healthy Asian, Hispanic, black, and Caucasian youth: a longitudinal study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **84**(12):4702-12.
- 27. Heaney RP, Abrams S, Dawson-Hughes B, Looker A, Marcus R, Matkovic V, Weaver C 2000 Peak bone mass. Osteoporosis International **11**(12):985-1009.
- 28. Dibba B, Prentice A, Laskey MA, Stirling DM, Cole TJ 1999 An investigation of ethnic differences in bone mineral, hip axis length, calcium metabolism and bone turnover between West African and Caucasian adults living in the United Kingdom. Annals of Human Biology **26**(3):229-42.
- 29. Horlick M, Thornton J, Wang J, Levine LS, Fedun B, Pierson RN, Jr. 2000 Bone mineral in prepubertal children: gender and ethnicity. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **15**(7):1393-7.
- 30. Wang MC, Aguirre M, Bhudhikanok GS, Kendall CG, Kirsch S, Marcus R, Bachrach LK 1997 Bone mass and hip axis length in healthy Asian, black, Hispanic, and white American youths. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(11):1922-35.
- 31. Taaffe DR, Lang TF, Fuerst T, Cauley JA, Nevitt MC, Harris TB 2003 Sex- and racerelated differences in cross-sectional geometry and bone density of the femoral mid-shaft in older adults. Annals of Human Biology **30**(3):329-46.
- 32. Cummings SR, Cauley JA, Palermo L, Ross PD, Wasnich RD, Black D, Faulkner KG 1994 Racial differences in hip axis lengths might explain racial differences in rates of hip

fracture. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Osteoporosis International **4**(4):226-9.

- 33. Nelson DA, Vande Vord PJ, Wooley PH 2000 Polymorphism in the vitamin D receptor gene and bone mass in African-American and white mothers and children: a preliminary report. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases **59**(8):626-30.
- 34. Zmuda JM, Cauley JA, Danielson ME, Ferrell RE 2003 Vitamin D receptor and aromatase gene interaction and bone mass in older African-American women. Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental **52**(5):521-3.
- 35. Zmuda JM, Cauley JA, Danielson ME, Wolf RL, Ferrell RE 1997 Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms, bone turnover, and rates of bone loss in older African-American women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(9):1446-52.
- 36. Amin S, Felson DT 2001 Osteoporosis in men. Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America **27**(1):19-47.
- George A, Tracy JK, Meyer WA, Flores RH, Wilson PD, Hochberg MC 2003 Racial differences in bone mineral density in older men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 18(12):2238-44.
- 1993 Demographic report: age structure, religion, ethnic group, education. 1990 Population and Housing Census. Central Statistics Office, Office of the Prime Minister, Republic of Trinidad and Tobago., Trinidad and Tobago: Office of the Prime Minister, Central Statistics Office., pp Vol. 11, pp. 4-5.
- Bunker CH, Patrick AL, Konety BR, Dhir R, Brufsky AM, Vivas CA, Becich MJ, Trump DL, Kuller LH 2002 High prevalence of screening-detected prostate cancer among Afro-Caribbeans: the Tobago Prostate Cancer Survey. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention 11(8):726-9.
- 40. Melton LJ, 3rd, Alothman KI, Khosla S, Achenbach SJ, Oberg AL, Zincke H 2003 Fracture risk following bilateral orchiectomy. Journal of Urology **169**(5):1747-50.
- Smith MR, McGovern FJ, Zietman AL, Fallon MA, Hayden DL, Schoenfeld DA, Kantoff PW, Finkelstein JS 2001 Pamidronate to prevent bone loss during androgendeprivation therapy for prostate cancer.[see comment]. New England Journal of Medicine 345(13):948-55.
- 42. Berruti A, Dogliotti L, Terrone C, Cerutti S, Isaia G, Tarabuzzi R, Reimondo G, Mari M, Ardissone P, De Luca S, Fasolis G, Fontana D, Rossetti SR, Angeli A, Gruppo Onco Urologico Piemontese ROP 2002 Changes in bone mineral density, lean body mass and fat content as measured by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry in patients with prostate cancer without apparent bone metastases given androgen deprivation therapy. Journal of Urology **167**(6):2361-7; discussion 2367.
- 43. Chatterjee S, Price B 1991 Regression analysis by example, 2nd ed. ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, pp 173-208.
- 44. Glantz SA, Slinker BK 2001 Primer of applied regression and analysis of variance, 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, pp 185-240.
- 45. SAS Institute C, NC, USA Copyright © 1999-2001 The SAS (r) System for Windows, Proprietary Software Release 8.2, 8.02 ed., Cary, pp SAS (r) Proprietary Software Release 8.2.
- 46. Looker AC, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP, Johnston CC, Jr., Lindsay R 1998 Updated data on proximal femur bone mineral levels of US adults. Osteoporosis International **8**(5):468-89.

- 47. Chakraborty R, Kamboh MI, Nwankwo M, Ferrell RE 1992 Caucasian genes in American blacks: new data.[see comment]. American Journal of Human Genetics **50**(1):145-55.
- 48. Fatayerji D, Eastell R 1999 Age-related changes in bone turnover in men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **14**(7):1203-10.
- 49. May H, Murphy S, Khaw KT 1994 Age-associated bone loss in men and women and its relationship to weight. Age & Ageing **23**(3):235-40.
- 50. Fatayerji D, Cooper AM, Eastell R 1999 Total body and regional bone mineral density in men: effect of age. Osteoporosis International **10**(1):59-65.
- 51. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Ross P, Cohn SH 1990 Aging bone loss from the femur, spine, radius, and total skeleton. Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental **39**(11):1144-50.
- 52. Grisso JA, Kelsey JL, O'Brien LA, Miles CG, Sidney S, Maislin G, LaPann K, Moritz D, Peters B 1997 Risk factors for hip fracture in men. Hip Fracture Study Group. American Journal of Epidemiology **145**(9):786-93.
- 53. Hannan MT, Felson DT, Dawson-Hughes B, Tucker KL, Cupples LA, Wilson PW, Kiel DP 2000 Risk factors for longitudinal bone loss in elderly men and women: the Framingham Osteoporosis Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **15**(4):710-20.
- 54. Nguyen TV, Kelly PJ, Sambrook PN, Gilbert C, Pocock NA, Eisman JA 1994 Lifestyle factors and bone density in the elderly: implications for osteoporosis prevention. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9(9):1339-46.
- 55. Seeman E 1999 Osteoporosis in men. Osteoporosis International **9 Suppl 2:**S97-S110.
- 56. Seeman E 1999 The structural basis of bone fragility in men. Bone **25**(1):143-7.
- 57. Perry HM, 3rd, Horowitz M, Morley JE, Fleming S, Jensen J, Caccione P, Miller DK, Kaiser FE, Sundarum M 1996 Aging and bone metabolism in African American and Caucasian women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(3):1108-17.
- 58. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Ma R, Flaster E 1995 To what extent is bone mass determined by fat-free or fat mass? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **61**(5):1110-4.
- 59. Reid IR, Plank LD, Evans MC 1992 Fat mass is an important determinant of whole body bone density in premenopausal women but not in men. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **75**(3):779-82.
- 60. Turner LW, Wang MQ, Fu Q 1998 Risk factors for hip fracture among southern older women. Southern Medical Journal **91**(6):533-40.
- 61. Reid IR, Ames R, Evans MC, Sharpe S, Gamble G, France JT, Lim TM, Cundy TF 1992 Determinants of total body and regional bone mineral density in normal postmenopausal women--a key role for fat mass. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **75**(1):45-51.
- 62. Baumgartner RN, Stauber PM, Koehler KM, Romero L, Garry PJ 1996 Associations of fat and muscle masses with bone mineral in elderly men and women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **63**(3):365-72.
- 63. Visser M, Kiel DP, Langlois J, Hannan MT, Felson DT, Wilson PW, Harris TB 1998 Muscle mass and fat mass in relation to bone mineral density in very old men and women: the Framingham Heart Study. Applied Radiation & Isotopes **49**(5-6):745-7.
- 64. Ringsberg KA, Gardsell P, Johnell O, Josefsson PO, Obrant KJ 2001 The impact of longterm moderate physical activity on functional performance, bone mineral density and fracture incidence in elderly women. Gerontology **47**(1):15-20.

- 65. Matsumine H, Hirato K, Yanaihara T, Tamada T, Yoshida M 1986 Aromatization by skeletal muscle. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **63**(3):717-20.
- 66. Vanderschueren D, Vandenput L, Boonen S, Lindberg MK, Bouillon R, Ohlsson C 2004 Androgens and bone. Endocrine Reviews **25**(3):389-425.
- 67. van Daele PL, Stolk RP, Burger H, Algra D, Grobbee DE, Hofman A, Birkenhager JC, Pols HA 1995 Bone density in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Rotterdam Study.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine **122**(6):409-14.
- 68. Weinstock RS, Goland RS, Shane E, Clemens TL, Lindsay R, Bilezikian JP 1989 Bone mineral density in women with type II diabetes mellitus. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 4(1):97-101.
- 69. Stolk RP, Van Daele PL, Pols HA, Burger H, Hofman A, Birkenhager JC, Lamberts SW, Grobbee DE 1996 Hyperinsulinemia and bone mineral density in an elderly population: The Rotterdam Study.[erratum appears in Bone 1996 Nov;19(5):566]. Bone **18**(6):545-9.
- 70. Barrett-Connor E, Kritz-Silverstein D 1996 Does hyperinsulinemia preserve bone?[see comment]. Diabetes Care **19**(12):1388-92.
- 71. Robbins J, Hirsch C, Cauley J 2004 Associates of bone mineral density in older African Americans. Journal of the National Medical Association **96**(12):1609-15.
- 72. Grisso JA, Kelsey JL, Strom BL, O'Brien LA, Maislin G, LaPann K, Samelson L, Hoffman S 1994 Risk factors for hip fracture in black women. The Northeast Hip Fracture Study Group. New England Journal of Medicine **330**(22):1555-9.
- 73. Bohannon AD, Hanlon JT, Landerman R, Gold DT 1999 Association of race and other potential risk factors with nonvertebral fractures in community-dwelling elderly women. American Journal of Epidemiology **149**(11):1002-9.
- 74. Bohannon AD 1999 Osteoporosis and African American women. Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine **8**(5):609-15.
- 75. Broussard DL, Magnus JH 2004 Risk assessment and screening for low bone mineral density in a multi-ethnic population of women and men: does one approach fit all? Osteoporosis International **15**(5):349-60.
- 76. Mazess RB, Barden HS, Drinka PJ, Bauwens SF, Orwoll ES, Bell NH 1990 Influence of age and body weight on spine and femur bone mineral density in U.S. white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5(6):645-52.
- 77. Egger P, Duggleby S, Hobbs R, Fall C, Cooper C 1996 Cigarette smoking and bone mineral density in the elderly. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health **50**(1):47-50.
- 78. Kiel DP, Zhang Y, Hannan MT, Anderson JJ, Baron JA, Felson DT 1996 The effect of smoking at different life stages on bone mineral density in elderly men and women. Osteoporosis International **6**(3):240-8.
- Law MR, Hackshaw AK 1997 A meta-analysis of cigarette smoking, bone mineral density and risk of hip fracture: recognition of a major effect.[see comment]. BMJ 315(7112):841-6.



Looker et al. Osteoporosis International 1998; NHANES III

Figure 3-1. Mean total hip BMD (g/cm²) for Tobago males compared to African American and Caucasian American males, NHANES III, US 1988-1994



Looker et al. Osteoporosis International 1998; NHANES III

Figure 3-2. Mean femoral neck BMD (g/cm²) for Tobago males compared to African American and Caucasian American males, NHANES III, US 1988-1994

Age Group (y)	N(%)	
40-49	551 (30.9)	
50-59	550 (30.8)	
60-69	447 (25.1)	
70-79	219 (12.3)	
80+	17 (1.0)	
BMD (g/cm^2)	Mean ± SD	
Total hip	1.14 ± 0.15	
Femoral neck subregion	0.98 ± 0.15	

 Table 3-1. Descriptive Characteristics (N=1,784)

Characteristics	Mean \pm SD or Prevalence	Age-Adjusted Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change	Age- & Weight- Adjusted Percent Difference in BMD
Churucteristics	(70)	$(95\% \text{ CD})^{\dagger}$	(95% CD [†]
Physical & Anthropometric Characteristics		(9570 CI)	(75 /0 CI)
Age (vears)	56.3 ± 10.4	-2.76 (-3.44, -2.09)**	-1.81 (-2.44, -1.18)**
Weight (kg)	83.3 ± 14.8	$5.98(5.35, 6.61)^{\$**}$	5.70 (5.06, 6.33)**
Standing height (<i>cm</i>)	174.8 ± 6.7	1.49 (0.79, 2.18)**	-0.84 (-1.54, -0.14)*
Body mass index (kg/m^2)	27.2 ± 4.4	5.36 (4.73, 5.98)**	
Right grip strength (kg)	43.4 ± 11.0	1.92 (1.12, 2.73)**	0.61 (-0.16, 1.37)
Left grip strength (kg)	42.6 ± 10.6	2.00 (1.18, 2.82)**	0.64 (-0.14, 1.42)
Lean mass (kg)	61.0 ± 8.2	6.60 (5.96, 7.23)**	
Fat mass (kg)	16.6 ± 7.0	3.82 (3.16, 4.48)**	
Personal/Family History			
Fallen in past 12 months	194 (10.9)	1.52 (-0.64, 3.69)	1.63 (-0.38, 3.64)
Any back pain in past 12 months	929 (52.3)	1.21 (-0.14, 2.56)	0.84 (-0.41, 2.09)
Ever fractured or broken bone	347 (19.5)	-2.44 (-4.14, -0.73)*	-2.69 (-4.26, -1.12)*
Lifestyle characteristics			
Married or living as married	1241 (69.9)	0.31 (-1.17, 1.79)	0.00 (-1.37, 1.37)
Current smoker	240 (13.5)	-1.52 (-3.50, 0.47)	0.11 (-1.73, 1.96)
Alcohol drinks per week			
None	574 (32.2)	Reference	Reference
Up to 1 drink	505 (28.3)	1.35 (-0.40, 3.09)	0.54 (-1.08, 2.16)
More than 1 drink to 5 drinks	398 (22.3)	1.85 (-0.03, 3.74)	1.19 (-0.55, 2.94)
More than 5 drinks	307 (17.2)	-0.28 (-2.31, 1.76)	-0.26 (-2.14, 1.62)
Hours walked per week	29.8 ± 21.4	-0.10 (-0.78, 0.58)	0.48 (-0.16, 1.11)
Hours watched television per week	15.0 ± 11.5	-0.22 (-0.89, 0.45)	-0.45 (-1.08, 0.17)
Currently working	625 (35.0)	-1.10 (-3.19, 0.99)	-0.47 (-2.41, 1.46)
Ever worked on farm	908 (51.3)	$1.48 (0.12, 2.83)^{*}$	$1.40(0.14, 2.65)^{*}$
Ever worked on fishing boat	314 (17.6)	3.81 (2.04, 5.57)**	3.63 (2.00, 5.26)**
Chemical pesticide use	326 (18.3)	-0.05 (-1.80, 1.69)	-0.31 (-1.92, 1.31)
Chemical fertilizer use	317 (17.8)	0.30 (-1.46, 2.06)	0.34 (-1.30, 1.97)
Medical History			
Family history of prostate cancer	128 (7.2)	-2.01 (-4.62, 0.60)	-0.82 (-3.24, 1.60)
Hypertension	571 (32.0)	3.76 (2.29, 5.23)**	1.02 (-0.39, 2.42)
Coronary heart disease	72 (4.0)	-0.24 (-3.70, 3.21)	-0.34 (-3.53, 2.85)
Stroke	45 (2.5)	0.32 (-4.02, 4.67)	-0.12 (-4.13, 3.90)
Diabetes	217 (12.2)	3.38 (1.29, 5.46)*	$2.38(0.45, 4.31)^*$
Arthritis	231 (13.0)	0.43 (-1.67, 2.54)	-1.02 (-2.98, 0.94)
Colorectal polyps	112 (6.3)	-1.92 (-4.69, 0.86)	-1.89 (-4.45, 0.67)
Osteoporosis	20 (1.1)	0.98 (-5.45, 7.40)	1.03 (-4.91, 6.96)
Diverticulitis	17 (1.0)	-7.43 (-14.35, -0.51) [*]	-5.55 (-11.94, 0.85)
Worse health compared to others same age	64 (3.6)	1.01 (-2.61, 4.64)	-0.92 (-4.27, 2.43)
Worse health compared to last year	246 (13.8)	1.87 (-0.08, 3.83)	1.64 (-0.17, 3.46)
Medication use in past 12 months			
Aspirin	216 (12.1)	0.33 (-1.75, 2.41)	-0.64 (-2.56, 1.29)
Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory	302 (16.9)	0.60 (-1.20, 2.41)	-0.59 (-2.26, 1.08)
Ibuprofen	131 (7.3)	0.64 (-1.95, 3.22)	-0.78 (-3.18, 1.62)
Diuretics (anti-hypertensive)	17 (1.0)	3.54 (-3.39, 10.48)	4.20 (-2.40, 10.80)

Table 3-2. Correlates of Total Hip Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change of the Variable

[†] Indicates percent change in bone mass in g/cm² per indicated unit or 1 standard deviation * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.0001;⁸ Effect of weight alone

Characteristics	Mean \pm SD or Prevalence (%)	Age-Adjusted Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change	Age- & Weight- Adjusted Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change
		$(95\% \text{ CI})^{\dagger}$	(95% CI) [†]
Physical & Anthropometric Characteristics		()	()
Age (vears)	56.3 ± 10.4	-4.04 (-4.70, -3.39)**	-3.21 (-3.84, -2.59)**
Weight (kg)	83.3 ± 14.8	$5.61(4.98, 6.24)^{s^{**}}$	5.06 (4.44, 5.69)**
Standing height (<i>cm</i>)	174.8 ± 6.7	2.05 (1.38, 2.73)**	0.11 (-0.58, 0.80)
Body mass index (kg/m^2)	27.2 ± 4.4	4.44 (3.82, 5.05)**	
Right grip strength (kg)	43.4 ± 11.0	1.81 (1.03, 2.59)**	0.64 (-0.11, 1.39)
Left grip strength (kg)	42.6 ± 10.6	1.94 (1.15, 2.74)**	0.75 (-0.01, 1.51)
Lean mass (kg)	61.0 ± 8.2	6.00 (5.37, 6.62)**	
Fat mass (kg)	16.6 ± 7.0	3.25 (2.61, 3.89)**	
Personal/Family History			
Fallen in past 12 months	194 (10.9)	1.32 (-0.78, 3.42)	1.47 (-0.50, 3.45)
Any back pain in past 12 months	929 (52.1)	0.86 (-0.45, 2.17)	0.56 (-0.67, 1.78)
Ever fractured or broken bone	347 (19.5)	-2.02 (-3.67, -0.36)*	-2.22 (-3.77, -0.67)*
Lifestyle characteristics	× ,		
Married or living as married	1241 (69.6)	0.06 (-1.38, 1.49)	-0.26 (-1.60, 1.09)
Current smoker	240 (13.5)	-0.34 (-2.27, 1.58)	1.14 (-0.67, 2.95)
Alcohol drinks per week	~ /		
None	574 (32.2)	Reference	Reference
Up to 1 drink	505 (28.3)	1.54 (-0.16, 3.23)	0.79 (-0.80, 2.39)
More than 1 drink to 5 drinks	398 (22.3)	$2.15(0.32, 3.97)^*$	1.57 (-0.15, 3.28)
More than 5 drinks	307 (17.2)	0.23 (-1.74, 2.20)	0.25 (-1.60, 2.10)
Hours walked per week	29.8 ± 21.4	-0.11 (-0.77, 0.55)	0.40 (-0.23, 1.02)
Hours watched television per week	15.0 ± 11.5	-0.52 (-1.18, 0.13)	-0.73 (-1.34, -0.12)*
Currently working	1151 (64.5)	-1.05 (-3.08, 0.98)	-0.50 (-2.40, 1.40)
Ever worked on farm	908 (50.9)	1.56 (0.24, 2.88)*	$1.50(0.26, 2.73)^*$
Ever worked on fishing boat	314 (17.6)	3.42 (1.71, 5.13)**	3.28 (1.68, 4.89)**
Chemical pesticide use	326 (18.3)	-0.27 (-1.96, 1.42)	-0.49 (-2.08, 1.10)
Chemical fertilizer use	317 (17.8)	-0.26 (-1.97, 1.45)	-0.22 (-1.83, 1.39)
Medical History	× /		
Family history of prostate cancer	128 (7.2)	-2.18 (-4.71, 0.35)	-1.13 (-3.51, 1.25)
Hypertension	571 (32.0)	2.89 (1.46, 4.32)**	0.42 (-0.97, 1.80)
Coronary heart disease	72 (4.0)	-0.62 (-3.97, 2.73)	-0.66 (-3.80, 2.47)
Stroke	45 (2.5)	0.08 (-4.14, 4.30)	-0.27 (-4.21, 3.68)
Diabetes	217 (12.2)	3.50 (1.48, 5.52)*	$2.66(0.76, 4.56)^*$
Arthritis	231 (12.9)	0.32 (-1.72, 2.37)	-0.93 (-2.86, 0.99)
Colorectal polyps	112 (6.3)	-1.87 (-4.56, 0.82)	-1.82 (-4.34, 0.70)
Osteoporosis	20 (1.1)	-0.88 (-7.12, 5.35)	-0.80 (-6.63, 5.04)
Diverticulitis	17 (1.0)	-8.78 (-15.49, -2.07)*	-7.08 (-13.37, -0.80)*
Worse health compared to others same age	64 (3.6)	-0.70 (-4.22, 2.81)	-2.40 (-5.69, 0.90)
Worse health compared to last year	246 (13.8)	1.16 (-0.74, 3.06)	0.98 (-0.80, 2.76)
Medication use in past 12 months	× /		
Aspirin	216 (12.1)	-0.16 (-2.18, 1.85)	-0.99 (-2.88, 0.90)
Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory	302 (16.9)	0.18 (-1.57, 1.94)	-0.85 (-2.50, 0.79)
Ibuprofen	131 (7.3)	0.12 (-2.38, 2.62)	-1.14 (-3.49, 1.22)
Diuretics (anti-hypertensive)	32 (1.8)	1.40 (-5.33, 8.13)	1.46 (-5.03, 7.94)

Table 3-3. Correlates of Femoral Neck Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change of the Variable

[†] Indicates percent change in bone mass in g/cm² per indicated unit or 1 standard deviation * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.0001;⁸ Effect of weight alone

Variable	Percent Difference (95% CI)
	Total Hip BMD ^a
Age (years)	-1.3 (-1.9, -0.6)*
Lean mass (kg)	7.5 (6.8, 8.3)**
Standing height (<i>cm</i>)	-2.1 (-2.9, -1.4)*
Ever worked on a fishing boat (yes)	2.6 (1.0, 4.2)*
Diabetes (yes)	2.9 (1.0, 4.9)*
Ever fractured or broken a bone (yes)	-2.4 (-3.9, -0.8)*
Mode	$1 R^2 = 0.25$

Table 3-4. Statistically Significant Correlates of Hip BMD in Multiple Linear Regression Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation of the Predictor Variables (n=1,666)

^a Other possible predictors tested to explain variability in total hip BMD using p<0.05 as the criterion for entry in the model include: fat mass, grip strength, diverticulitis, current smoking, back pain in past 12 months, hypertension, history of farming, and worse health compared to 12 months ago. These variables were not significant at p<0.05. * p<0.05, ** p<0.001

Variable	Percent Difference (95% CI)
	Femoral Neck BMD ^a
Age (years)	-2.6 (-3.3, -2.0)*
Lean mass (kg)	6.3 (5.6, 7.1) [*]
Diabetes (yes)	3.3 (1.4, 5.2)*
Ever worked on a fishing boat (yes)	2.5 (0.9, 4.1)*
Standing height (<i>cm</i>)	-1.0 (-1.7, -0.3)*
Ever fractured or broken a bone (yes)	-2.0 (-3.6, -0.5)*
	Model $R^2 = 0.25$

Table 3-5. Statistically Significant Correlates of Femoral Neck BMD in Multiple Linear Regression Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard **Deviation of the Predictor Variables (n=1,666)**

^a Other possible predictors tested to explain variability in femoral neck BMD using p<0.05 as the criterion for entry in the model include: fat mass, grip strength, diverticulitis, hypertension, history of farming, and family history of prostate cancer. * p<0.05, ** p<0.001

4. Correlates of Bone Mineral Density among Postmenopausal Women of African Caribbean Ancestry: Tobago Women's Health Study

(Manuscript to be submitted)

Deanna D. Hill¹, Jane A. Cauley¹, Clareann H. Bunker¹, Carol E. Baker², Alan L. Patrick³, Gloria

L.A. Beckles⁴, Victor Wheeler³, Joseph M. Zmuda¹

¹Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh,

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA.

²Office of Measurement and Evaluation, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania,

USA.

³Tobago Health Studies Office, Scarborough, Tobago, Trinidad and Tobago.

⁴Division of Diabetes Translation, Epidemiology and Statistics Branch, National Center for

Chronic Disease Prevention, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, USA.

4.1. Abstract

Objective: To identify correlates of BMD among postmenopausal females of West African ancestry residing on the Caribbean island of Tobago.

Materials and Methods: 340 ambulatory females are included in this cross-sectional analysis. Participants completed an administered questionnaire and had anthropometric measures taken. Total hip and the femoral neck subregion BMD was measured using dual energy x-ray absorptiometry.

Results: In multiple linear regression models, 37-38% of the variability in femoral neck and total hip BMD was predicted, respectively. Each 16 kilogram increase in weight was associated with 5% higher BMD, and explained over 10% of the variability of BMD, after considering the effects of other covariates. Each 8 year increase in age was associated with 5% lower BMD. Current use of both thiazide diuretics and oral hypoglycemic medication were associated with 4-5% higher BMD, whereas history of thyroid hormone use was associated with 10-15% lower BMD.

Conclusion: Correlates of BMD identified in this analysis are similar to those reported for African American and Caucasian females. Body weight was a strong predictor of BMD and accounted for 12-14% of the variability in BMD, after adjustment for covariates.

(ABSTRACT < 250 WORDS)

4.2. Introduction

Bone mineral density (BMD) is one of the strongest predictors of future fracture risk. (1,2) It is well-established that African Americans (AA) have greater BMD across the entire life span compared to Caucasian Americans (3-5), which is due in part to higher peak bone mass.(6,7) Although AA females have considerably higher BMD than Caucasian females, this is not the case for all females of African ancestry. Aspray and colleagues established that among older West African females, BMD was considerably lower than Caucasian British females. (8) Similarly, Dibba et al. did not observe any ethnic differences in BMD among Gambians compared to British males and females.(9) These studies suggested that among West Africans, BMD was comparable to, or even lower than, Caucasians.(8-10) Although African females have similar and sometimes lower BMD than Caucasians, the risk of fracture is not increased among African females.(10)

Lifestyle and health-related factors influence BMD and subsequent fracture risk. Numerous studies have examined risk factors associated with lower BMD among postmenopausal Caucasian American females. (11-15) Fewer studies, however, have examined risk factors associated with lower BMD among AA females.(16-18) Risk factors correlated with BMD in AA females appear to be similar to those observed for Caucasian females and include sedentary lifestyle, low BMI, and family history of osteoporotic fractures.(19,20) Whether these risk factors are applicable to females of African ancestry in other countries is not known. We do know, however, that osteoporosis is a serious public health issue for postmenopausal females, regardless of ethnicity. Population dynamics predict a drastic increase in older persons of African ancestry and steep increases in fracture incidence rates are also expected. More studies are needed to evaluate the role of race and ethnicity in conjunction with lifestyle and health-related factors to better understand ethnic differences in BMD and subsequent fracture risk.

To better understand the interrelationships between bone health and demographic, lifestyle, anthropometric, and health-related factors, we conducted a cross-sectional analysis of data from postmenopausal females on the Caribbean island of Tobago to identify correlates of BMD. Our objectives were: (1) to compare BMD measured at the total hip and femoral neck subregion among postmenopausal Tobagonian females to measurements from US non-Hispanic black and non-Hispanic white females of the same age (NHANES III); (2) to identify the demographic, anthropometric, health-related, lifestyle, and reproductive factors that were correlated with BMD, and (3) to identify the best subset of predictors of BMD in a sample of postmenopausal females of West African ancestry residing in Tobago.

4.3. Methods

Trinidad & Tobago is a twin-island State situated at the southern end of the Caribbean chain of islands. The majority of the Tobagonian population (92%) was reported to be of West African ancestry. (35) The Institutional Review Boards of University of Pittsburgh and the Tobago Ministry of Health and Social Services approved this study.

To increase awareness about the Women's Health Study, recruitment flyers were posted near the Tobago Health Studies Office in downtown Scarborough, Tobago. Recruitment efforts also included word-of-mouth referral by research staff and male participants in the Tobago Prostate Cancer Survey Study. Potential study participants were females aged 50 years and older, postmenopausal, ambulatory, willing to provide informed consent, and residents on the Caribbean island of Tobago. Postmenopausal status was defined as self-reported cessation of menses at least 12 months prior to study enrollment. Ethnicity was self-reported and participants provided detailed information on the ethnic origin of their parents and grandparents. A total of 350 females were recruited to participate in the Women's Health Study between October 2002 and December 2002. For the purpose of this cross-sectional analysis, we excluded 10 women who were not of African ancestry (all four grandparents), resulting in a sample of 340 women.

Trained interviewers and nurses administered questionnaires to participants in the Tobago Health Studies Office. Questionnaires gathered information pertaining to demographic characteristics, medical history, medication use, reproductive history, fracture history, physical activity, and lifestyle variables. We focused on potential correlates of BMD based on the body of literature for postmenopausal women. Physical activity was measured as a continuous variable by the number of hours walked per week. Television watching was dichotomized at the 75th percentile of total hours per week. Other lifestyle characteristics and health-related questions were measured as dichotomous variables. Medical history was based on self-report. Any mention of joint pain, regardless of site or type of arthritis, was considered arthritis. Nominal variables included marital status, alcohol consumption, and smoking history. Smoking status was categorized as never, former, or current. Women who reported that they had smoked cigarettes for less than six months were considered to have never smoked.

Participants were asked to bring prescription and nonprescription medication to the interview for verification by trained study personnel. Medication names were cross-referenced with a drug handbook to identify drug class. Selected over-the-counter medication that was used at least three-times per week was considered regular use.

Fasting blood glucose, blood pressure, and pulse were measured after 5 minutes of rest by nursing staff using standard techniques with research quality glucometers (Accu-Chek: Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN or Prestige: Home Diagnostics, Cincinnati, Ohio) and blood

80

pressure machines (Omron: Omron Healthcare Corp, Vernon Hills, IL). Body weight was measured in kilograms using a calibrated balance beam scale and participants were allowed to wear indoor clothing with shoes removed. Standing height without shoes was measured in centimeters with a wall-mounted stadiometer; sitting height was also measured in centimeters. We calculated average sitting and standing height based on 2 repeated measurements of each height. If the values differed by more than 2 centimeters, an additional measurement was taken and the average was based on the 2 values that were within 2 centimeters. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing weight (in kilograms) by standing height (in meters squared). Handgrip strength was measured in kilograms for both dominant and non-dominant hands using an adjustable hydraulic dynamometer (Preston Grip Dynamometer, JA Preston Corp., Jackson, MS). We calculated average grip strength based on 2 repeated measurements and if the values differed by more than 2 kilograms, participants completed another measure of grip strength and the average was based on the 2 values within 2 kilograms. An inelastic tape measure was used for hip and waist measurements that were taken just prior to the dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) examination. Hip circumference was measured at the greatest protuberance of the buttock and the waist circumference measurement was obtained at the level of the umbilicus, both in centimeters.

All participants received a DXA examination during the study period (QDR 4500W, Hologic, Inc: Bedford, MA). For all participants, the same scanner was used and DXA scans were completed using the array beam mode. Standardized positioning and utilization of QDR software was based on the manufacturer's recommended protocol. Scans were analyzed with QDR software version 8.26a. The left hip was scanned to obtain areal BMD measures at the total hip and the femoral neck subregion. Body composition measures (bone mineral-free lean mass and fat mass), were assessed by whole body scans. To ensure consistency a spine phantom was scanned daily and quality control whole body air scan was completed weekly, prior to completing any scans. Synarc, Inc. (Waltham, MA) monitored spine phantom data, reviewed DXA scans, and flagged scans if positioning errors occurred.

Data Analysis

We compared mean BMD measured at the hip and femoral neck subregion to a nationally representative sample of US non-Hispanic black and non-Hispanic white women from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III (1988-1994), stratified by 10-year age intervals. To identify variables that correlated with hip BMD, predictor variables were analyzed using age- and weight-adjusted models, since age and weight have been shown to correlate with BMD. The strength of the association is expressed as percent change in units of change chosen to approximate one standard deviation (SD) in the distribution for each continuous variable and yes (1) or no (0) for dichotomous variables. The formula used to calculate the percent difference in BMD per unit change (SD) of the independent variable (β) = (unstandardized β x unit change in independent variable) x 100. The corresponding 95% confidence intervals were calculated using: $\beta \pm 1.96$ x standard error of β .

To limit the number of predictors tested, only variables with a p-value less than 0.10 in age-and weight-adjusted models were considered in multiple linear regression analyses. Multiple linear regression analyses were performed using the stepwise approach to identify correlates of hip and the femoral neck subregion in separate models. Age was forced into models for both the total hip and femoral neck subregion. The final model only included variables significantly associated with BMD at p < 0.05.

Multicollinearity was assessed with the variance inflation factor (VIF), which suggests that a VIF greater than 10 for any one variable or the mean of VIFs substantially larger than 1 represents collinearity among the variables. In some instances, our data captured information from multiple variables that measured the same characteristic and we selected the variable that was most correlated with BMD. BMI and components of body weight (lean and fat mass) were significantly associated with higher BMD in age-adjusted models, but to a lesser extent than body weight, so we did not consider BMI or lean and fat mass in multiple linear regression models. Similarly, diabetes mellitus was identified using three variables: (1) self-report of physician diagnosed diabetes; (2) fasting blood glucose; and (3) oral hypoglycemic medication. Oral hypoglycemic medication was most strongly correlated with BMD and this variable was used as a potential predictor in the multiple regression models.

Potential interactions were derived from extant literature and initial review of the multiple linear regression models. We tested for interactions including age and weight, and weight and history of using thyroid hormone medication. None of the interactions tested were significant (p < 0.05) in models for the hip or femoral neck subregion (data not shown). Data were analyzed using SAS software version 8.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

4.4. Results

Demographic Characteristics

Age distribution and mean BMD for 340 participants are shown Table 3-1. The average age was 63.9 ± 8.0 years and ranged from 50 to 94 years. Compared to NHANES III estimates, age-specific total hip BMD among Tobagonian females was 10-18% higher than AA females and 29-30% higher than Caucasian females (Figure 4-1). The direction and magnitude of ethnic group comparisons in BMD was similar at the femoral neck subregion (Figure 3-2).

Correlates of total hip and femoral neck BMD, adjusted for age and age + body weight, are shown in tables 3-2 and 3-3, respectively. BMD was inversely associated with age and educational attainment. BMD decreased 6% for every 8 additional years in age. Females who completed high school had 3% lower BMD compared to females who did not graduate after adjusting for age, but it was not significant.

Physical and Anthropometric Measures

Each standard deviation increase in body weight was associated with a 7% increase in BMD measured at the hip and femoral neck subregion. After adjusting for age, each 16 kg increase in body weight accounted for 5-6% higher BMD at the femoral neck subregion and hip, respectively. Each 5.8 kg/m² increase in BMI was associated with 6% higher hip and 5% higher femoral neck BMD in age-adjusted models. Each standard deviation increase in lean mass and fat mass were each associated with 5% higher BMD, after adjustment for age. Height measurements, both sitting and standing, elevated blood pressure (>120/80), and average right grip strength were not significantly associated with BMD at the sites examined after adjusting for age or age in conjunction with weight. A 1% increase in hip BMD was associated with every 7 kg increase in left grip strength after adjusting for age, but this association attenuated when we also adjusted for weight. A fasting blood glucose measure greater than 100 mg/dl was associated with 3-5% higher hip and femoral neck BMD after age adjustment and remained significant for hip BMD in the age- and weight-adjusted model.

Personal and Family History

Females who reported a fall in the past 12 months had 3% higher hip BMD compared to those who did not fall in the age-adjusted model, but the association was no longer statistically significant in the age- and weight-adjusted model. Report of falling was not significantly

associated with BMD at the femoral neck subregion. Among females who reported recent back pain, hip BMD was 4-6% higher after adjustment for age and age along with weight. A similar increase in femoral neck BMD was observed for females with recent back pain, but this association did not remain significant in the age- and weight-adjusted model. Personal history of a broken or fractured bone was not significantly associated with BMD for either site. Family history of hip fracture was associated with lower hip and femoral neck BMD, but this variable did not reach statistical significance in femoral neck adjusted models.

Lifestyle Characteristics

Females who reported watching at least 16 hours of TV per week had 3% lower femoral neck BMD after adjustment for age and weight. No other lifestyle characteristics examined were significantly related to BMD.

Medical History

A history of diabetes was associated with 5 - 6% higher hip and femoral neck BMD, respectively, after age adjustment. The association between higher BMD and diabetes remained significant after adjusting for the effects of age in combination with weight at both sites. Five percent higher hip BMD and 3% higher femoral neck BMD was associated with any report of arthritis pain in age-adjusted models. After adjusting for age and weight, a history of coronary heart disease was associated with 5-6% higher BMD at both sites. Graves' disease was associated with a 7% decrease in hip BMD after adjustment for age and weight.

Medication Use

Females who reported ever taking thyroid medication had 13-14% lower hip BMD and 10-11% lower decrease in femoral neck BMD, after adjustment for the effects of age and age in addition to weight. Regular use of aspirin was associated with 6% lower hip and femoral neck

BMD in age-adjusted models and this association remained significant after weight adjustment. Current use of thiazide diuretics was associated with 5-6% higher BMD at both sites, after adjustment for the effects of age and weight. Similarly, diabetes prescription medication was associated with a 5-7% increase in BMD at both sites. A 21% increase in hip BMD and 19% increase in femoral neck BMD were observed for the few females who were currently using statins in age-adjusted models. This association, however, was no longer significant after additional adjustment for weight. Current use of prescription and over-the-counter nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs was associated with 6% higher hip BMD and 5% higher femoral neck BMD in age-adjusted models only. Females who were taking beta-blockers had 7% lower hip BMD and 6 % lower femoral neck BMD even after adjustment for the effects of age and weight. *Reproductive History*

The vast majority of females (93.2%) reported ever becoming pregnant. Among those who gave birth to at least one child, parity and breast-feeding were each associated with a 5% increase in BMD in age-adjusted models but these associations were no longer significant after additional adjustment for weight. Age- and weight-adjusted femoral neck BMD was 3% lower among females who had a hysterectomy.

Multiple linear regression models

Complete data were available for 339 participants. Models derived from stepwise regression analyses explained 38% of the total variance (R^2) in total hip BMD and 37% of the variability in femoral neck BMD. Variables associated with total hip BMD are shown in Table 3-4. Each unit increase in body weight was associated with a 6% increase in hip BMD; and every additional 8 years in age was associated with 5% lower BMD, after controlling for the

effects of ever thyroid medication use (-), current diabetes medication use (+), recent back pain (+), thiazide diuretic use (+), current use of beta-blockers (-), and family history of fracture (-).

Body weight was the highest predictor of femoral neck BMD (Table 5) with each unit increase in body weight and age resulting in 5% higher BMD, taking into consideration the effects of ever thyroid medication use (-), current diabetes medication use (+), regular aspirin use (+), current use of beta-blockers (-), and thiazide diuretic use (+).

4.5. Discussion

To our knowledge, this analysis is one of few studies that identified correlates of BMD among postmenopausal females of African ancestry residing outside the US. One interesting finding was that Tobagonian females had 10-18% and 29% higher BMD compared to AA and Caucasian American females, respectively.

It is well established that BMD is significantly higher among AAs compared to Caucasian Americans, but the fact that BMD was highest among Tobagonian females was unexpected. Greater skeletal size and bone size (depth) may partially explain the higher BMD that was observed among postmenopausal Tobagonian females compared to US females of similar age. Areal BMD accounts for only bone length and width, not bone depth. Reference data did not allow for direct comparison of volumetric BMD, which takes bone depth into consideration, between Tobagonian and US females. Research suggests that people of African ancestry have genetic potential for high BMD, but this potential is typically not realized among native Africans because of nutritional and lifestyle factors. It is reasonable to consider the lower levels of genetic admixture among Tobagonian females as a possible reason for higher BMD that we observed in this analysis compared to AAs, where genetic admixture is more prevalent.(21)

Correlates explained 37% and 38% of the variability in BMD measured at the femoral neck subregion and total hip, respectively. The amount of variability accounted for in this analysis is considerably higher than other studies where only 20-30% of the variability in hip BMD is explained by risk factors.(17,20)

A recent study by Robbins et al. investigated the association between BMD and demographic, health-related, and functional status variables for AA males and females, aged 67-96, in the Cardiovascular Health Study. (17) BMD, measured at the hip, was significantly higher for AA males compared to females. The model that best predicted BMD in AA females included weight, age, and income group, which accounted for 28% of the variability in hip BMD. Weight was a dominant predictor of BMD, explaining 21% of the variability in BMD. (17) Our results extend the findings of a slightly older study population of AAs.

Among the best subset of predictors for BMD in this analysis, body weight explained 12-14% of the variability in BMD. The positive association between body weight and BMD is consistent with other studies of both AA and Caucasian females. (16,17,20,22,23) Since we observed higher BMD among Tobagonian females compared to AA females, it is reasonable to suspect that these differences in BMD were accounted for by differences in body weight, but Tobagonian females were not heavier than AA females. Because the average weight and BMI of Tobagonian females were comparable to AA females (24), the perception that higher BMD among Tobagonian females can be attributed to higher weight does not seem to be applicable. (25,26)

Low BMI and current cigarette smoking were identified as risk factors for low BMD among AA females based on data from NHANES III. (16) In other studies of AA females, BMD was inversely associated with age, cigarette smoking, and steroid use and positively associated with body weight and moderate alcohol consumption. (19) In this analysis, we unable to demonstrate an association between BMD and smoking, which is probably due to the low prevalence of smoking (0.9%), but we were able to confirm the strong association between body weight and BMD.

In a large sample of postmenopausal females, we confirmed that use of thiazide diuretics (27, 28), aspirin (29, 30), and history of diabetes (31, 32) were significant predictors of higher BMD. Lower BMD was associated with increasing age (16, 17), use of thyroid medication (33), family history of fracture (14, 18, 34), and use of beta-blockers. We also observed a positive association between BMD and report of recent back, a possible surrogate for osteoarthritis, which has been shown to be associated with higher BMD. A major strength of this study was the inclusion of females over the age of 70 years, who represented 23% of the study population. Taking into account age-related changes in BMD, it does not appear that the higher BMD among Tobagonian women is only associated with younger age.

We should acknowledge potential limitations in this analysis. Self-reported data are subject to inaccurate recall, resulting in biased estimates of measures of association. We cannot be certain about the accuracy of self-reported health conditions or lifetime medication use. These observations should be confirmed in longitudinal analyses to evaluate possible cohort effects. Prospective studies will allow us to monitor changes in correlates of BMD over time since some factors may influence BMD at certain phases of the lifecycle while other factors have an impact on BMD throughout the entire lifecycle. Due to the lack of automated medical history data, we were unable to verify medical history. This study focused on a rural, community-based sample of postmenopausal females and these correlates of BMD may not be generalizable to other postmenopausal females of African ancestry.

Our findings provide support for heterogeneity in BMD among persons of African ancestry. We observed ethnic gradations in BMD such that persons of African ancestry with lower genetic admixture had higher BMD. We explored the association between selected risk factors and BMD to identify the best predictors of BMD among African Caribbean postmenopausal females. Our findings demonstrated that body weight was a strong predictor of BMD. The amount of variability in BMD explained by these correlates, however, was substantially greater than other studies of Caucasian and AA females.

Most studies that examined correlates of BMD did not include Caribbean females of African ancestry. While our analysis focused only on Tobagonian females, longitudinal investigations will all for a comprehensive evaluation of BMD and its determinants, as well as the subsequent risk of fracture in this population. These investigations should include biochemical, physical, and dietary factors that are known to be associated with BMD. We believe our findings will contribute to the limited research that has been done on etiology of fracture risk among females of West African ancestry.

4.6. References

- 1. Grisso JA, Kelsey JL, Strom BL, O'Brien LA, Maislin G, LaPann K, Samelson L, Hoffman S 1994 Risk factors for hip fracture in black women. The Northeast Hip Fracture Study Group. New England Journal of Medicine **330**(22):1555-9.
- 2. Bohannon AD 1999 Osteoporosis and African American women. Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine **8**(5):609-15.
- 3. Looker AC, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP, Johnston CC, Jr., Lindsay R 1998 Updated data on proximal femur bone mineral levels of US adults. Osteoporosis International **8**(5):468-89.
- 4. Nelson DA, Jacobsen G, Barondess DA, Parfitt AM 1995 Ethnic differences in regional bone density, hip axis length, and lifestyle variables among healthy black and white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **10**(5):782-7.
- 5. Bell NH, Gordon L, Stevens J, Shary JR 1995 Demonstration that bone mineral density of the lumbar spine, trochanter, and femoral neck is higher in black than in white young men. Calcified Tissue International **56**(1):11-3.
- 6. Cauley JA, Lui L-Y, Stone KL, Hillier TA, Zmuda JM, Hochberg M, Beck TJ, Ensrud KE 2005 Longitudinal Study of Changes in Hip Bone Mineral Density in Caucasian and African-American Women. J Am Geriatr Soc **53**(2):183-189.
- 7. Luckey MM, Wallenstein S, Lapinski R, Meier DE 1996 A prospective study of bone loss in African-American and white women--a clinical research center study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(8):2948-56.
- 8. Aspray TJ, Prentice A, Cole TJ, Sawo Y, Reeve J, Francis RM 1996 Low bone mineral content is common but osteoporotic fractures are rare in elderly rural Gambian women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **11**(7):1019-25.
- 9. Dibba B, Prentice A, Laskey MA, Stirling DM, Cole TJ 1999 An investigation of ethnic differences in bone mineral, hip axis length, calcium metabolism and bone turnover between West African and Caucasian adults living in the United Kingdom. Annals of Human Biology **26**(3):229-42.
- Daniels ED, Pettifor JM, Schnitzler CM, Russell SW, Patel DN 1995 Ethnic differences in bone density in female South African nurses. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10(3):359-67.
- Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Browner WS, Stone K, Fox KM, Ensrud KE, Cauley J, Black D, Vogt TM 1995 Risk factors for hip fracture in white women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. New England Journal of Medicine 332(12):767-73.
- 12. Cauley JA, Zmuda JM, Wisniewski SR, Krishnaswami S, Palermo L, Stone KL, Black DM, Nevitt MC 2004 Bone mineral density and prevalent vertebral fractures in men and women. Osteoporosis International **15**(1):32-7.
- 13. Fox KM, Cummings SR, Powell-Threets K, Stone K 1998 Family history and risk of osteoporotic fracture. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Osteoporosis International **8**(6):557-62.
- 14. Grainge MJ, Coupland CA, Cliffe SJ, Chilvers CE, Hosking DJ 1999 Association between a family history of fractures and bone mineral density in early postmenopausal women. Bone **24**(5):507-12.

- 15. Grainge MJ, Coupland CA, Cliffe SJ, Chilvers CE, Hosking DJ 1998 Cigarette smoking, alcohol and caffeine consumption, and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. The Nottingham EPIC Study Group. Osteoporosis International **8**(4):355-63.
- 16. Broussard DL, Magnus JH 2004 Risk assessment and screening for low bone mineral density in a multi-ethnic population of women and men: does one approach fit all? Osteoporosis International **15**(5):349-60.
- 17. Robbins J, Hirsch C, Cauley J 2004 Associates of bone mineral density in older African Americans. Journal of the National Medical Association **96**(12):1609-15.
- 18. Woodson GC 2004 Risk factors for osteoporosis in postmenopausal African-American women. Current Medical Research & Opinion **20**(10):1681-7.
- 19. Bohannon AD, Hanlon JT, Landerman R, Gold DT 1999 Association of race and other potential risk factors with nonvertebral fractures in community-dwelling elderly women. American Journal of Epidemiology **149**(11):1002-9.
- Bauer DC, Browner WS, Cauley JA, Orwoll ES, Scott JC, Black DM, Tao JL, Cummings SR 1993 Factors associated with appendicular bone mass in older women. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine 118(9):657-65.
- 21. Parra EJ, Marcini A, Akey J, Martinson J, Batzer MA, Cooper R, Forrester T, Allison DB, Deka R, Ferrell RE, Shriver MD 1998 Estimating African American admixture proportions by use of population-specific alleles. American Journal of Human Genetics **63**(6):1839-51.
- 22. Dargent-Molina P, Poitiers F, Breart G, Group E 2000 In elderly women weight is the best predictor of a very low bone mineral density: evidence from the EPIDOS study. Osteoporosis International **11**(10):881-8.
- 23. Orwoll ES, Bauer DC, Vogt TM, Fox KM 1996 Axial bone mass in older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Annals of Internal Medicine **124**(2):187-96.
- 24. Anonymous 2003 Advance data National Center for Health Statistics. Anthropometric Reference Data, United States, 1988-1994: Tables 6 & 8. Vol. 2003. National Center for Health Statistics: Hyattsville, MD.
- 25. Steinschneider M, Hagag P, Rapoport MJ, Weiss M 2003 Discordant effect of body mass index on bone mineral density and speed of sound. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 4(1):15.
- 26. Slemenda CW, Peacock M, Hui S, Zhou L, Johnston CC 1997 Reduced rates of skeletal remodeling are associated with increased bone mineral density during the development of peak skeletal mass. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(4):676-82.
- 27. Cauley JA, Cummings SR, Seeley DG, Black D, Browner W, Kuller LH, Nevitt MC 1993 Effects of thiazide diuretic therapy on bone mass, fractures, and falls. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Annals of Internal Medicine **118**(9):666-73.
- 28. Reid IR, Ames RW, Orr-Walker BJ, Clearwater JM, Horne AM, Evans MC, Murray MA, McNeil AR, Gamble GD 2000 Hydrochlorothiazide reduces loss of cortical bone in normal postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial.[see comment]. American Journal of Medicine **109**(5):362-70.
- 29. Carbone LD, Tylavsky FA, Cauley JA, Harris TB, Lang TF, Bauer DC, Barrow KD, Kritchevsky SB 2003 Association between bone mineral density and the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and aspirin: impact of cyclooxygenase selectivity. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **18**(10):1795-802.

- 30. Bauer DC, Orwoll ES, Fox KM, Vogt TM, Lane NE, Hochberg MC, Stone K, Nevitt MC 1996 Aspirin and NSAID use in older women: effect on bone mineral density and fracture risk. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 11(1):29-35.
- 31. Strotmeyer ES, Cauley JA, Schwartz AV, Nevitt MC, Resnick HE, Zmuda JM, Bauer DC, Tylavsky FA, de Rekeneire N, Harris TB, Newman AB, Health ABCS 2004 Diabetes is associated independently of body composition with BMD and bone volume in older white and black men and women: The Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **19**(7):1084-91.
- 32. van Daele PL, Stolk RP, Burger H, Algra D, Grobbee DE, Hofman A, Birkenhager JC, Pols HA 1995 Bone density in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Rotterdam Study.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine **122**(6):409-14.
- 33. Ross DS, Neer RM, Ridgway EC, Daniels GH 1987 Subclinical hyperthyroidism and reduced bone density as a possible result of prolonged suppression of the pituitary-thyroid axis with L-thyroxine. American Journal of Medicine **82**(6):1167-70.
- 34. Siris ES, Miller PD, Barrett-Connor E, Faulkner KG, Wehren LE, Abbott TA, Berger ML, Santora AC, Sherwood LM 2001 Identification and fracture outcomes of undiagnosed low bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: results from the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment.[see comment]. JAMA **286**(22):2815-22.
- 35. Central Statistics Office, Office of the Prime Minister, Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. Demographic report: age structure, religion, ethnic group, education. 1990 Population and Housing Census, Vol. 11, pp. 4-5. Trinidad and Tobago: Office of the Prime Minister, Central Statistics Office, 1993.



Looker et al. Osteoporosis International 1998; NHANES III

Figure 4-1. Mean total hip BMD (g/cm²) for Tobago females compared to African American and Caucasian American females, NHANES III, US 1988-1994



Looker et al. Osteoporosis International 1998; NHANES III

Figure 4-2. Mean femoral neck BMD (g/cm²) for Tobago females compared to Tobago females compared to African American and Caucasian American females, NHANES III, US 1988-1994

Table 4-1. Descriptive of	characteristics	(N=340)
---------------------------	-----------------	---------

Age Group (y)	N (%)
50-59	113 (33.2)
60-69	150 (44.1)
70-79	66 (19.4)
80+	11 (3.2)
BMD (g/cm^2)	$Mean \pm SD$
Total hip	0.98 ± 0.16
Femoral neck subregion	0.88 ± 0.15

		Age-Adjusted	Age- & Weight-
Characteristics	Mean ±	Percent Difference	Adjusted Percent
	SD or	in BMD per Unit	Difference in BMD
	Prevalence	Change	per Unit Change
	(%)	(95% CI) [†]	(95% CI) [†]
Demographics		**	
Age (years)	63.9 ± 8.0	-5.97 (-7.54, -4.40)**	-4.24 (-5.75, -2.73)**
High school graduate	116 (34.1)	-2.48 (-5.88, 0.91)	-0.82 (-3.98, 2.34)
Physical & Anthropometric Measures		2**	**
Weight (kg)	80.6 ± 16.1	$7.26 (5.76, 8.77)^{s^{**}}$	6.04 (4.53, 7.54)**
Standing height (<i>cm</i>)	162.9 ± 6.2	0.07 (-1.59, 1.74)	-1.50 (-3.07, 0.07)
Sitting height (<i>cm</i>)	152.8 ± 3.8	0.82 (-0.90, 2.55)	-0.48 (-2.09, 1.14)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	30.4 ± 5.8	5.99 (4.52, 7.45)**	
Right grip strength (kg)	27.6 ± 6.8	1.31 (-0.46, 3.09)	0.65 (-0.96, 2.27)
Left grip strength (kg)	25.9 ± 6.7	$1.39(0.17, 3.69)^*$	3.60 (-3.04, 10.24)
Lean mass (kg)	46.7 ± 7.2	5.49 (3.93, 7.04)**	
Fat mass (kg)	29.8 ± 9.4	5.31 (3.80, 6.82)**	
Elevated blood pressure (>120/80)	270 (79.4)	-0.67 (-4.61, 3.27)	-2.21 (-5.85, 1.42)
Elevated fasting blood glucose (>100 mg/dl)	137 (40.3)	4.93 (1.76, 8.10) [*]	$3.31(0.34, 6.28)^*$
Personal/Family History			
Fallen in past 12 months	115 (33.8)	$3.40(0.10, 6.69)^{*}$	2.31 (-0.75, 5.36)
Recent back pain	112 (33.0)	5.59 (2.29, 8.88) [*]	$3.73 (0.64, 6.83)^*$
Ever fractured or broken bone	47 (14.0)	-0.46 (-5.04, 4.12)	-0.38 (-4.58, 3.82)
Family history of fracture	8 (2.4)	-5.03 (-15.37, 5.31)	-8.77 (-18.30, 0.77)
First degree relative with breast cancer	32 (9.4)	-0.88 (-6.27, 4.50)	0.06 (-4.90, 5.02)
Lifestyle characteristics			
Married or living as married	176 (51.8)	2.67 (-0.49, 5.83)	1.28 (-1.67, 4.22)
Current smoker	1 (0.9)	14.64 (-14.31, 43.59)	16.23 (-10.41, 42.86)
Past smoker	8 (2.4)	0.17 (-10.19, 10.53)	-1.17 (-10.71, 8.38)
Hours walked per week	18.3 ± 16.8	0.25 (-1.33, 1.83)	0.18 (-1.27, 1.64)
Watch TV \geq 16 hours per week	91 (26.8)	-0.58 (-4.12, 2.97)	-1.85 (-5.12, 1.43)
Coffee drinker	111 (32.7)	1.25 (-2.09, 4.60)	1.82 (-1.26, 4.89)
Tea drinker	199 (58.9)	0.72 (-2.48, 3.92)	-0.04 (-2.99 2.92)
Caffeinated soda drinker	172 (51.2)	1.05 (-2.13, 4.23)	-0.18 (-3.13, 2.77)
Ever alcohol consumption	221 (65.0)	1.07 (-2.25, 4.38)	2.53 (-0.60, 5.65)
Alcohol consumption in past 12 months	112 (33.0)	0.22 (-3.21, 3.65)	1.32 (-1.85, 4.49)
Medical History			
Breast Cancer	4 (1.2)	-0.74 (-15.30, 13.83)	1.58 (-11.83, 15.00)
Hypertension	191 (56.2)	3.08 (-0.11, 6.27)	1.24 (-1.75, 4.23)
Coronary heart disease	26 (7.7)	5.73 (-0.15, 11.61)	5.68 (0.27, 11.09)*
Stroke	8 (2.4)	1.67 (-8.72, 12.05)	4.83 (-4.75, 14.40)
Diabetes	69 (20.3)	5.51 (1.62, 9.40)*	4.60 (1.01, 8.20)*
Arthritis	147 (43.2)	5.32 (2.19, 8.44)*	2.52 (-0.49, 5.53)
Colorectal polyps	19 (5.6)	0.63 (-6.22, 7.48)	-0.86 (-7.16, 5.45)
Osteoporosis	8 (2.4)	-2.93 (-13.28, 7.42)	-0.50 (-10.05, 9.06)
Diverticulitis	6 (1.8)	1.86 (-10.08, 13.81)	5.66 (-5.37, 16.68)
Ulcer	20 (5.9)	-1.86 (-8.55, 4.83)	-0.16 (-6.34, 6.02)
Cancer	7 (2.1)	-3.08 (-14.09, 7.93)	-1.01 (-11.17, 9.16)
High cholesterol	100 (29.4)	2.94 (-0.50, 6.37)	2.52 (-0.65, 5.68)
Bronchitis	17 (5.0)	3.50 (-3.70, 10.70)	3.11 (-3.52, 9.74)
Number of teeth loss	18 ± 11.2	-0.01 (-0.16, 0.14)	-0.04 (-0.18, 0.10)

Table 4-2. Correlates of Total Hip Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change of the Variable
Excellent self-rated health	181 (53.2)	-2.46 (-5.64, 0.72)	-1.16 (-4.11, 1.80)
Hyperthyroid	21 (6.2)	-4.86 (-11.37, 1.64)	-6.56 (-12.54, -0.58) [*]
Hypothyroid	10 (2.9)	-4.77 (-14.05, 4.51)	-3.99 (-12.54, 4.56)
Reproductive History			
Age at menarche (years)	13.7 ± 1.7	-0.26 (-1.86, 1.35)	-0.07 (-0.94, 0.80)
Age at last menstrual period (years)	48.2 ± 5.7	0.48 (-1.14, 2.10)	0.10 (-0.16, 0.36)
Reproductive window (years)	34.5 ± 6.1	0.08 (-0.19, 0.35)	0.90 (0.66, 1.15)
Ever pregnant	317 (93.2)	8.91 (2.73, 15.09)*	7.11 (1.38, 12.83) [*]
Had live birth	296 (87.1)	5.48 (0.84, 10.12)*	3.78 (-0.53, 8.08)
Ever had still birth	57 (16.8)	0.20 (-2.60, 2.99)	-1.67 (-4.27, 0.94)
Ever had miscarriage	129 (37.9)	-0.62 (-2.18, 0.95)	-0.76 (-3.21, 1.69)
Ever breast fed child	283 (83.2)	4.90 (0.72, 9.07) [*]	3.08 (-0.81, 6.96)
Missed period for more than 12 months,	13 (3.8)	4.21 (-3.98, 12.41)	1.46 (-6.13, 9.05)
excluding pregnancy			
Hysterectomy	100 (29.4)	-2.90 (-6.34, 0.53)	-3.23 (-6.39, -0.08)
Oophorectomy	53 (15.6)	-2.47 (-6.84, 1.89)	-2.12 (-6.14, 1.90)
Ever Medication Use			
Hormone therapy (estrogen or progestin)	52 (15.3)	-3.37 (-7.76, 1.02)	-2.55 (-6.61, 1.50)
Oral contraceptives	121 (35.6)	1.52 (-1.87, 4.92)	2.53 (-0.60, 5.66)
Thyroid medication	15 (4.4)	-13.68 (-21.20, -6.17)*	-14.78 (-21.64, -7.91)**
Regular medication use (3 or more times per			
week)			
Aspirin	62 (18.2)	$6.09(2.07, 10.11)^*$	$4.32(0.56, 8.07)^{*}$
Acetaminophen	34 (10.0)	0.53 (-4.70, 5.76)	2.32 (-2.52, 7.15)
Ibuprofen	33 (9.7)	3.52 (-1.79, 8.83)	-0.12 (-5.10, 4.87)
Current Medications			
Hormone therapy (estrogen or progestin)	7 (2.1)	-3.55 (-14.60, 7.50)	-1.21 (-11.40, 8.99)
Thiazide diuretics	52 (15.3)	6.73 (2.40, 11.05)*	5.39 (1.38, 9.40) [*]
Diabetes medication	60 (17.7)	7.43 (3.36, 11.50)*	6.14 (2.36, 9.92) [*]
Ace inhibitors	61 (17.9)	3.43 (-0.66, 7.52)	2.71 (-1.07, 6.48)
Beta blockers	27 (7.9)	-7.30 (-13.05, -1.54)*	-7.00 (-12.29, -1.70) [*]
Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	51 (15.0)	5.60 (1.23, 9.97) [*]	2.10 (-2.05, 6.26)
$\dot{\tau}$	1 1 . 1		

[†] Indicates percent change in bone mass in g/cm² per indicated unit or 1 standard deviation ^{*} p < 0.05, ^{**} p < 0.0001[§] Adjusted for weight alone

Chamataristics	Meen	Age-Adjusted	Age- & Weight-	
Characteristics	Mean ±	in DMD non Unit	Adjusted Percent	
	SD OF Drovelence	III DNID per Unit	Difference in DND	
			(05% CD) [†]	
Damooranhias	(70)	(95 % CI)*	(95 % CI)	
A ge (vegrs)	63.0 ± 8.0	6 25 (7 67 1 82)**	475 (612 237)**	
Age (years) High school graduate	03.9 ± 0.0 116 (34.1)	-0.23(-7.07, -4.82)	-4.75(-0.15, -5.57) 1 50 (4 30, 1 40)	
Physical & Anthropometric Measures	110 (34.1)	-2.92 (-0.00, 0.10)	-1.30 (-4.39, 1.40)	
Weight (kg)	80.6 ± 1.6.1	6 59 (5 19 7 00) ^{§**}	5 72 (2 85 6 61)**	
Standing height (am)	60.0 ± 10.1	$(0.38 (3.18, 7.99)^{\circ})$	5.25(5.05, 0.01)	
Standing height (Cm)	102.9 ± 0.2	0.74(-0.77, 2.24)	-0.38(-2.02, 0.87)	
Sitting height (<i>cm</i>) Body mass index (lxg/m^2)	152.8 ± 5.8	1.32(-0.24, 2.88)	0.22 (-1.26, 1.70)	
Body mass index (kg/m) $(L_{\rm e})$	30.4 ± 5.8	4.95 (3.58, 0.28)		
Right grip strength (kg)	$2/.6 \pm 6.8$	0.89(-0.71, 2.49)	0.33(-1.16, 1.82)	
Let grip strength (kg)	25.9 ± 6.7	1.11(-0.50, 2.71)	2.02 (0.51, 3.53)	
Lean mass (kg)	46.7 ± 7.2	4.52 (3.10, 5.95)		
Fat mass (kg)	29.8 ± 9.4	4.66 (3.29, 6.04)		
Elevated blood pressure $(>120/80)$	270 (79.4)	0.20 (-3.39, 3.78)	-1.13 (-4.47, 2.22)	
Elevated fasting blood glucose (> 100 mg/dl)	137 (40.3)	3.45 (0.55, 6.35)	2.04 (-0.70, 4.77)	
Personal/Family History				
Fallen in past 12 months	115 (33.8)	1.89 (-1.12, 4.90)	0.94 (-1.87, 3.75)	
Recent back pain	112 (33.0)	4.36 (1.35, 7.36)	2.75 (-0.10, 5.59)	
Ever fractured or broken bone	47 (14.0)	-1.28 (-5.43, 2.87)	-1.21 (-5.05, 2.63)	
Family history of hip fracture	8 (2.4)	-2.98 (-12.40, 6.43)	-6.20 (-14.96, 2.56)	
First degree relative with breast cancer	32 (9.4)	-1.12 (-6.02, 3.77)	-0.31 (-4.68, 4.25)	
Lifestyle characteristics				
Married or living as married	176 (51.8)	0.53 (-2.36, 3.41)	-0.71 (-3.41, 1.99)	
Current smoker	1 (0.9)	21.65 (-4.62, 47.92)	23.02 (-1.35, 47.39)	
Past smoker	8 (2.4)	1.65 (-7.77, 11.08)	0.50 (-8.26, 9.26)	
Hours walked per week	18.3 ± 16.8	0.55 (-0.89, 1.99)	0.49 (-0.85, 1.83)	
Watch TV \geq 16 hours per week	91 (26.8)	-2.01 (-5.23, 1.21)	-3.12 (-6.11, -0.13)*	
Coffee drinker	111 (32.7)	0.09 (-2.96, 3.13)	0.57 (-2.26, 3.40)	
Tea drinker	199 (58.9)	-1.36 (-4.26, 1.54)	-2.02 (-4.72, 0.68)	
Caffeinated soda drinker	172 (51.2)	1.65 (-1.24, 4.53)	0.59 (-2.11, 3.30)	
Ever alcohol consumption	221 (65.0)	-0.73 (-3.75, 2.28)	0.30 (-2.51, 3.11)	
Alcohol consumption in past 12 months	112 (33.0)	-1.42 (-4.53, 1.69)	-0.49 (-3.39, 2.42)	
Medical History				
Breast Cancer	4 (1.2)	-5.02 (-18.25, 8.21)	-3.02 (-15.33, 9.28)	
Hypertension	191 (56.2)	2.31 (-0.60, 5.22)	0.70 (-2.04, 3.45)	
Coronary heart disease	26 (7.7)	5.29 (-0.06, 10.64)	$5.24 (0.28, 10.21)^*$	
Stroke	8 (2.4)	-0.64 (-10.08, 8.81)	2.08 (-6.72, 10.88)	
Diabetes	69 (20.3)	4.58 (1.03, 8.12)*	$3.79(0.48, 7.09)^*$	
Arthritis	147 (43.2)	$3.35(0.48, 6.22)^*$	0.85 (-1.92, 3.62)	
Colorectal polyps	19 (5.6)	1.50 (-4.73, 7.73)	0.22 (-5.58, 6.01)	
Osteoporosis	8 (2.4)	-0.53 (-9.95, 8.89)	1.58 (-7.19, 10.34)	
Diverticulitis	6 (1.8)	2.16 (-8.71, 13.03)	5.45 (-4.67, 15.56)	
Ulcer	20 (5.9)	-2.58 (-8.66, 3.50)	-1.12 (-6.79, 4.55)	
Cancer	7 (2.1)	-6.07 (-16.06, 3.91)	-4.29 (-13.60, 5.02)	
High cholesterol	100 (29.4)	0.99 (-2.14, 4.13)	0.63 (-2.29, 3.54)	
Bronchitis	17 (5.0)	0.24 (-6.32, 6.80)	-0.10 (-6.19, 6.00)	
Number of missing teeth	18 ± 11.2	0.04 (-0.10, 0.18)	0.01 (-0.11, 0.14)	

Table 4-3. Correlates of Femoral Neck Bone Mineral Density Expressed as the Percent Difference in BMD per Unit Change of the Variable

Excellent self-rated health	181 (53.2)	-2.53 (-5.42, 0.36)	-1.41 (-4.11, 1.30)
Hyperthyroid	21 (6.2)	-1.80 (-7.73, 4.14)	-3.25 (-8.76, 2.26)
Hypothyroid	10 (2.9)	-0.83 (-9.29, 7.62)	-0.16 (-8.01, 7.69)
Reproductive History			
Age at menarche (years)	13.7 ± 1.7	0.12 (-1.33, 1.58)	0.23 (-1.12, 1.59)
Age at last menstrual period (years)	48.2 ± 5.7	1.04 (-0.43, 2.52)	1.12 (-0.25, 2.50)
Reproductive window (years)	34.5 ± 6.1	0.15 (-0.09, 0.40)	0.16 (-0.07, 0.39)
Ever pregnant	317 (93.2)	$6.49(0.84, 12.13)^*$	4.92 (-0.36, 10.19)
Had live birth	296 (87.1)	5.03 (0.81, 9.25) [*]	3.56 (-0.40, 7.51)
Ever had still birth	58 (17.1)	-0.55 (-3.09, 1.98)	-2.18 (-4.57, 0.20)
Ever had miscarriage	129 (37.9)	-1.16 (-2.58, 0.26)	-1.02 (-2.34, 0.30)
Ever breast fed child	283 (83.2)	$4.66(0.86, 8.45)^*$	3.09 (-0.47, 6.66)
Missed period for more than 12 months,	13 (3.8)	3.11 (-4.35, 10.57)	0.73 (-6.24, 7.69)
excluding pregnancy			
Hysterectomy	100 (29.4)	-2.80 (-5.92, 0.33)	-3.08 (-5.98, -0.19)*
Oophorectomy	53 (15.6)	-3.14 (-7.10, 0.83)	-2.83 (-6.52, 0.85)
Ever Medication Use			
Hormone therapy (estrogen or progestin)	52 (15.3)	-2.96 (-6.95, 1.04)	-2.25 (-5.97, 1.47)
Oral contraceptives	121 (35.6)	0.40 (-2.69, 3.50)	1.27 (-1.61, 4.14)
Thyroid medication	15 (4.4)	-10.00 (-16.88, -3.12)*	-10.94 (-17.31, -4.58)*
Regular medication use (3 or more times per			
week)			
Aspirin	62 (18.2)	6.02 (2.37, 9.67) [*]	4.50 (1.06, 7.93) [*]
Acetaminophen	34 (10.0)	0.31 (-4.45, 5.07)	1.85 (-2.59, 6.29)
Ibuprofen	33 (9.7)	2.10 (-2.74, 6.94)	-1.08 (-5.65, 3.50)
Current Medications			
Hormone therapy (estrogen or progestin)	7 (2.1)	-0.18 (-10.24, 9.88)	1.86 (-7.50, 11.21)
Thiazide diuretics	52 (15.3)	$5.98(2.05, 9.92)^{*}$	4.83 (1.15, 8.51) [*]
Non-thiazide diuretics	6 (1.8)	-0.73 (-8.19, 6.72)	-0.69 (-7.62, 6.24)
Diabetes medication	60 (17.7)	6.01 (2.29, 9.73) [*]	4.89 (1.41, 8.37)*
Beta blockers	27 (7.9)	-6.22 (-11.46, -0.98) [*]	-5.96 (-10.83, -1.10) [*]
Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	51 (15.0)	$4.81 (0.83, 8.78)^*$	1.78 (-2.03, 5.59)

[†] Indicates percent change in bone mass in g/cm^2 per indicated unit or 1 standard deviation ^{*} p <0.05, **p<0.0001 [§] Adjusted for weight alone

Table 4-4. Statistically Significant Correlates of Hip BMD in Multiple Linear Regression Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation of the Predictor Variables (n=339)

			Percent Difference (95% CI)
Variable	Partial R ²	Model R ²	Total Hip BMD ^a
Age (years)	Forced	0.141	-4.74 (-6.18, -3.31)**
Weight (kg)	0.135	0.276	5.70 (4.25, 7.15)**
Ever thyroid medication (%yes)	0.037	0.313	-14.62 (-21.30, -7.94)*
Current diabetes medication (%yes)	0.022	0.335	5.22 (1.85, 8.85) [*]
Recent back pain (%yes)	0.012	0.347	3.78 (0.86, 6.71)*
Current thiazide diuretic use (%yes)	0.011	0.358	5.03 (1.18, 8.89)*
Current use of beta-blockers (%yes)	0.010	0.368	-6.09 (-11.22, -0.97)*
Family history of fracture (%yes)	0.008	0.376	-9.38 (-18.38, -0.38) [*]

Other possible predictors tested to explain variability in total hip BMD using p < 0.05 as the criterion for entry in the model include: average handgrip strength, fall in past 12 months, any type of arthritis, hyperthyroid, parity, breast fed child, aspirin use, statin use, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

*p <0.05, **p<0.0001

Table 4-5. Statistically Significant Correlates of Femoral Neck BMD in Multiple Linear Regression Analyses, Expressed as Percent Difference in BMD per Unit/Standard Deviation of the Predictor Variables (n=339)

			Percent Difference (95% CI)
Variable	Partial R ²	Model R ²	Total Hip BMD ^a
Age (years)	Forced	0.179	-5.34 (-6.69, -3.99)**
Weight (kg)	0.115	0.294	4.81 (3.47, 6.16)**
Ever thyroid medication	0.023	0.317	-10.06 (-16.31, -3.81)*
Current diabetes medication	0.016	0.333	3.90 (0.49, 7.70) [*]
Aspirin use 3 or more times per week	0.012	0.345	4.32 (0.93, 7.70) [*]
Current use of beta-blockers	0.009	0.354	-6.00 (-10.84, -1.15) [*]
Current thiazide diuretic use	0.011	0.365	4.42 (0.79, 8.05) [*]

^aOther possible predictors tested to explain variability in femoral neck BMD using p<0.05 as the criterion for entry in the model include: recent back pain, any arthritis, parity, breast fed child, hysterectomy, garlic, statins, watching 16+ hours of TV per week, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

*p <0.05, **p<0.0001

5. Bone Mineral Density and Body Composition Changes in Older African American and Caucasian Men and Women

(Manuscript to be submitted)

Deanna D. Hill¹, Jane A. Cauley¹, Joseph M. Zmuda¹, Carol E. Baker², Gloria L.A. Beckles³, Clareann H. Bunker¹, Alan L. Patrick⁴, John Robbins⁵, Tamara B. Harris⁶

¹Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA.

²Office of Measurement and Evaluation, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA.

³Division of Diabetes Translation, Epidemiology and Statistics Branch, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, USA. ⁴Tobago Regional Hospital, Scarborough, Tobago, Trinidad and Tobago.

⁵ Department of Medicine, University of California Davis, Sacramento, CA, USA

⁶Laboratory of Epidemiology, Demography, Biometry, National Institute on Aging, Bethesda, Maryland, USA.

5.1. Abstract

Objective: Age-related bone loss has been well documented for Caucasian females, considerably less information is known about Caucasian males and ethnic minorities. We studied ethnic differences in rates of bone loss within gender and we also examined the relationship between components of body weight and bone loss.

Materials and Methods: Longitudinal analysis of ambulatory Caucasian (270 females, 187 males) and African American (74 females, 47 males) participants aged 65-87 years, from the CHS. Whole body, total hip and femoral neck subregion BMD was measured an average of 4.0 years apart.

Results: At baseline African American females had 12% higher body weight and 10% greater BMI than Caucasian females. Baseline BMD was 16-20% higher and lean and fat mass were 7-12% greater in African American females compared to Caucasian females. Among males, African Americans had 5-6% higher baseline body weight and BMI, 5-12% greater baseline BMD, and 5% higher lean mass compared to Caucasians. BMD, lean, and fat mass decreased over time in all four groups. After adjusting for covariates, African American males lost significantly less total hip BMD compared to Caucasian males, -0.04% per year vs. -0.45% per year respectively. Otherwise, we did not find ethnic differences in rates of bone loss. *Conclusion:* This analysis demonstrated that older African American and Caucasian females experience similar rates of bone loss at the total hip and femoral neck with advancing age. African American males lost significantly less total hip BMD than Caucasian males, but femoral neck rates of bone loss were similar. (ABSTRACT LESS THAN 250 WORDS)

104

5.2. Introduction

Bone mineral density (BMD) is a major determinant of bone strength and a significant predictor of fracture risk.(1,2) BMD varies widely by gender and ethnicity.(3-6) With advancing age, males and females experience bone loss that contributes to a curvilinear decline in BMD, decline in neuromuscular function, skeletal fragility, and increased risk of fracture.(3,4,6-10) Postmenopausal females (i.e., cessation of ovarian function) experience higher rates of bone loss up to 15 years after menopause compared to males of the same age.(6,10-13) Females in the eighth and ninth decade of life experience accelerated rates of bone loss greater than the immediate postmenopausal period, which also contributes to an increased fracture risk.(14) Hip fracture rates increase rapidly with age for both males and females, even though females sustain the vast majority (75-80%) of all incident hip fractures.(15) Age-related incidence of osteoporotic fractures vary by ethnic groups and fracture rates are approximately 50 percent lower in African American (AA) males and females compared to Caucasian males and females.(10,16) Ethnic differences in BMD is one possible explanation for ethnic differences in fracture incidence rates.

Body composition is an important determinant of BMD and body composition is comprised of four major components: lean mass, fat mass, bone mineral, and water.(11,17-21) It is established that lean and fat mass are positively related to BMD, even among older persons.(20,22) The proposed mechanism for the positive association between fat and lean mass with BMD may be from increased mechanical loading on bone.(3,20,22) Research has shown that age-related changes in anthropometric measures are associated with bone loss in postmenopausal Caucasian females, specifically body weight and body composition.(1,7,21,23-26) These changes include an increase in fat mass and a progressive decline in both lean mass and BMD with increasing age.(3,27,28) Among males, body composition changes are usually observed at ages older than 70 years; among females, these changes are observed in the early postmenopausal period and continue as females age.(28) Age-related changes in body composition may contribute to higher rates of bone loss. A recent study reported that among Caucasian males, aged 45-92 years, the annual percent change in BMD was -0.47% at the hip and -0.34% at the femoral neck.(29) Several predictors of bone loss were identified in this study, including older age (> 75 years) and BMI < 24 kg/m². Otherwise, considerably less information is known about the determinants of bone loss among older males and ethnic differences in rates of bone loss.(3,30-33)

In this analysis, we examined baseline and annualized percentage change in BMD and body composition by ethnicity within gender. We tested the hypotheses that (a) Caucasian males and females will experience higher rates of bone loss compared to AA males and females, and (b) greater changes in body weight and/or components of body weight will be related to higher rates of bone loss. We report the association between change in BMD and body composition for AA and Caucasian males and females.

5.3. Methods

Participants

The Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) is a prospective, observational cohort study that examined risk factors for and health consequences of cardiovascular disease in older adults, aged 65 years and older.(34) Detailed methods for the CHS have been described elsewhere.(34) Briefly, four US Field Centers participated in the CHS. During 1992-93, a concerted effort was made to increase AA recruitment in the CHS and the majority of AA participants in this analysis were part of the enhanced recruitment cohort. The study sample was recruited from a subset of participants enrolled in the CHS. (34) Eligibility criteria for the CHS study included random sampling from the Healthcare Financing Administration Medicare database of community-dwelling persons, aged 65 and older.(34) In addition, participants were required to provide written, informed consent and expected to remain in their current geographical area for three years following recruitment into the CHS. Any potential participant who was wheelchair-bound or receiving radiation treatment, chemotherapy or hospice care for cancer was excluded from the study.

This longitudinal analysis measured changes in BMD (whole body, total hip, and the femoral neck) subregion, body weight, and body composition variables (fat mass and lean mass) for Caucasian and AA males and females, aged 65 and older. For our investigation of changes in BMD, lean mass, and fat mass, longitudinal data were available for 587 participants (348 females, 21% AA; and 239 males, 20% AA). All participants were enrolled in the Allegheny County, Pennsylvania CHS cohort.

BMD and Body Composition

Participants completed the baseline BMD examination in year 7 (1994-95) and a subsequent follow-up BMD examination in year 11 (1998-99), an average of 3.98 ± 0.11 years between examinations. BMD for whole body, total hip, and the femoral neck subregion was measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA; QDR 2000 or 2000+, Hologic, Inc: Bedford, MA). For each participant, the same scanner was used at each visit and all scans were completed using the array beam mode. Standardized positioning and utilization of QDR software was based on the manufacturer's recommended protocol. Scans were analyzed with software version 7.10. In addition, lean mass and fat mass measurements were calculated by the QDR software using whole body DXA data and calculated lean mass values exclude bone

mineral content. To ensure consistency, trained staff scanned a spine phantom daily, prior to completing any scans, on the two DXA scanners in Pittsburgh. The coefficient of variation for total hip was less than 0.75%. Data from the DXA measurements were monitored for quality control by the University of California, San Francisco.

Body weight was measured in kilograms with a calibrated balance beam scale. Height was measured in centimeters with a wall-mounted stadiometer. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing body weight (in kilograms) by height (in meters squared). Waist circumference was measured in centimeters at the umbilicus. Hip circumference was also measured in centimeters at the widest part of the hips. Handgrip strength (in kilograms) was measured for both dominant and non-dominant hands using a dynamometer.

Other Measures

Participants completed a self-administered questionnaire that gathered information about demographic characteristics, medical history, reproductive history, fracture history, physical activity, self-rated health status, and lifestyle variables. Ethnicity was self-reported. Education, marital status, lifestyle factors, medical history, medication use, history of fall and/or fracture variables were measured as categorical variables. Continuous variables included age and anthropometric measures.

Potential covariates were chosen based on previous research that suggested certain variables were correlated with BMD and annualized percent change in BMD.(1-4,11,13,15,19,23,31) Potential covariates included: demographic (age, gender, and ethnicity) anthropometric (baseline weight or baseline lean and fat mass, change in weight or change in lean or fat mass, baseline BMD, height, and dominant handgrip strength), lifestyle (current smoking status, change in level of physical activity in the past 12 months, fair/poor self-reported health, and consumption of four more alcohol-containing beverages per week), health-related (history of a broken bone, hypertension, arthritis, diabetes, previous cancer diagnosis, and previous diagnosis of osteoporosis), and medication use (postmenopausal hormone therapy (PHT), statin use, calcium supplementation use, and thiazide diuretic use) variables.

Data Analysis

We measured ethnic differences in rates of bone loss, changes in body weight and changes in body composition, stratified by age and gender. Annualized percentage change in areal BMD, body weight, and body composition variables were calculated by the following formula: [(Follow-up BMD, body weight or body composition - baseline BMD, body weight, or body composition)/ duration of follow-up] x 100 and expressed as percent change per year. (35) Since areal BMD may be confounded by bone size, we calculated an estimate of annualized percentage change in volumetric bone mineral apparent density (BMAD). Femoral neck BMAD was estimated from the equation: BMC _{femoral neck} /(area²_{femoral neck}). (36) Data analysis for this paper was generated using SAS \circledast software, Version 8.1 of the SAS System for Windows.(37) Unadjusted ethnic differences for the descriptive variables were examined using Student's t-test for continuous variables and the chi-square test for categorical variables.

Age-adjusted analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) techniques were used to estimate mean differences in annual rates of bone loss, adjusted for age, baseline BMD, dominant handgrip strength, diabetes, postmenopausal hormone therapy (PHT; females only), self-rated fair/poor health, alcohol consumption, current smoking status, and annualized percentage change in lean and fat mass.. Variables correlated (p <0.05) with BMD and others known to be associated with BMD were used as potential predictors to build multiple regression models. Stepwise multiple linear regression (MLR) modeling techniques were used to derive a parsimonious model to

account for the variance in the change in BMD at all skeletal sites measured in gender-specific subgroups. To identify whether body weight or components of body weight (lean and fat mass) accounted for more variability in changes in BMD, we examined two different variable sets: (1) baseline weight, change in weight, and covariates; and (2) baseline lean and fat mass, change in lean and fat mass, and covariates.

5.4. Results

Descriptive Characteristics

Baseline descriptive characteristics of the study are shown in Table 5-1. Body weight, body mass index (BMI), and handgrip strength were all significantly higher for AA females compared to Caucasian females. AA females were more likely to report diabetes and heart disease compared to Caucasian females. A higher percentage of Caucasian females reported use of PHT and calcium supplements than AA females. Fewer ethnic differences were observed among males. AA males had higher body weight and BMI than Caucasian males. AA males were more likely to report being a current smoker compared to Caucasian males. For both genders, AAs were more likely to report a history of hypertension and fair/poor health status compared to Caucasians. There were no ethnic differences in age, height, or history of osteoporosis, fractures, cancer, change in physical activity, or use of statins or thiazide diuretics. *BMD*

Baseline BMD measured at the total hip and femoral neck subregion was 16.0% and 19.7% greater in AA females compared to Caucasians females at baseline. Comparable baseline measures were observed for males at 10.8% and 11.8%, respectively (Table 5-1). Age-adjusted annual rates of bone loss rates are shown in Table 5-2 by gender and ethnicity. Age-adjusted BMD decreased over time in all four groups and no significant ethnic differences were observed

110

at any skeletal site for both males and females (Table 5-2). Using ANCOVA, AA males experienced significantly less total hip bone loss compared to Caucasian males (-0.04% per year vs. -0.45% per year), after adjustment for covariates (Table 5-3). Among females, there were no ethnic differences in rates of bone loss after adjustment for covariates (Table 4-3). Similar results were observed for absolute change in BMD/BMAD at any skeletal site for both males and females (data not shown).

Body Composition

Baseline fat and lean mass were 7-12% greater for AA females compared to Caucasian females (Table 5-1). AA males had 5% greater baseline lean mass compared to Caucasian males. There were no significant ethnic differences for annualized percentage change in lean or fat mass among males or females, even after adjustment for age (Table 5-2) and other covariates (Table 5-3). We did not find any ethnic differences for absolute change in body composition variables among men and women (data not shown). We tested for interaction between ethnicity and fat mass or lean mass and they were not significant interactions.

MLR Analysis

Final multiple regression models are listed in Tables 5-4 and 5-5. Models that included baseline weight and change in weight plus other covariates did not explain as much variability $(R^2 = 0.035 \text{ to } 0.169; \text{ data not shown})$ for annual change in BMD as models with body composition variables: baseline lean and fat mass, changes in lean and fat mass $(R^2 = 0.077 \text{ to } 0.243)$ along with other covariates. Based on this information, data are shown only for models containing body composition variables (Tables 5-4 and 5-5).

Gender-Specific Stepwise MLR Analyses

Among females, change in fat mass was a significant predictor in all three models for total hip, femoral neck BMD, and femoral neck BMAD (Table 5-4). Females who lost fat mass over time had higher rates bone loss at all three sites measured. A longitudinal decrease in lean mass was also a significant predictor of bone loss at the total hip. Age, diabetes, and current cigarette smoking were negatively associated with changes in total hip BMD and PHT use was positively related to changes in total hip BMD. Twenty-two percent of the variability in annualized percent change in total hip BMD was explained by this model. Among females, current smokers lost considerably more femoral neck BMD compared to non-smokers. Self-rated poor or fair health and moderate consumption alcohol containing beverages were also related to changes in femoral neck BMD only. Ethnicity did not enter any of the models. Age, PHT use, and lean mass did not remain in models for femoral neck BMD/BMAD.

Among males, loss of lean mass over time was associated with higher rates of bone loss at the total hip and femoral neck (Table 5-5). For the model that predicted change in total hip BMD, higher rates of change in lean mass were also associated with greater rates of bone loss at the total hip. Age and thiazide diuretic use were negatively related to changes in total hip BMD. Age and self-rated fair or poor health were negatively related to changes in femoral neck BMD. Ethnicity did not enter any of the models. Calcium supplement use was positively related to changes in femoral neck BMD/BMAD.

5.5. Discussion

In this analysis, AA participants had greater baseline body weight, lean, fat, and bone mass compared to Caucasians, but rates of bone loss were not significantly different for AAs compared to Caucasians as other studies had suggested (3,38). Interestingly, in unadjusted analyses AA males had significantly higher rates of bone loss at the femoral neck compared to

Caucasian males. Otherwise, no ethnic differences were observed for rates of bone loss. We did, however, observe gender differences in rates of bone loss. Among females, age-adjusted bone loss was greater at the total hip than at the femoral neck while males experienced more bone loss at the femoral neck, especially AA males, suggesting that physical and endocrine factors influence age-related bone loss differently for males and females. (32,39) Estimated volumetric BMAD did not attenuate ethnic differences within gender that we observed for changes in BMD and/or body composition. It is important to note that BMAD may correct for body size but does not consider skeletal size. In the gender-specific stepwise multiple linear regression models, ethnicity did not enter the model, suggesting that differences in annualized percentage change in BMD were explained by covariates other than ethnicity.

Although AA females had slower rates of bone loss at all skeletal sites compared to Caucasian females in the CHS, these findings did not reach statistical significance. In another longitudinal study, slower rates of total hip bone loss were also observed among premenopausal AA females compared to Caucasian females, but they did not find any ethnic differences in the rate of bone loss among postmenopausal females. (38)

Caucasian females in this study lost considerably less total hip BMD per year (0.37%) compared to Caucasian females in the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures (SOF) (0.57 % per year).(40) Similar differences were observed for Caucasian females in CHS and SOF for femoral neck bone loss rates. Among AA females, however, rates of bone loss at the total hip were comparable to AA females in SOF (-0.34% per year vs. -0.33% per year). AA females in CHS had a slightly higher rate of bone loss at the femoral neck compared to AA females in SOF (-0.27% per year vs. -0.20% per year), this difference may be a related to the shorter duration of follow-up (2 years) for AA females in SOF compared to 4 years in the CHS.

Total hip BMD is a stronger predictor fracture risk in older, Caucasian females.(41) The healthy nature of our study cohort may explain the lack of significant ethnic differences in rates of bone loss observed in this study. Furthermore, the parent study that originally recruited participants for this ancillary analysis did not initially measure BMD and therefore, our study sample may have a select group of subjects.

We observed significantly slower rates of total hip bone loss and higher rates of femoral neck bone loss in AA males compared to Caucasian males, although the findings for femoral neck were not statistically significant. This information is valuable because to our knowledge, only one other study has compared rates of bone loss in AA males to Caucasian males and similar to our findings, Caucasian males lost significantly more total hip BMD over time.(38) Caucasian males in this study lost an average of -0.41% hip BMD per year compared to -0.47% per year for Caucasian males in the Rancho Bernardo study.(29) Rates of femoral neck bone loss were higher in the CHS compared to the other study (-0.49% per year vs. -0.34% per year). We should note that the CHS study population was older than the Rancho Bernardo study, which may explain the higher rates of femoral neck bone loss in the CHS.

The relative contribution of changes in body composition (lean and fat mass) were stronger determinants of bone loss compared to changes in body weight for both males and females in this study, before and after controlling for the effects of covariates. Additionally, lean and fat mass explained more variability in rates of bone loss compared to age and lifestyle factors. Specifically, decreases in fat mass over time were positively associated with higher rates of bone loss in females whereas declines in lean mass over time contributed to higher rates of bone loss in males, suggesting body composition variables influence BMD differently by gender. The contribution of lean and fat mass in relation to BMD has been examined in a cross-sectional study and the contribution of lean and fat mass did differ by gender among younger males and females. (42) Similar to our findings, BMD was significantly related to fat mass in females and lean mass in males. In the Rancho Bernardo study, BMI and weight loss at least 5% or more of baseline bodyweight were significant predictors of BMD among middle-aged males.(29)

Some previously published studies have also shown that fat mass is protective against bone loss in postmenopausal females. (19,21,23,33) Most of these studies, however, analyzed body composition variables at one time point and tested whether these variables predicted bone loss. Our study is unique because we examined longitudinal changes in fat and lean mass. We found that change in fat mass over time is an important predictor of change in BMD in older postmenopausal females of both Caucasian and AA ethnicity. Specifically, females who lost more fat mass also experienced greater rates of bone loss. Our finding is supported by the idea that females with less fat mass have lower levels of estradiol, which may contribute to lower BMD.(20) Similar to Baumgartner et al., in our study fat mass was more significantly related to longitudinal changes in BMD for females than lean mass.(11) Wu et al. suggested that the protective effect of fat mass on bone loss in postmenopausal females may be hormonal since heavier body weight is associated with increased concentrations of sex hormones.(23) Among postmenopausal females, fat mass may facilitate the conversion of androgen to estrogen, which increases BMD.(3,22,43) In contrast, change in lean mass appeared to be a more important predictor in males suggesting that muscle plays a significant role on bone mass, which may be related higher levels of testosterone in males, which are positively associated with BMD and negatively associated with fat mass.(43)

There are a number of strengths to our study including BMD was measured by trained and certified DXA technicians. Our analysis used a longitudinal design to examine changes in

115

lean mass, fat mass, and bone in a population-based cohort of older males and females of Caucasian and AA ethnicity. We included a number of covariates in our analysis. There are however, a few limitations for this analysis including the relatively small sample of AAs, especially males.

Osteoporosis is an important public health issue in aging epidemiology. Our analysis is one of only few published studies that examined baseline and longitudinal changes in bone, lean, and fat mass in a sample of community-dwelling persons, aged 65 and over, by ethnic group within gender. Body composition variables were significant determinants of bone loss in all groups. After adjusting for covariates, AA males had slower rates of bone loss at the total hip compared to Caucasian males. This finding may be protective against future hip fracture risk. Conversely, our findings did not confirm ethnic differences in rates of bone loss among AA and Caucasian females. Furthermore, higher BMD may not protect AA females against accelerated rates of age-related bone loss.

5.6. References

- 1. Luckey MM, Wallenstein S, Lapinski R, Meier DE 1996 A prospective study of bone loss in African-American and white women--a clinical research center study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(8):2948-56.
- 2. Siris ES, Miller PD, Barrett-Connor E, Faulkner KG, Wehren LE, Abbott TA, Berger ML, Santora AC, Sherwood LM 2001 Identification and fracture outcomes of undiagnosed low bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: results from the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment.[comment]. JAMA **286**(22):2815-22.
- 3. Taaffe DR, Cauley JA, Danielson M, Nevitt MC, Lang TF, Bauer DC, Harris TB 2001 Race and sex effects on the association between muscle strength, soft tissue, and bone mineral density in healthy elders: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(7):1343-52.
- 4. Riggs BL, Melton LJ, 3rd 1986 Involutional osteoporosis. New England Journal of Medicine **314**(26):1676-86.
- 5. Kanis JA, Delmas P, Burckhardt P, Cooper C, Torgerson D 1997 Guidelines for diagnosis and management of osteoporosis. The European Foundation for Osteoporosis and Bone Disease. Osteoporosis International **7**(4):390-406.
- 6. Ettinger B 1997 Postmenopausal osteoporosis. Current Therapy in Endocrinology & Metabolism **6:**639-44.
- 7. Greenspan SL, Maitland LA, Myers ER, Krasnow MB, Kido TH 1994 Femoral bone loss progresses with age: a longitudinal study in women over age 65. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9(12):1959-65.
- Nguyen T, Sambrook P, Kelly P, Jones G, Lord S, Freund J, Eisman J 1993 Prediction of osteoporotic fractures by postural instability and bone density.[comment]. BMJ 307(6912):1111-5.
- 9. Nevitt MC, Cummings SR 1993 Type of fall and risk of hip and wrist fractures: the study of osteoporotic fractures. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[comment]. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society **41**(11):1226-34.
- 10. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Mikhail M, Flaster ER 1999 Body composition by dual-energy Xray absorptiometry in black compared with white women. Osteoporosis International **10**(2):114-9.
- 11. Baumgartner RN, Stauber PM, Koehler KM, Romero L, Garry PJ 1996 Associations of fat and muscle masses with bone mineral in elderly men and women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **63**(3):365-72.
- 12. Nguyen TV, Kelly PJ, Sambrook PN, Gilbert C, Pocock NA, Eisman JA 1994 Lifestyle factors and bone density in the elderly: implications for osteoporosis prevention. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9(9):1339-46.
- 13. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Yeh JK, Flaster E 1996 Risk for osteoporosis in black women. Calcified Tissue International **59**(6):415-23.
- 14. Rosen CJ 2000 Pathogenesis of osteoporosis. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 14(2):181-93.
- 15. Orwoll ES, Klein RF 1995 Osteoporosis in men. Endocrine Reviews **16**(1):87-116.

- 16. Bohannon AD 1999 Osteoporosis and African American women. Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine **8**(5):609-15.
- 17. Aloia JF, Vaswani A, Ma R, Flaster E 1995 To what extent is bone mass determined by fat-free or fat mass? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **61**(5):1110-4.
- 18. Visser M, Kiel DP, Langlois J, Hannan MT, Felson DT, Wilson PW, Harris TB 1998 Muscle mass and fat mass in relation to bone mineral density in very old men and women: the Framingham Heart Study. Applied Radiation & Isotopes **49**(5-6):745-7.
- 19. Reid IR, Ames RW, Evans MC, Sharpe SJ, Gamble GD 1994 Determinants of the rate of bone loss in normal postmenopausal women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **79**(4):950-4.
- 20. Pluijm SM, Visser M, Smit JH, Popp-Snijders C, Roos JC, Lips P 2001 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men and women: body composition as mediator. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(11):2142-51.
- 21. Reid IR, Evans MC, Ames RW 1994 Volumetric bone density of the lumbar spine is related to fat mass but not lean mass in normal postmenopausal women. Osteoporosis International 4(6):362-7.
- 22. Van Langendonck L, Claessens AL, Lefevre J, Thomis M, Philippaerts R, Delvaux K, Lysens R, Vanden Eynde B, Beunen G 2002 Association between bone mineral density (DXA), body structure, and body composition in middle-aged men. American Journal of Human Biology **14**(6):735-42.
- 23. Wu F, Ames R, Clearwater J, Evans MC, Gamble G, Reid IR 2002 Prospective 10-year study of the determinants of bone density and bone loss in normal postmenopausal women, including the effect of hormone replacement therapy. Clinical Endocrinology **56**(6):703-11.
- 24. Perry HM, 3rd, Horowitz M, Morley JE, Fleming S, Jensen J, Caccione P, Miller DK, Kaiser FE, Sundarum M 1996 Aging and bone metabolism in African American and Caucasian women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(3):1108-17.
- 25. Ensrud KE, Palermo L, Black DM, Cauley J, Jergas M, Orwoll ES, Nevitt MC, Fox KM, Cummings SR 1995 Hip and calcaneal bone loss increase with advancing age: longitudinal results from the study of osteoporotic fractures. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **10**(11):1778-87.
- 26. Tremollieres FA, Pouilles JM, Ribot C 1993 Vertebral postmenopausal bone loss is reduced in overweight women: a longitudinal study in 155 early postmenopausal women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **77**(3):683-6.
- 27. Gallagher D, Visser M, De Meersman RE, Sepulveda D, Baumgartner RN, Pierson RN, Harris T, Heymsfield SB 1997 Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: effects of age, gender, and ethnicity. Journal of Applied Physiology **83**(1):229-39.
- 28. Kyle UG, Genton L, Slosman DO, Pichard C 2001 Fat-free and fat mass percentiles in 5225 healthy subjects aged 15 to 98 years.[comment]. Nutrition **17**(7-8):534-41.
- 29. Bakhireva LN, Barrett-Connor E, Kritz-Silverstein D, Morton DJ 2004 Modifiable predictors of bone loss in older men: a prospective study.[erratum appears in Am J Prev Med. 2004 Oct;27(3):265]. American Journal of Preventive Medicine **26**(5):436-42.
- 30. Melton LJ, 3rd, Khosla S, Atkinson EJ, Oconnor MK, Ofallon WM, Riggs BL 2000 Cross-sectional versus longitudinal evaluation of bone loss in men and women. Osteoporosis International **11**(7):592-9.

- 31. Barondess DA, Nelson DA, Schlaen SE 1997 Whole body bone, fat, and lean mass in black and white men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **12**(6):967-71.
- 32. Burger H, de Laet CE, van Daele PL, Weel AE, Witteman JC, Hofman A, Pols HA 1998 Risk factors for increased bone loss in an elderly population: the Rotterdam Study. American Journal of Epidemiology **147**(9):871-9.
- 33. Dennison E, Eastell R, Fall CH, Kellingray S, Wood PJ, Cooper C 1999 Determinants of bone loss in elderly men and women: a prospective population-based study. Osteoporosis International **10**(5):384-91.
- 34. Fried LP, Borhani NO, Enright P, Furberg CD, Gardin JM, Kronmal RA, Kuller LH, Manolio TA, Mittelmark MB, Newman A, et al. 1991 The Cardiovascular Health Study: design and rationale. Annals of Epidemiology 1(3):263-76.
- 35. Lui LY, Stone K, Cauley JA, Hillier T, Yaffe K 2003 Bone loss predicts subsequent cognitive decline in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society **51**(1):38-43.
- 36. Katzman DK, Bachrach LK, Carter DR, Marcus R 1991 Clinical and anthropometric correlates of bone mineral acquisition in healthy adolescent girls. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **73**(6):1332-9.
- 37. Copyright © 2003 SAS Institute Inc. SAS and all other SAS Institute Inc. product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of SAS Institute Inc. C, NC, USA.
- 38. Zmuda JM, Cauley JA, Newman AB 2003 Bone mineral density and rate of decline in bone mineral density with aging among older Black and White men and women: The Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study.
- 39. Jones G, Nguyen T, Sambrook P, Kelly PJ, Eisman JA 1994 Progressive loss of bone in the femoral neck in elderly people: longitudinal findings from the Dubbo osteoporosis epidemiology study. BMJ **309**(6956):691-5.
- 40. Cauley JA, Lui L-Y, Stone KL, Hillier TA, Zmuda JM, Hochberg M, Beck TJ, Ensrud KE 2005 Longitudinal Study of Changes in Hip Bone Mineral Density in Caucasian and African-American Women. J Am Geriatr Soc **53**(2):183-189.
- 41. Cummings SR, Bates D, Black DM 2002 Clinical use of bone densitometry: scientific review. JAMA **288**(15):1889-97.
- 42. Reid IR, Plank LD, Evans MC 1992 Fat mass is an important determinant of whole body bone density in premenopausal women but not in men. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **75**(3):779-82.
- 43. Kirchengast S, Peterson B, Hauser G, Knogler W 2001 Body composition characteristics are associated with the bone density of the proximal femur end in middle- and old-aged women and men. Maturitas **39**(2):133-45.

	Fe	males	Ν	Males		
	Caucasian	African	Caucasian	African		
		American		American		
N	270	74	187	47		
Variables Mean (±) SD						
Age (y)	70.7 ± 3.8	71.1 ± 4.4	71.2 ± 4.1	71.1 ± 4.4		
Weight (kg)	65.1 ± 11.5**	$72.6 \pm 13.4 **$	$78.2 \pm 9.7*$	$82.5 \pm 13.4*$		
Height (cm)	158.2 ± 6.0	159.6 ± 6.1	172.5 ± 6.8	172.7 ± 6.9		
BMI (kg/m^2)	$26.2 \pm 4.5 **$	$28.8 \pm 4.7 **$	$26.2 \pm 3.3*$	$27.4 \pm 4.6*$		
Grip Strength (kg)	$22.3 \pm 5.2 **$	$26.7 \pm 6.2 **$	37.8 ± 7.5	39.4 ± 9.4		
Total Hip BMD (g/cm^2)	$0.72 \pm 0.12 **$	$0.84 \pm 0.15 **$	$0.92 \pm 0.15*$	$1.02 \pm 0.17*$		
Femoral Neck BMD	0.61 ± 0.11 **	$0.73 \pm 0.13**$	$0.76 \pm 0.13 **$	$0.85 \pm 0.15 **$		
(g/cm^2)	0.01 = 0.11	0.75 = 0.15	0.70 = 0.10	0.00 = 0.10		
Femoral Neck BMAD	0.13 ±0.03**	$0.15 \pm 0.03 **$	$0.14 \pm 0.03 **$	$0.16 \pm 0.03 **$		
(g/cm^3)	0.10 =0.00	0.10 = 0.00	0.11 = 0.000	0.10 = 0.00		
Fat Mass (kg)	$28.1 \pm 9.5^*$	$31.1 \pm 9.6*$	22.2 ± 7.1	22.3 ± 8.8		
Lean Mass (kg)	34.8 ± 4.3**	$38.9 \pm 4.9 **$	$51.8 \pm 5.7*$	$54.5 \pm 6.9*$		
Selected Covariates (% y	ves)	•••• = ···				
Current Smoker	26 (9.7%)	10 (13.5%)	8 (4.3%)*	8 (17.0%)*		
Diabetes	19 (7.0%)**	17 (23.0%)**	22 (11.8%)	10 (21.3%)		
Osteoporosis	40 (15.3%)	6 (8.3%)	4 (2.2%)	0 (0.0%)		
Cancer	39 (14.4%)	7 (9.5%)	24 (12.8%)	2 (4.3%)		
Hypertension	75 (28.4%)**	42 (58.3%)**	43 (23.2%)*	19 (41.3%)*		
Heart Disease	38 (14.5%)*	18 (24.3%)*	31 (16.9%)	7 (14.9%)		
Arthritis	126 (47.0%)	42 (56.7%)	69 (37.1%)	20 (43.5%)		
Calcium Supplements	73 (27.1%)*	8 (11.0%)*	15 (8.1%)	2 (4.3%)		
Alcohol Consumption \geq	38 (14.1%)*	4 (5.4%)*	52 (27.8%)	11 (23.4%)		
4 per week						
Reported Fair/ Poor	20 (7.4%)*	14 (18.9%)*	19 (10.2%)*	11 (23.4%)*		
Health						
Ever Broken Bone	10 (3.7%)	3 (4.0%)	5 (2.6%)	0 (0.0%)		
Statin Use	32 (11.9%)	5 (6.8%)	11 (5.9%)	2 (4.3%)		
Thiazide Diuretics	48 (17.8%)	15 (20.3%)	21 (11.2%)	7 (14.9%)		
Current PHT Use	47 (17.4%)*	5 (6.8%%)*				
Change in physical						
activity in last 12 months						
Less	88 (32.6%)	28 (37.8%)	41 (22.2%)	10 (21.3%)		
More	159 (58.9%)	38 (51.4%)	128 (61.2%)	33 (70.2%)		
Same	23 (8.5%)	8 (10.8%)	16 (8.7%)	4 (8.5%)		

N, number of subjects Ethnic differences within gender: * p <0.05; ** p <0.0001

	Fem	ales	Ma	lles
_	Caucasian	African	Caucasian	African
		American		American
Ν	270	74	187	47
		Mean \pm SE		
Bone Density				
Total Hip BMD (g/cm^2)	-0.37 ± 0.07	-0.34 ± 0.14	-0.41 ± 0.08	-0.22 ± 0.16
Femoral Neck BMD (g/cm ²)	-0.29 ± 0.08	-0.27 ± 0.16	-0.49 ± 0.09	-0.87 ± 0.18
Femoral Neck BMAD (g/cm ³)	-0.47 ± 0.11	-0.27 ± 0.22	-0.58 ± 0.12	-0.55 ± 0.24
Body Composition (kg)				
Lean Mass	-0.11 ± 0.07	-0.26 ± 0.13	-0.43 ± 0.08	-0.54 ± 0.15
Fat Mass	-0.61 ± 0.10	-0.57 ± 0.20	-0.51 ± 0.11	0.40 ± 0.22

Table 5-2. Age-Adjusted Annualized Percent Changes in BMD and Body Composition^a

^a negative values imply loss in BMD and/or body composition over the follow-up period N, number of subjects

Table 5-3. Adjusted^{*} Annualized Percent Changes in BMD^a

	Fem	ales	Ma	lles
	Caucasian African American		Caucasian	African American
Ν	270	74	187	47
		Mean \pm SE		
Total Hip BMD (g/cm ²)	$\textbf{-0.38} \pm 0.08$	-0.26 ± 0.16	$-0.45 \pm 0.08^{\$}$	$-0.04 \pm 0.16^{\$}$
Femoral Neck BMD (g/cm ²)	-0.31 ± 0.08	-0.22 ± 0.17	-0.52 ± 0.09	-0.74 ± 0.18
Femoral Neck BMAD (g/cm ³)	-0.48 ± 0.11	-0.20 ± 0.24	-0.61 ± 0.12	-0.37 ± 0.25

*Adjusted for age, baseline BMD, baseline weight, dominant handgrip strength, diabetes, PHT (females only), height, and current smoker

^a Negative values imply loss in BMD and/or body composition over the follow-up period

N, number of subjects

Ethnic differences within gender: p < 0.05

	Total Hip Areal		Femoral I	Femoral Neck Areal		Femoral Neck	
	Model R^2	$= 0.216^{**}$	Model $R^2 = 0.135^{**}$		Model $R^2 = 0.078^{**}$		
-	Std β	p-value	Std β	p-value	Std β	p-value	
Change in Fat Mass	0.338	< 0.0001	0.230	< 0.0001	0.209	0.0001	
Change in Lean Mass	0.135	0.0003					
Age	-0.189	0.0018					
Diabetes	-0.108	0.0325	-0.119	0.0257	-0.128	0.0192	
Current Smoker	-0.101	0.0452	-0.126	0.0251			
Dominant Handgrip			0.122	0.0214	0.128	0.0291	
Strength							
Self-rated Fair/Poor			-0.140	0.0022			
Health							
Consumption of less			0.105	0.0487			
than 4 alcohol							
containing beverages							
per week							

Table 5-4. Final Multiple Regression Models for Annualized Percentage Change in BMD/BMAD Among Females

^a Stepwise regression modeling was utilized to identify the best prediction model. Variables met p < 0.10 for entry into the model and p < 0.05 to remain in the model. Potential covariates that were tested but did not remain in any model include: ethnic group, baseline fat mass, hypertension, arthritis, physical activity, height, and ever diagnosed with cancer. Model p-value: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.0001

	Total Hip Areal		Femoral N	Femoral Neck Areal		Femoral Neck	
	BI	MD	BN	MD	Volumetric BMAD		
	Model R ²	= 0.243**	Model $R^2 = 0.133 **$		Model $R^2 = 0.081*$		
	Std β	p-value	Std β	p-value	Std β	p-value	
Change in Lean Mass	0.262	< 0.0001	0.159	0.0023	0.235	0.0004	
Change in Fat Mass	0.266	< 0.0001					
Age	-0.214	0.0005	-0.184	0.0089			
Thiazide Diuretic Use	-0.124	0.0396					
Baseline Lean Mass			-0.134	0.0499			
Calcium Supplement			0.151	0.0151	0.156	0.0176	
Use							
Self-rate Fair/Poor			-0.142	0.0324			
Health							

Table 5-5. Final Multiple Regression Models for Annualized Percentage Change in **BMD/BMAD** Among Males

^a Stepwise regression modeling was utilized to identify the best prediction model. Variables met p < 0.10 for entry into the model and p < 0.05 to remain in the model. Potential covariates that were tested but did not remain in any model include: ethnic group, baseline fat mass, hypertension, arthritis, physical activity, height, and ever diagnosed with cancer. Model p-value: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.0001

6. Discussion

This dissertation research focused on the interrelationships between bone health and demographic, lifestyle, anthropometric, and health-related factors in males and females of African ancestry residing on the Caribbean Island of Tobago and in the US. Three complementary analyses were undertaken to identify:

- 1. Correlates of BMD among Tobagonian males, aged 40+ years
- 2. Correlates of BMD among postmenopausal Tobagonian females, aged 50+ years
- Rates of bone loss among older (aged 65+ years) AA males and females compared to Caucasians. Predictors of bone loss were also identified in this analysis.

A. Correlates of BMD among Tobagonian Males

Tobagonian males had ~8-12% higher hip BMD compared to NHANES data for AA males and ~20-23% higher hip BMD compared to NHANES data for Caucasian males. (1) The differences in BMD between Tobagonian and US males did not increase substantially with advancing age. (1) Tobagonian males aged 70-79 years had hip BMD that was higher than AA and Caucasian males aged 40-49 years. Differences in BMD between Tobagonian and US males were slightly attenuated at the femoral neck. Tobagonian males had ~8-12% higher femoral neck BMD compared to AA males and ~18-22% higher than Caucasian males. This finding was unexpected because other published studies of persons of African ancestry, residing in Africa or the UK, reported lower BMD among Africans compared to the reference Caucasian group. (2-5) The higher BMD among males of African ancestry, despite country of residence, compared to Caucasians suggest that similar biological mechanisms may exist.

Significant correlates of BMD among Tobagonian males were the same for total hip and femoral neck BMD. Age (-), lean mass (-), history of diabetes (+), history of working on a

fishing boat (+), and history of a broken or fracture bone (-) explained 25% of the variability in BMD. Lean mass was a significant predictor of BMD (p<0.0001). Taaffe et al. also found that among a large sample of older AA males, lean mass was a significant determinant of BMD.(6) Based on this finding, maintenance of lean mass, possibly through physical activity, is definitely a modifiable risk factor that may reduce the risk of developing low BMD and increased fracture risk among males. The higher hip BMD among Tobagonian males compared to US males could be attributed to the influence of lean mass on BMD.

B. Correlates of BMD among Tobagonian females

When we compared BMD for Tobagonian females to NHANES III data (1), postmenopausal Tobagonian females had 10-18% higher hip BMD compared to AA females and the largest difference in BMD was observed for females aged 80+ years. Hip BMD was drastically different between Tobagonian females and Caucasian females. Tobagonian females had 29-30% higher hip BMD compared to Caucasians.(1) Tobagonian females aged 80+ years (n=11) had mean hip BMD comparable to AA females aged 60-69 years and Caucasian females aged 50-59 years. Compared to AA females, femoral neck BMD was also 10-17% higher for Tobagonian females. Tobagonian females had 20-25% higher femoral neck BMD compared to Caucasian females. (1) The higher BMD among females of African ancestry, despite country of residence, compared to Caucasian suggests that similar biological mechanisms may exist.

Significant correlates of BMD among Tobagonian females included age (-), body weight (+), history of diabetes (+), family history of fracture [(-); hip only], and use of certain medications. Surprisingly these correlates explained 37-38% of the variability in BMD, which is higher than our findings for Tobagonian males ($R^2=25\%$). Most studies only report that 20-30% of the variability in BMD is explained by the best subset of predictors for US females. (7-12)

Unlike Tobagonian males, body weight was a significant predictor of BMD among Tobagonian females, rather than components of body weight like lean mass and/or fat mass. Our observed gender differences in body weight and components of body weight were not totally unexpected. The effect of reproductive hormones, quantity of lean mass, and PBM attainment all contribute to the explanation of the strong correlation between lean mass and BMD in males but moderate correlation in females. (6, 13) Body weight positively influences adipose-based estrogen, which protects bone. (13, 14) Greater body weight imposes more gravitational force on bone, similar to weight-bearing exercise, which increases BMD. (13)

We compared population-based data from NHANES (1999-2002) that was stratified by age group (40-59 and 60+ years) to the average weight and BMI of Tobagonian females. (15) We suspected that mean body weight or BMI would be different between AA females (80.3 kg, 31.1 kg/m², respectively) and Tobagonian females (78.2 kg, 29.9 kg/m², respectively) aged 60 years and older, but this was not the case. Tobagonian females aged 60+ years had somewhat lower body weight and BMI compared to AA females of the same age. When we compared the reported body weight and BMI for AA females aged 40-59 years to Tobagonian females aged 50+, we still did not observe any differences in body weight or BMI that could possibly explain the differences in BMD.

A recent study by Robbins et al. also found that body weight was a significant correlate of BMD among AA males and females in the CHS.(12) Other studies have suggested that fat mass was a significant determinant of BMD among postmenopausal females (6,16-19), but body weight was more strongly correlated with BMD in our analysis of Tobagonian females. One possible explanation for the contribution of body weight, not its components, to BMD is that in our sample of Tobagonian women, the correlations between lean and fat mass with BMD were almost equal, suggesting the combined effect of lean mass and fat mass positively influenced BMD.

When we compared the correlates of BMD among Tobagonian males and females, we observed some similarities in the predictors of BMD. They include age, history of diabetes, and anthropometric variables. We did not, however, ask Tobagonian males to bring medication to the research office at the time the interview was conducted.

C. Ethnic Differences in Rates of Bone Loss

The third analysis measured rates of bone loss at the hip and femoral neck subregion among older AA and Caucasian male and female participants in the CHS, aged 65+ years. At baseline, AA males had 5-12% higher BMD and AA females had 10-20% higher BMD compared to Caucasians. AAs were also heavier, as measured by body weight and BMI, than Caucasians. Four years after the initial baseline DXA exam, all four groups experienced bone loss. Among females, Caucasian and AA females had similar rates of bone loss, 0.37% per year and 0.34% per year, at the total hip and comparable changes at the femoral neck. Among males, Caucasians had a 50% greater bone loss at the hip compared to AAs. At the femoral neck, however, AA males had 50% greater bone loss compared to Caucasian males. Greater bone loss at the femoral neck among AA males was quite surprising since research among AA females showed lower or comparable rates of bone loss to Caucasians at the femoral neck. (20,21) After adjustment for covariates, Caucasian males had significantly higher rates of hip bone loss compared to AA males. We did not find any significant differences in rates of bone loss, despite higher BMD and anthropometric measures for AA females. Partial adjustment for bone size, BMAD, did not attenuate the ethnic differences in rates of bone loss. (22)

We then examined correlates that were related to rates of bone loss. Among females, loss of fat mass was a significant determinant of hip and femoral neck bone loss. Age (-) and loss of lean mass (-) were significant determinants of bone loss at the total hip BMD, but not the femoral neck. In males, age (-) and loss of lean mass (-) were significant determinants of rates of bone loss at the hip and femoral neck subregion. Overall, the rates of bone loss for females in this analysis were comparable to other longitudinal analyses for AA females and Caucasian males and females. (20,23)

D. Overall Strengths of the Three Complementary Analyses

This research examined correlates of BMD in persons of African Ancestry in cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. Our study participants were males and females of African ancestry who were living in the US and on Caribbean Island of Tobago, and they share West African heritage. The overall sample sizes of all three studies were relatively large. To our knowledge, no other studies have examined correlates of BMD in a large sample of African Caribbean males and females. Furthermore, we are not aware of any other published data that reported changes in BMD over time among males of African ancestry.

E. Overall Limitations of the Three Complementary Analyses

By the nature of our recruitment, we may have preferentially selected participants who were healthier than other people in their respective communities. So our research may not be generalizable to all persons of African ancestry. Second, we cannot be certain about the accuracy of self-reported medical history or lifetime medication use because of the possibility of misclassification bias. Third, the number of AA males (n=47) in females (n=74) included in the bone loss analysis was small. Fourth, only one of our analyses examined changes in BMD over time, which is the best way to evaluate risk factors associated with lower BMD and subsequent

fracture risk, or temporal trend. Lastly, DXA only measures two-dimensional bone, length and width, not thickness. Thicker bones are denser and DXA does not address differences in skeletal size (i.e. bone thickness), which influences BMD.

6.1. Public Health Impact

The public health burden of osteoporosis (OP) threatens longevity and quality of life. Societal burdens of OP include higher economic costs associated with treating fractures and overall costs to health care systems. The public health burden associated with OP is expected to increase drastically with the anticipated longer life expectancy worldwide, especially among minorities. Whether the increased burdens of OP will be related to aging (i.e., frailty) and/or increases in prevalent risk factors is not known.

Research has shown that while AA have had lower hip fracture rates in the past (24-26), a recent National Hospital Discharge Survey study by Orces et al. showed that population-based trends for hip fracture-related hospitalizations increased 121% for AA males and 27% for AA females between 1990-2000. (27) This research supports the need for understanding risk factors associated with low BMD among persons of African ancestry.

In the few studies with AA, higher BMD has been consistently reported in the literature for AA compared to Caucasians, but the underlying mechanisms for these ethnic differences are poorly understood. The paucity of research that examined correlates of BMD among males and females of African ancestry does not address gaps in the literature. It appears that persons of African ancestry do not have an increased risk of sustaining osteoporotic fractures, but to know for certain we must first understand the underlying mechanisms that are associated with lower BMD, which is a significant predictor of fracture risk. In this body of research, we explored the ethnic and gender differences in the correlates of BMD and rates of bone loss among middle-aged and older males and females of African ancestry. To our knowledge, we have undertaken one of the first analyses to evaluate bone loss in males of African ancestry. Bone loss and increased risk of hip fracture are both sequelae of aging, despite gender or ethnicity.

Ethnicity plays an important role in disease prevalence since it encompasses cultural, geographical, dietary, and lifestyle characteristics. Once we are able to better identify persons of African ancestry who may be at risk for osteoporotic fractures, prevention and intervention strategies can be developed. Understanding risk factors for low BMD among persons of African ancestry may influence preventive strategies and early diagnosis of OP and its related conditions.

The primary goal of this research was to identify modifiable risk factors that were associated with lower BMD and higher rates of bone loss in persons of African ancestry. Since non-industrialized countries are adapting to a more 'Western' lifestyle, we believe that the risk factors associated with increased bone loss among AAs may be applicable to Tobagonians.

This research delineates the demographic, lifestyle, and health-related risk factors for low BMD among persons of African ancestry. Furthermore, this research may provide insight into the contribution of ethnicity in association with modifiable risk factors for lower BMD. With this knowledge, our research may enhance efforts focused on reducing the burden of osteoporotic morbidity and mortality among persons of African ancestry, and possibly lessen the public health threat associated with OP. The public health significance of this research may facilitate intervention and prevention strategies to identify persons of African ancestry who may be at risk of developing osteoporosis.

131

6.2. Final Summary and Conclusions

OP is typically asymptomatic until fracture, so it is very important to identify factors associated with BMD. OP is also more prevalent among postmenopausal Caucasian females, but postmenopausal females of African ancestry also may be at increased risk of developing OP, despite higher BMD.

Research has shown that BMD is a significant determinant of osteoporotic fractures. (7,8,28-32) Risk of sustaining an osteoporotic fracture is substantially lower among persons of African ancestry compared to Caucasians. A potential explanation for the ethnic differences in fracture risk has been attributed to ethnic differences in BMD, PBM, and genetics, but most of this research has been conducted in the US or UK. In the US, for example, it was reported that AAs had 10-15% higher BMD compared to Caucasians, even after adjusting for important covariates.(6) Lifestyle factors typically account for some of the variability in BMD and we suspect these factors may partially explain ethnic differences in BMD.

Few studies have compared BMD among Africans to AAs and the findings failed to show higher BMD among Africans compared to AAs. (1,2) More studies, however, have compared BMD among West Africans to Caucasians and although BMD was not significantly higher among West Africans (1,3,4), the risk of fracture was considerably lower for West Africans compared to Caucasians. (1,3) The lower risk of fracture among West Africans, despite lower BMD, has been attributed to bone geometry, lifestyle and genetic factors.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that Tobagonians had higher BMD (i.e., denser bones) than NHANES data for AAs and Caucasians. (1) We also confirmed that commonly reported risk factors for low BMD in Caucasians are similar for persons of African ancestry. Weight and components of weight were significant determinants BMD among males and females of African ancestry, residing in the US and on the Caribbean Island of Tobago.

6.3. References

- 1. Looker AC, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP, Johnston CC, Jr., Lindsay R 1998 Updated data on proximal femur bone mineral levels of US adults. Osteoporosis International **8**(5):468-89.
- 2. Adebajo AO, Cooper C, Evans JG 1991 Fractures of the hip and distal forearm in West Africa and the United Kingdom. Age & Ageing **20**(6):435-8.
- 3. Aspray TJ, Prentice A, Cole TJ, Sawo Y, Reeve J, Francis RM 1996 Low bone mineral content is common but osteoporotic fractures are rare in elderly rural Gambian women. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **11**(7):1019-25.
- 4. Dibba B, Prentice A, Laskey MA, Stirling DM, Cole TJ 1999 An investigation of ethnic differences in bone mineral, hip axis length, calcium metabolism and bone turnover between West African and Caucasian adults living in the United Kingdom. Annals of Human Biology **26**(3):229-42.
- 5. Solomon L 1979 Bone density in ageing Caucasian and African populations. Lancet 2(8156-8157):1326-30.
- 6. Taaffe DR, Cauley JA, Danielson M, Nevitt MC, Lang TF, Bauer DC, Harris TB 2001 Race and sex effects on the association between muscle strength, soft tissue, and bone mineral density in healthy elders: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research **16**(7):1343-52.
- 7. Broussard DL, Magnus JH 2004 Risk assessment and screening for low bone mineral density in a multi-ethnic population of women and men: does one approach fit all? Osteoporosis International **15**(5):349-60.
- Bauer DC, Browner WS, Cauley JA, Orwoll ES, Scott JC, Black DM, Tao JL, Cummings SR 1993 Factors associated with appendicular bone mass in older women. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[see comment]. Annals of Internal Medicine 118(9):657-65.
- 9. Glynn NW, Meilahn EN, Charron M, Anderson SJ, Kuller LH, Cauley JA 1995 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10(11):1769-77.
- 10. Orwoll ES, Bevan L, Phipps KR 2000 Determinants of bone mineral density in older men. Osteoporosis International **11**(10):815-21.
- 11. Orwoll ES, Bauer DC, Vogt TM, Fox KM 1996 Axial bone mass in older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Annals of Internal Medicine **124**(2):187-96.
- 12. Robbins J, Hirsch C, Cauley J 2004 Associates of bone mineral density in older African Americans. Journal of the National Medical Association **96**(12):1609-15.
- 13. Reid IR 2002 Relationships among body mass, its components, and bone. Bone **31**(5):547-55.
- 14. Grisso JA, Kelsey JL, Strom BL, O'Brien LA, Maislin G, LaPann K, Samelson L, Hoffman S 1994 Risk factors for hip fracture in black women. The Northeast Hip Fracture Study Group. New England Journal of Medicine **330**(22):1555-9.
- 15. Anonymous 2003 Advance data National Center for Health Statistics. Anthropometric Reference Data, United States, 1988-1994: Tables 6 & 8. Vol. 2003. National Center for Health Statistics: Hyattsville, MD.
- 16. Reid IR, Ames RW, Evans MC, Sharpe SJ, Gamble GD 1994 Determinants of the rate of bone loss in normal postmenopausal women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **79**(4):950-4.
- Reid IR, Ames R, Evans MC, Sharpe S, Gamble G, France JT, Lim TM, Cundy TF 1992 Determinants of total body and regional bone mineral density in normal postmenopausal women--a key role for fat mass. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 75(1):45-51.
- 18. Perry HM, 3rd, Horowitz M, Morley JE, Fleming S, Jensen J, Caccione P, Miller DK, Kaiser FE, Sundarum M 1996 Aging and bone metabolism in African American and Caucasian women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(3):1108-17.
- 19. Kirchengast S, Peterson B, Hauser G, Knogler W 2001 Body composition characteristics are associated with the bone density of the proximal femur end in middle- and old-aged women and men. Maturitas **39**(2):133-45.
- 20. Cauley JA, Lui L-Y, Stone KL, Hillier TA, Zmuda JM, Hochberg M, Beck TJ, Ensrud KE 2005 Longitudinal Study of Changes in Hip Bone Mineral Density in Caucasian and African-American Women. J Am Geriatr Soc **53**(2):183-189.
- 21. Luckey MM, Wallenstein S, Lapinski R, Meier DE 1996 A prospective study of bone loss in African-American and white women--a clinical research center study. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **81**(8):2948-56.
- 22. Katzman DK, Bachrach LK, Carter DR, Marcus R 1991 Clinical and anthropometric correlates of bone mineral acquisition in healthy adolescent girls. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **73**(6):1332-9.
- 23. Bakhireva LN, Barrett-Connor E, Kritz-Silverstein D, Morton DJ 2004 Modifiable predictors of bone loss in older men: a prospective study.[erratum appears in Am J Prev Med. 2004 Oct;27(3):265]. American Journal of Preventive Medicine **26**(5):436-42.
- 24. Baron JA, Barrett J, Malenka D, Fisher E, Kniffin W, Bubolz T, Tosteson T 1994 Racial differences in fracture risk. Epidemiology **5**(1):42-7.
- 25. Bohannon AD, Hanlon JT, Landerman R, Gold DT 1999 Association of race and other potential risk factors with nonvertebral fractures in community-dwelling elderly women. American Journal of Epidemiology **149**(11):1002-9.
- 26. Farmer ME, White LR, Brody JA, Bailey KR 1984 Race and sex differences in hip fracture incidence. American Journal of Public Health **74**(12):1374-80.
- 27. Orces CH, Lee S 2003 Trend of Hip Fracture Hospitalization, United States, 1990-2000 Abstract, vol. 2003 Annual Meeting of the American College of Rhuematology.
- 28. Nicodemus KK, Folsom AR, Iowa Women's Health S 2001 Type 1 and type 2 diabetes and incident hip fractures in postmenopausal women. Diabetes Care **24**(7):1192-7.
- 29. Schwartz AV, Sellmeyer DE, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Tabor HK, Schreiner PJ, Jamal SA, Black DM, Cummings SR, Study of Osteoporotic Features Research G 2001 Older women with diabetes have an increased risk of fracture: a prospective study.[see comment]. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **86**(1):32-8.
- 30. Aloia JF, Vaswani AN, Yeh JK, Ross P, Ellis K, Cohn SH 1983 Determinants of bone mass in postmenopausal women. Archives of Internal Medicine **143**(9):1700-4.
- 31. Bohannon AD 1999 Osteoporosis and African American women. Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine **8**(5):609-15.

32. Garnero P, Delmas PD 2004 Contribution of bone mineral density and bone turnover markers to the estimation of risk of osteoporotic fracture in postmenopausal women. Journal of Musculoskeletal Neuronal Interactions **4**(1):50-63.

APPENDIX

Sample Questionnaire from Tobago Women's Health Study

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adebajo, A. O., C. Cooper, and J. G. Evans. "Fractures of the Hip and Distal Forearm in West Africa and the United Kingdom." <u>Age & Ageing</u> 20.6 (1991): 435-8.
- Aloia, J. F., et al. "Biochemical and Hormonal Variables in Black and White Women Matched for Age and Weight.[See Comment]." <u>Journal of Laboratory & Clinical Medicine</u> 132.5 (1998): 383-9.
- ---. "Differences in Skeletal and Muscle Mass with Aging in Black and White Women." <u>American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 278.6 (2000): E1153-7.
- ---. "Comparison of Body Composition in Black and White Premenopausal Women.[See Comment]." Journal of Laboratory & Clinical Medicine 129.3 (1997): 294-9.
- ---. "To What Extent Is Bone Mass Determined by Fat-Free or Fat Mass?" <u>American Journal of</u> <u>Clinical Nutrition</u> 61.5 (1995): 1110-4.
- ---. "Body Composition by Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry in Black Compared with White Women." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 10.2 (1999): 114-9.
- ---. "Determinants of Bone Mass in Postmenopausal Women." <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 143.9 (1983): 1700-4.
- ---. "Aging Bone Loss from the Femur, Spine, Radius, and Total Skeleton." <u>Metabolism: Clinical</u> <u>& Experimental</u> 39.11 (1990): 1144-50.
- ---. "Risk for Osteoporosis in Black Women." Calcified Tissue International 59.6 (1996): 415-23.
- Amin, S., and D. T. Felson. "Osteoporosis in Men." <u>Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North</u> <u>America</u> 27.1 (2001): 19-47.
- Anonymous. <u>Advance Data National Center for Health Statistics</u>. <u>Anthropometric Reference</u> <u>Data</u>, <u>United States</u>, <u>1988-1994</u>: <u>Tables 6 & 8</u>. <u>Vol. 2003</u>: National Center for Health</u> Statistics: Hyattsville, MD, 2003.
- ---. "NIH Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy, March 7-29, 2000: Highlights of the Conference." <u>Southern Medical Journal</u> 94.6 (2001): 569-73.
- Aspray, T. J., et al. "Low Bone Mineral Content Is Common but Osteoporotic Fractures Are Rare in Elderly Rural Gambian Women." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 11.7 (1996): 1019-25.
- Bachrach, L. K., et al. "Bone Mineral Acquisition in Healthy Asian, Hispanic, Black, and Caucasian Youth: A Longitudinal Study." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & <u>Metabolism</u> 84.12 (1999): 4702-12.
- Bailey, DA, et al. "A Six-Year Longitudinal Study of the Relationship of Physical Activity to Bone Mineral Accrual in Growing Children: The University of Saskatchewan Bone Mineral Accrual Study." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 14.10 (1999): 1672-9.
- Bakhireva, L. N., et al. "Modifiable Predictors of Bone Loss in Older Men: A Prospective Study.[Erratum Appears in Am J Prev Med. 2004 Oct;27(3):265]." <u>American Journal of Preventive Medicine</u> 26.5 (2004): 436-42.
- Baron, J. A., et al. "Racial Differences in Fracture Risk." Epidemiology 5.1 (1994): 42-7.
- Barondess, D. A., D. A. Nelson, and S. E. Schlaen. "Whole Body Bone, Fat, and Lean Mass in Black and White Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 12.6 (1997): 967-71.
- Barrett, J. A., et al. "Fracture Risk in the U.S. Medicare Population." Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 52.3 (1999): 243-9.

- Barrett-Connor, E., J. C. Chang, and S. L. Edelstein. "Coffee-Associated Osteoporosis Offset by Daily Milk Consumption. The Rancho Bernardo Study." JAMA 271.4 (1994): 280-3.
- Barrett-Connor, E., and D. Kritz-Silverstein. "Does Hyperinsulinemia Preserve Bone?" <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Care</u> 19.12 (1996): 1388-92.
- Bauer, D. C., et al. "Factors Associated with Appendicular Bone Mass in Older Women. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[See Comment]." <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 118.9 (1993): 657-65.
- ---. "Aspirin and Nsaid Use in Older Women: Effect on Bone Mineral Density and Fracture Risk. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." <u>Journal of Bone & Mineral Research</u> 11.1 (1996): 29-35.
- Baumgartner, R. N., et al. "Associations of Fat and Muscle Masses with Bone Mineral in Elderly Men and Women." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 63.3 (1996): 365-72.
- Bell, N. H. "25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 Reverses Alteration of the Vitamin D-Endocrine System in Blacks.[Erratum Appears in Am J Med 1996 Aug;101(2):239]." <u>American Journal of</u> <u>Medicine</u> 99.6 (1995): 597-9.
- Bell, N. H., et al. "Demonstration That Bone Mineral Density of the Lumbar Spine, Trochanter, and Femoral Neck Is Higher in Black Than in White Young Men." <u>Calcified Tissue</u> <u>International</u> 56.1 (1995): 11-3.
- Bendavid, E. J., J. Shan, and E. Barrett-Connor. "Factors Associated with Bone Mineral Density in Middle-Aged Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 11.8 (1996): 1185-90.
- Berruti, A., et al. "Changes in Bone Mineral Density, Lean Body Mass and Fat Content as Measured by Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry in Patients with Prostate Cancer without Apparent Bone Metastases Given Androgen Deprivation Therapy." Journal of Urology 167.6 (2002): 2361-7; discussion 67.
- Bohannon, A. D. "Osteoporosis and African American Women." Journal of Womens Health & <u>Gender-Based Medicine</u> 8.5 (1999): 609-15.
- Bohannon, A. D., et al. "Association of Race and Other Potential Risk Factors with Nonvertebral Fractures in Community-Dwelling Elderly Women." <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 149.11 (1999): 1002-9.
- Broussard, D. L., and J. H. Magnus. "Risk Assessment and Screening for Low Bone Mineral Density in a Multi-Ethnic Population of Women and Men: Does One Approach Fit All?" <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 15.5 (2004): 349-60.
- Bryant, R. J., et al. "Racial Differences in Bone Turnover and Calcium Metabolism in Adolescent Females." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 88.3 (2003): 1043-7.
- Buist, D. S., et al. "Bone Mineral Density and Endogenous Hormones and Risk of Breast Cancer in Postmenopausal Women (United States)." <u>Cancer Causes & Control</u> 12.3 (2001): 213-22.
- Bunker, C. H., et al. "High Prevalence of Screening-Detected Prostate Cancer among Afro-Caribbeans: The Tobago Prostate Cancer Survey." <u>Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers &</u> <u>Prevention</u> 11.8 (2002): 726-9.
- Burger, H., et al. "Risk Factors for Increased Bone Loss in an Elderly Population: The Rotterdam Study." <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 147.9 (1998): 871-9.
- ---. "Association of Radiographically Evident Osteoarthritis with Higher Bone Mineral Density and Increased Bone Loss with Age. The Rotterdam Study." <u>Arthritis & Rheumatism</u> 39.1 (1996): 81-6.

- Campion, Jant M., and Michael J. Maricic. "Osteoporosis in Men." <u>American Family Physician</u> 67.7 (2003): 1521-6.
- Cappuccio, F. P., et al. "High Blood Pressure and Bone-Mineral Loss in Elderly White Women: A Prospective Study. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." <u>Lancet</u> 354.9183 (1999): 971-5.
- Carbone, L. D., et al. "Association between Bone Mineral Density and the Use of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and Aspirin: Impact of Cyclooxygenase Selectivity." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Bone & Mineral Research</u> 18.10 (2003): 1795-802.
- Cauley, J A, et al. "Black-White Differences in Serum Sex Hormones and Bone Mineral Density." <u>American Journal Of Epidemiology</u> 139.10 (1994): 1035-46.
- Cauley, J. A., et al. "Effects of Thiazide Diuretic Therapy on Bone Mass, Fractures, and Falls. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 118.9 (1993): 666-73.
- ---. "Factors Associated with Lumbar Spine and Proximal Femur Bone Mineral Density in Older Men." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> In press (2004).
- ---. "Bone Mineral Density and Risk of Breast Cancer in Older Women: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[See Comment]." JAMA 276.17 (1996): 1404-8.
- ---. "Bone Mineral Density and Prevalent Vertebral Fractures in Men and Women." <u>Osteoporosis</u> <u>International</u> 15.1 (2004): 32-7.
- ---. "Apolipoprotein E Polymorphism: A New Genetic Marker of Hip Fracture Risk--the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 14.7 (1999): 1175-81.
- Cauley, Jane A., et al. "Longitudinal Study of Changes in Hip Bone Mineral Density in Caucasian and African-American Women." J Am Geriatr Soc 53.2 (2005): 183-89.
- Center, J. R., et al. "Hormonal and Biochemical Parameters in the Determination of Osteoporosis in Elderly Men." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 84.10 (1999): 3626-35.
- Chakraborty, R., et al. "Caucasian Genes in American Blacks: New Data.[See Comment]." <u>American Journal of Human Genetics</u> 50.1 (1992): 145-55.
- Chatterjee, S., and B. Price. <u>Regression Analysis by Example</u>. 2nd ed. ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1991.
- Christodoulou, C., and C. Cooper. "What Is Osteoporosis?" <u>Postgraduate Medical Journal</u> 79.929 (2003): 133-8.
- Cooper, C., G. Campion, and L. J. Melton, 3rd. "Hip Fractures in the Elderly: A World-Wide Projection." 2.6 (1992): 285-9.
- Cummings, S. R., D. Bates, and D. M. Black. "Clinical Use of Bone Densitometry: Scientific Review." JAMA 288.15 (2002): 1889-97.
- Cummings, S. R., and D. Black. "Bone Mass Measurements and Risk of Fracture in Caucasian Women: A Review of Findings from Prospective Studies." <u>American Journal of</u> <u>Medicine</u> 98.2A (1995): 24S-28S.
- Cummings, S. R., et al. "Racial Differences in Hip Axis Lengths Might Explain Racial Differences in Rates of Hip Fracture. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." Osteoporosis International 4.4 (1994): 226-9.
- ---. "Epidemiology of Osteoporosis and Osteoporotic Fractures." <u>Epidemiologic Reviews</u> 7 (1985): 178-208.

- Cummings, S. R., and L. J. Melton. "Epidemiology and Outcomes of Osteoporotic Fractures." Lancet 359.9319 (2002): 1761-7.
- Cummings, S. R., and M. C. Nevitt. "Falls." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 331.13 (1994): 872-3.
- Cummings, S. R., et al. "Risk Factors for Hip Fracture in White Women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[See Comment]." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 332.12 (1995): 767-73.
- Cundy, T., et al. "Sources of Interracial Variation in Bone Mineral Density." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10.3 (1995): 368-73.
- Daniels, E. D., et al. "Ethnic Differences in Bone Density in Female South African Nurses." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10.3 (1995): 359-67.
- Dargent-Molina, P., et al. "In Elderly Women Weight Is the Best Predictor of a Very Low Bone Mineral Density: Evidence from the Epidos Study." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 11.10 (2000): 881-8.
- Dawson, Nancy A. "Therapeutic Benefit of Bisphosphonates in the Management of Prostate Cancer-Related Bone Disease." Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy 4.5 (2003): 705-16.
- Dawson-Hughes, B., et al. "Calcium Retention and Hormone Levels in Black and White Women on High- and Low-Calcium Diets." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 8.7 (1993): 779-87.
- Delmas, P. D., et al. "The Use of Biochemical Markers of Bone Turnover in Osteoporosis. Committee of Scientific Advisors of the International Osteoporosis Foundation." Osteoporosis International 11 Suppl 6 (2000): S2-17.
- Dennison, E., et al. "Determinants of Bone Loss in Elderly Men and Women: A Prospective Population-Based Study." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 10.5 (1999): 384-91.
- Dibba, B., et al. "An Investigation of Ethnic Differences in Bone Mineral, Hip Axis Length, Calcium Metabolism and Bone Turnover between West African and Caucasian Adults Living in the United Kingdom." <u>Annals of Human Biology</u> 26.3 (1999): 229-42.
- Egger, P., et al. "Cigarette Smoking and Bone Mineral Density in the Elderly." Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 50.1 (1996): 47-50.
- Ensrud, K. E., et al. "Hip and Calcaneal Bone Loss Increase with Advancing Age: Longitudinal Results from the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10.11 (1995): 1778-87.
- Ettinger, B. "Postmenopausal Osteoporosis." <u>Current Therapy in Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 6 (1997): 639-44.
- Ettinger, B., et al. "Associations between Low Levels of Serum Estradiol, Bone Density, and Fractures among Elderly Women: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures." Journal of <u>Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 83.7 (1998): 2239-43.
- ---. "Racial Differences in Bone Density between Young Adult Black and White Subjects Persist after Adjustment for Anthropometric, Lifestyle, and Biochemical Differences." Journal of <u>Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 82.2 (1997): 429-34.
- Farmer, M. E., et al. "Race and Sex Differences in Hip Fracture Incidence." <u>American Journal of</u> <u>Public Health</u> 74.12 (1984): 1374-80.
- Fatayerji, D., A. M. Cooper, and R. Eastell. "Total Body and Regional Bone Mineral Density in Men: Effect of Age." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 10.1 (1999): 59-65.
- Fatayerji, D., and R. Eastell. "Age-Related Changes in Bone Turnover in Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 14.7 (1999): 1203-10.

- Finkelstein, J. S., et al. "Ethnic Variation in Bone Density in Premenopausal and Early Perimenopausal Women: Effects of Anthropometric and Lifestyle Factors.[See Comment]." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 87.7 (2002): 3057-67.
- ---. "Ethnic Variation in Bone Turnover in Pre- and Early Perimenopausal Women: Effects of Anthropometric and Lifestyle Factors.[See Comment]." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 87.7 (2002): 3051-6.
- Fox, K. M., et al. "Family History and Risk of Osteoporotic Fracture. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 8.6 (1998): 557-62.
- Francis, R. M. "Falls and Fractures." Age & Ageing 30 Suppl 4 (2001): 25-8.
- Fried, L. P., et al. "The Cardiovascular Health Study: Design and Rationale." <u>Annals of Epidemiology</u> 1.3 (1991): 263-76.
- Fuleihan, G. E., et al. "Racial Differences in Parathyroid Hormone Dynamics." Journal of <u>Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 79.6 (1994): 1642-7.
- Gallagher, D., et al. "Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass: Effects of Age, Gender, and Ethnicity." Journal of Applied Physiology 83.1 (1997): 229-39.
- Garnero, P., and P. D. Delmas. "Contribution of Bone Mineral Density and Bone Turnover Markers to the Estimation of Risk of Osteoporotic Fracture in Postmenopausal Women." Journal of Musculoskeletal Neuronal Interactions 4.1 (2004): 50-63.
- Garnero, P., et al. "Increased Bone Turnover in Late Postmenopausal Women Is a Major Determinant of Osteoporosis." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 11.3 (1996): 337-49.
- George, A., et al. "Racial Differences in Bone Mineral Density in Older Men." Journal of Bone <u>& Mineral Research</u> 18.12 (2003): 2238-44.
- Glantz, S.A., and B.K. Slinker. <u>Primer of Applied Regression and Analysis of Variance</u>. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc., 2001.
- Glynn, N. W., et al. "Determinants of Bone Mineral Density in Older Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10.11 (1995): 1769-77.
- Grainge, M. J., et al. "Association between a Family History of Fractures and Bone Mineral Density in Early Postmenopausal Women." <u>Bone</u> 24.5 (1999): 507-12.
- ---. "Cigarette Smoking, Alcohol and Caffeine Consumption, and Bone Mineral Density in Postmenopausal Women. The Nottingham Epic Study Group." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 8.4 (1998): 355-63.
- ---. "Reproductive, Menstrual and Menopausal Factors: Which Are Associated with Bone Mineral Density in Early Postmenopausal Women?" <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 12.9 (2001): 777-87.
- Greendale, G. A., S. Edelstein, and E. Barrett-Connor. "Endogenous Sex Steroids and Bone Mineral Density in Older Women and Men: The Rancho Bernardo Study." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 12.11 (1997): 1833-43.
- Greenspan, S. L., et al. "Femoral Bone Loss Progresses with Age: A Longitudinal Study in Women over Age 65." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9.12 (1994): 1959-65.
- Gregg, E. W., et al. "Diabetes and Physical Disability among Older U.S. Adults." <u>Diabetes Care</u> 23.9 (2000): 1272-7.
- Gregg, E. W., M. A. Pereira, and C. J. Caspersen. "Physical Activity, Falls, and Fractures among Older Adults: A Review of the Epidemiologic Evidence." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 48.8 (2000): 883-93.
- Griffin, M. R., et al. "Black-White Differences in Fracture Rates." <u>American Journal of</u> <u>Epidemiology</u> 136.11 (1992): 1378-85.

- Grisso, J. A., et al. "Risk Factors for Hip Fracture in Men. Hip Fracture Study Group." <u>American</u> Journal of Epidemiology 145.9 (1997): 786-93.
- ---. "Risk Factors for Hip Fracture in Black Women. The Northeast Hip Fracture Study Group." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 330.22 (1994): 1555-9.
- Gullberg, B., O. Johnell, and J. A. Kanis. "World-Wide Projections for Hip Fracture." Osteoporosis International 7.5 (1997): 407-13.
- Guo, S. S., et al. "Aging, Body Composition, and Lifestyle: The Fels Longitudinal Study." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 70.3 (1999): 405-11.
- Hanley, D. A., et al. "Associations among Disease Conditions, Bone Mineral Density, and Prevalent Vertebral Deformities in Men and Women 50 Years of Age and Older: Cross-Sectional Results from the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study." Journal of Bone & <u>Mineral Research</u> 18.4 (2003): 784-90.
- Hannan, M. T., et al. "Risk Factors for Longitudinal Bone Loss in Elderly Men and Women: The Framingham Osteoporosis Study." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 15.4 (2000): 710-20.
- Harris, S. S., and B. Dawson-Hughes. "Weight, Body Composition, and Bone Density in Postmenopausal Women." <u>Calcified Tissue International</u> 59.6 (1996): 428-32.
- Harris, S. S., et al. "Secondary Hyperparathyroidism and Bone Turnover in Elderly Blacks and Whites." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 86.8 (2001): 3801-4.
- Harris, T. J., et al. "Ethnic Differences in Use of Hormone Replacement Therapy: Community Based Survey." <u>BMJ</u> 319.7210 (1999): 610-1.
- Heaney, R. P., et al. "Peak Bone Mass." Osteoporosis International 11.12 (2000): 985-1009.
- Henry, Y. M., and R. Eastell. "Ethnic and Gender Differences in Bone Mineral Density and Bone Turnover in Young Adults: Effect of Bone Size." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 11.6 (2000): 512-7.
- Horlick, M., et al. "Bone Mineral in Prepubertal Children: Gender and Ethnicity." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 15.7 (2000): 1393-7.
- Hosmer, W. D., H. K. Genant, and W. S. Browner. "Fractures before Menopause: A Red Flag for Physicians." Osteoporosis International 13.4 (2002): 337-41.
- Hui, S. L., et al. "Difference in Bone Mass between Black and White American Children: Attributable to Body Build, Sex Hormone Levels, or Bone Turnover?" <u>Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 88.2 (2003): 642-9.
- Huuskonen, J., et al. "Determinants of Bone Mineral Density in Middle Aged Men: A Population-Based Study." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 11.8 (2000): 702-8.
- Izumotani, K., et al. "Risk Factors for Osteoporosis in Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Metabolism 21.2 (2003): 86-90.
- Jamal, S. A., et al. "Intermittent Use of Nitrates Increases Bone Mineral Density: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 13.11 (1998): 1755-9.
- Jones, G., et al. "Progressive Loss of Bone in the Femoral Neck in Elderly People: Longitudinal Findings from the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study." <u>BMJ</u> 309.6956 (1994): 691-5.
- Kanis, J. A. "Diagnosis of Osteoporosis." Osteoporosis International 7 Suppl 3 (1997): S108-16.
- Kanis, J. A., et al. "Guidelines for Diagnosis and Management of Osteoporosis. The European Foundation for Osteoporosis and Bone Disease." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 7.4 (1997): 390-406.

- Kanis, J. A., and E. V. McCloskey. "Risk Factors in Osteoporosis." <u>Maturitas</u> 30.3 (1998): 229-33.
- Kannus, P., et al. "Epidemiology of Hip Fractures." Bone 18.1 Suppl (1996): 57S-63S.
- Katzman, D. K., et al. "Clinical and Anthropometric Correlates of Bone Mineral Acquisition in Healthy Adolescent Girls." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 73.6 (1991): 1332-9.
- Kenny, A. M., and K. M. Prestwood. "Osteoporosis. Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Treatment in Older Adults." <u>Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America</u> 26.3 (2000): 569-91.
- Khosla, S., et al. "Relationship between Body Composition and Bone Mass in Women." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 11.6 (1996): 857-63.
- Kiel, D. P., et al. "The Effect of Smoking at Different Life Stages on Bone Mineral Density in Elderly Men and Women." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 6.3 (1996): 240-8.
- Kirchengast, S., et al. "Body Composition Characteristics Are Associated with the Bone Density of the Proximal Femur End in Middle- and Old-Aged Women and Men." <u>Maturitas</u> 39.2 (2001): 133-45.
- Kleerekoper, M., et al. "Reference Data for Bone Mass, Calciotropic Hormones, and Biochemical Markers of Bone Remodeling in Older (55-75) Postmenopausal White and Black Women." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9.8 (1994): 1267-76.
- ---. "Body Composition and Gonadal Steroids in Older White and Black Women." Journal of <u>Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 79.3 (1994): 775-9.
- Knoke, J. D., and E. Barrett-Connor. "Weight Loss: A Determinant of Hip Bone Loss in Older Men and Women. The Rancho Bernardo Study." <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 158.12 (2003): 1132-8.
- Kotzan, J. A., et al. "The Impact of Race and Fractures on Mortality in a Postmenopausal Medicaid Population." <u>Clinical Therapeutics</u> 21.11 (1999): 1988-2000.
- Kuczmarski, M. F., R. J. Kuczmarski, and M. Najjar. "Descriptive Anthropometric Reference Data for Older Americans." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 100.1 (2000): 59-66.
- Kumeda, Y., et al. "Persistent Increase in Bone Turnover in Graves' Patients with Subclinical Hyperthyroidism." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 85.11 (2000): 4157-61.
- Kyle, U. G., et al. "Age-Related Differences in Fat-Free Mass, Skeletal Muscle, Body Cell Mass and Fat Mass between 18 and 94 Years." <u>European Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 55.8 (2001): 663-72.
- ---. "Total Body Mass, Fat Mass, Fat-Free Mass, and Skeletal Muscle in Older People: Cross-Sectional Differences in 60-Year-Old Persons." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 49.12 (2001): 1633-40.
- ---. "Fat-Free and Fat Mass Percentiles in 5225 Healthy Subjects Aged 15 to 98 Years.[See Comment]." Nutrition 17.7-8 (2001): 534-41.
- Lane, JM, L Russell, and SN Khan. "Osteoporosis." <u>Clinical Orthopaedics & Related</u> <u>Research.372 (2000): 139-50.</u>
- Law, M. R., and A. K. Hackshaw. "A Meta-Analysis of Cigarette Smoking, Bone Mineral Density and Risk of Hip Fracture: Recognition of a Major Effect.[See Comment]." <u>BMJ</u> 315.7112 (1997): 841-6.
- Levine, Jeffrey P. "Long-Term Estrogen and Hormone Replacement Therapy for the Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis." <u>Current Women's Health Reports</u> 3.3 (2003): 181-6.

- Liang, Matthew H., et al. "Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus." Journal of the National Medical Association 94.9 (2002): 813-9.
- Lloyd, T., et al. "Dietary Caffeine Intake and Bone Status of Postmenopausal Women." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 65.6 (1997): 1826-30.
- Looker, A. C., T. J. Beck, and E. S. Orwoll. "Does Body Size Account for Gender Differences in Femur Bone Density and Geometry?" Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 16.7 (2001): 1291-9.
- Looker, A. C., et al. "Prevalence of Low Femoral Bone Density in Older U.S. Adults from Nhanes Iii.[See Comment]." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 12.11 (1997): 1761-8.
- ---. "Updated Data on Proximal Femur Bone Mineral Levels of Us Adults." <u>Osteoporosis</u> <u>International</u> 8.5 (1998): 468-89.
- Luckey, M. M., et al. "A Prospective Study of Bone Loss in African-American and White Women--a Clinical Research Center Study." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & <u>Metabolism</u> 81.8 (1996): 2948-56.
- Lui, L. Y., et al. "Bone Loss Predicts Subsequent Cognitive Decline in Older Women: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 51.1 (2003): 38-43.
- Luke, A., et al. "Relation between Body Mass Index and Body Fat in Black Population Samples from Nigeria, Jamaica, and the United States." <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 145.7 (1997): 620-8.
- Matsumine, H., et al. "Aromatization by Skeletal Muscle." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & <u>Metabolism</u> 63.3 (1986): 717-20.
- May, H., S. Murphy, and K. T. Khaw. "Age-Associated Bone Loss in Men and Women and Its Relationship to Weight." <u>Age & Ageing</u> 23.3 (1994): 235-40.
- Mazess, R. B., et al. "Influence of Age and Body Weight on Spine and Femur Bone Mineral Density in U.S. White Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5.6 (1990): 645-52.
- McClung, M., et al. "Alendronate Prevents Postmenopausal Bone Loss in Women without Osteoporosis. A Double-Blind, Randomized, Controlled Trial. Alendronate Osteoporosis Prevention Study Group.[See Comment]." <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 128.4 (1998): 253-61.
- McKane, W. R., et al. "Mechanism of Renal Calcium Conservation with Estrogen Replacement Therapy in Women in Early Postmenopause--a Clinical Research Center Study." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 80.12 (1995): 3458-64.
- Means, K. M., P. S. O'Sullivan, and D. E. Rodell. "Balance, Mobility, and Falls among Elderly African American Women." <u>American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation</u> 79.1 (2000): 30-9.
- Meier, D. E., et al. "Calcium, Vitamin D, and Parathyroid Hormone Status in Young White and Black Women: Association with Racial Differences in Bone Mass." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 72.3 (1991): 703-10.
- ---. "Racial Differences in Pre- and Postmenopausal Bone Homeostasis: Association with Bone Density." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 7.10 (1992): 1181-9.
- Melton, L. J., 3rd, et al. "Variations in Bone Density among Persons of African Heritage." Osteoporosis International 13.7 (2002): 551-9.
- Melton, L. J., 3rd. "Epidemiology of Hip Fractures: Implications of the Exponential Increase with Age." <u>Bone</u> 18.3 Suppl (1996): 121S-25S.

- Melton, L. J., 3rd, et al. "Fracture Risk Following Bilateral Orchiectomy." Journal of Urology 169.5 (2003): 1747-50.
- ---. "Bone Density and Fracture Risk in Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 13.12 (1998): 1915-23.
- ---. "Cross-Sectional Versus Longitudinal Evaluation of Bone Loss in Men and Women." Osteoporosis International 11.7 (2000): 592-9.
- Mora, S., and V. Gilsanz. "Establishment of Peak Bone Mass." <u>Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> <u>Clinics of North America</u> 32.1 (2003): 39-63.
- Mussolino, M. E., J. H. Madans, and R. F. Gillum. "Bone Mineral Density and Stroke." <u>Stroke</u> 34.5 (2003): e20-2.
- Nelson, D. A., et al. "Cross-Sectional Geometry, Bone Strength, and Bone Mass in the Proximal Femur in Black and White Postmenopausal Women." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 15.10 (2000): 1992-7.
- ---. "Radial Bone Density and Breast Cancer Risk in White and African-American Women." Osteoporosis International 15.7 (2004): 535-40.
- ---. "Ethnic Differences in Regional Bone Density, Hip Axis Length, and Lifestyle Variables among Healthy Black and White Men." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10.5 (1995): 782-7.
- Nelson, D. A., M. Kleerekoper, and A. M. Parfitt. "Bone Mass, Skin Color and Body Size among Black and White Women." <u>Bone & Mineral</u> 4.3 (1988): 257-64.
- Nelson, D. A., P. J. Vande Vord, and P. H. Wooley. "Polymorphism in the Vitamin D Receptor Gene and Bone Mass in African-American and White Mothers and Children: A Preliminary Report." <u>Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases</u> 59.8 (2000): 626-30.
- Nevitt, M. C., and S. R. Cummings. "Type of Fall and Risk of Hip and Wrist Fractures: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group.[See Comment]." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 41.11 (1993): 1226-34.
- Nguyen, T., et al. "Prediction of Osteoporotic Fractures by Postural Instability and Bone Density.[See Comment]." <u>BMJ</u> 307.6912 (1993): 1111-5.
- Nguyen, T. V., et al. "Lifestyle Factors and Bone Density in the Elderly: Implications for Osteoporosis Prevention." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 9.9 (1994): 1339-46.
- Nicodemus, K. K., A. R. Folsom, and Study Iowa Women's Health. "Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes and Incident Hip Fractures in Postmenopausal Women." <u>Diabetes Care</u> 24.7 (2001): 1192-7.
- Orces, C.H., and S. Lee. "Trend of Hip Fracture Hospitalization, United States, 1990-2000." Abstract, 2003. Vol. 2003 Annual Meeting of the American College of Rhuematology.
- Orwoll, E. S. "Osteoporosis in Men." Endocrinology & Metabolism Clinics of North America 27.2 (1998): 349-67.
- Orwoll, E. S., et al. "Axial Bone Mass in Older Women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 124.2 (1996): 187-96.
- Orwoll, E. S., J. K. Belknap, and R. F. Klein. "Gender Specificity in the Genetic Determinants of Peak Bone Mass." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 16.11 (2001): 1962-71.
- Orwoll, E. S., L. Bevan, and K. R. Phipps. "Determinants of Bone Mineral Density in Older Men." Osteoporosis International 11.10 (2000): 815-21.
- Orwoll, E. S., and R. F. Klein. "Osteoporosis in Men." Endocrine Reviews 16.1 (1995): 87-116.

- Osteoporosis., Fast Facts on. "Available At: Http://Www.Nof.Org/Osteoporosis/Stats/Htm." Disease statistics (Accessibility verified April 6, 2005).
- Pande, I., and R. M. Francis. "Osteoporosis in Men." <u>Best Practice & Research in Clinical</u> <u>Rheumatology</u> 15.3 (2001): 415-27.
- Parra, E. J., et al. "Estimating African American Admixture Proportions by Use of Population-Specific Alleles." <u>American Journal of Human Genetics</u> 63.6 (1998): 1839-51.
- Pasco, J. A., et al. "Beta-Adrenergic Blockers Reduce the Risk of Fracture Partly by Increasing Bone Mineral Density: Geelong Osteoporosis Study." Journal of Bone & Mineral <u>Research</u> 19.1 (2004): 19-24.
- Perry, H. M., 3rd, et al. "Aging and Bone Metabolism in African American and Caucasian Women." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 81.3 (1996): 1108-17.
- Pluijm, S. M., et al. "Determinants of Bone Mineral Density in Older Men and Women: Body Composition as Mediator." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 16.11 (2001): 2142-51.
- Prentice, A., et al. "Bone Mineral Content of British and Rural Gambian Women Aged 18-80+ Years." <u>Bone & Mineral</u> 12.3 (1991): 201-14.
- Pyorala, K., and D. Wood. "Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease in Clinical Practice. European Recommendations Revised and Reinforced.[Comment]." <u>European Heart Journal</u> 19.10 (1998): 1413-5.
- Ramnemark, A., et al. "Stroke, a Major and Increasing Risk Factor for Femoral Neck Fracture." <u>Stroke</u> 31.7 (2000): 1572-7.
- Recker, Robert R., and Hong-Wen Deng. "Role of Genetics in Osteoporosis." <u>Endocrine</u> 17.1 (2002): 55-66.
- Reid, I. R. "Glucocorticoid-Induced Osteoporosis." <u>Best Practice & Research Clinical</u> <u>Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 14.2 (2000): 279-98.
- ---. "Preventing Glucocorticoid-Induced Osteoporosis." <u>Zeitschrift fur Rheumatologie</u> 59 Suppl 2 (2000): II/97-102.
- ---. "Relationships among Body Mass, Its Components, and Bone." Bone 31.5 (2002): 547-55.
- Reid, I. R., et al. "Determinants of Total Body and Regional Bone Mineral Density in Normal Postmenopausal Women--a Key Role for Fat Mass." <u>Journal of Clinical Endocrinology &</u> <u>Metabolism</u> 75.1 (1992): 45-51.
- ---. "Determinants of the Rate of Bone Loss in Normal Postmenopausal Women." Journal of <u>Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 79.4 (1994): 950-4.
- ---. "Hydrochlorothiazide Reduces Loss of Cortical Bone in Normal Postmenopausal Women: A Randomized Controlled Trial.[See Comment]." <u>American Journal of Medicine</u> 109.5 (2000): 362-70.
- Reid, I. R., M. C. Evans, and R. W. Ames. "Volumetric Bone Density of the Lumbar Spine Is Related to Fat Mass but Not Lean Mass in Normal Postmenopausal Women." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 4.6 (1994): 362-7.
- Reid, I. R., L. D. Plank, and M. C. Evans. "Fat Mass Is an Important Determinant of Whole Body Bone Density in Premenopausal Women but Not in Men." <u>Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 75.3 (1992): 779-82.
- Rico, H. "Alcohol and Bone Disease." Alcohol & Alcoholism 25.4 (1990): 345-52.
- Riggs, B. L., and L. J. Melton, 3rd. "Involutional Osteoporosis." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 314.26 (1986): 1676-86.
- Riggs, B. Lawrence, and Lynn C. Hartmann. "Selective Estrogen-Receptor Modulators --Mechanisms of Action and Application to Clinical Practice.[See Comment][Erratum

Appears in N Engl J Med. 2003 Mar 20;348(12):1192]." <u>New England Journal of</u> <u>Medicine</u> 348.7 (2003): 618-29.

- Ringsberg, K. A., et al. "The Impact of Long-Term Moderate Physical Activity on Functional Performance, Bone Mineral Density and Fracture Incidence in Elderly Women." <u>Gerontology</u> 47.1 (2001): 15-20.
- Rizzoli, R., and J. P. Bonjour. "Determinants of Peak Bone Mass and Mechanisms of Bone Loss." <u>Osteoporosis International</u> 9 Suppl 2 (1999): S17-23.
- Robbins, J., C. Hirsch, and J. Cauley. "Associates of Bone Mineral Density in Older African Americans." Journal of the National Medical Association 96.12 (2004): 1609-15.
- Rosen, C. J. "Pathogenesis of Osteoporosis." <u>Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology &</u> <u>Metabolism</u> 14.2 (2000): 181-93.
- Ross, D. S., et al. "Subclinical Hyperthyroidism and Reduced Bone Density as a Possible Result of Prolonged Suppression of the Pituitary-Thyroid Axis with L-Thyroxine." <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Medicine</u> 82.6 (1987): 1167-70.
- Ross, P. D. "Prediction of Fracture Risk. Ii: Other Risk Factors." <u>American Journal of the</u> <u>Medical Sciences</u> 312.6 (1996): 260-9.
- Rymer, Janice, Ruth Wilson, and Karen Ballard. "Making Decisions About Hormone Replacement Therapy.[See Comment]." <u>BMJ</u> 326.7384 (2003): 322-6.
- Salamone, L. M., et al. "Effect of a Lifestyle Intervention on Bone Mineral Density in Premenopausal Women: A Randomized Trial." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 70.1 (1999): 97-103.
- SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA. <u>The Sas (R) System for Windows, Proprietary Software Release</u> <u>8.2</u>. Vers. 8.02. Computer software, Copyright © 1999-2001.
- Schwartz, A. V., et al. "Older Women with Diabetes Have an Increased Risk of Fracture: A Prospective Study.[See Comment]." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 86.1 (2001): 32-8.
- Schwartz, Ann V., et al. "Increased Falling as a Risk Factor for Fracture among Older Women: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures." <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 161.2 (2005): 180-5.
- Seeman, E. "During Aging, Men Lose Less Bone Than Women Because They Gain More Periosteal Bone, Not Because They Resorb Less Endosteal Bone." <u>Calcified Tissue</u> <u>International</u> 69.4 (2001): 205-8.
- ---. "Growth in Bone Mass and Size--Are Racial and Gender Differences in Bone Mineral Density More Apparent Than Real?[Comment]." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & <u>Metabolism</u> 83.5 (1998): 1414-9.
- ---. "Osteoporosis in Men." Osteoporosis International 9 Suppl 2 (1999): S97-S110.
- ---. "The Structural Basis of Bone Fragility in Men." Bone 25.1 (1999): 143-7.
- Seeman, Ego. "Pathogenesis of Bone Fragility in Women and Men." Lancet 359.9320 (2002): 1841-50.
- Shibuya, K., et al. "Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Study of Osteoporosis in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis." <u>Clinical Rheumatology</u> 21.2 (2002): 150-8.
- Siris, E. S., et al. "Identification and Fracture Outcomes of Undiagnosed Low Bone Mineral Density in Postmenopausal Women: Results from the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment.[See Comment]." JAMA 286.22 (2001): 2815-22.

- Slemenda, C. W., et al. "Reduced Rates of Skeletal Remodeling Are Associated with Increased Bone Mineral Density During the Development of Peak Skeletal Mass." Journal of Bone <u>& Mineral Research</u> 12.4 (1997): 676-82.
- Smith, M. R., et al. "Pamidronate to Prevent Bone Loss During Androgen-Deprivation Therapy for Prostate Cancer.[See Comment]." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 345.13 (2001): 948-55.
- Smith, Matthew R. "Management of Treatment-Related Osteoporosis in Men with Prostate Cancer." <u>Cancer Treatment Reviews</u> 29.3 (2003): 211-8.
- Snelling, A. M., et al. "Modifiable and Nonmodifiable Factors Associated with Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal Women: Results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994." Journal of Womens Health & Gender-Based Medicine 10.1 (2001): 57-65.
- Solomon, L. "Bone Density in Ageing Caucasian and African Populations." <u>Lancet</u> 2.8156-8157 (1979): 1326-30.
- Steinschneider, Miriam, et al. "Discordant Effect of Body Mass Index on Bone Mineral Density and Speed of Sound." <u>BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders</u> 4.1 (2003): 15.
- Stewart, A., and A. J. Black. "Bone Mineral Density in Osteoarthritis." <u>Current Opinion in</u> <u>Rheumatology</u> 12.5 (2000): 464-7.
- Stolk, R. P., et al. "Hyperinsulinemia and Bone Mineral Density in an Elderly Population: The Rotterdam Study.[Erratum Appears in Bone 1996 Nov;19(5):566]." <u>Bone</u> 18.6 (1996): 545-9.
- Strotmeyer, E. S., et al. "Diabetes Is Associated Independently of Body Composition with Bmd and Bone Volume in Older White and Black Men and Women: The Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 19.7 (2004): 1084-91.
- Taaffe, D. R., et al. "Race and Sex Effects on the Association between Muscle Strength, Soft Tissue, and Bone Mineral Density in Healthy Elders: The Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 16.7 (2001): 1343-52.
- ---. "Sex- and Race-Related Differences in Cross-Sectional Geometry and Bone Density of the Femoral Mid-Shaft in Older Adults." <u>Annals of Human Biology</u> 30.3 (2003): 329-46.
- Takata, S., and N. Yasui. "Disuse Osteoporosis." Journal of Medical Investigation 48.3-4 (2001): 147-56.
- Tanaka, T., et al. "Risk Factors for Proximal Femur Osteoporosis in Men Aged 50 Years or Older." Osteoporosis International 12.11 (2001): 942-9.
- Tremollieres, F. A., J. M. Pouilles, and C. Ribot. "Vertebral Postmenopausal Bone Loss Is Reduced in Overweight Women: A Longitudinal Study in 155 Early Postmenopausal Women." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 77.3 (1993): 683-6.
- Turner, L. W., et al. "Risk Factors for Osteoporosis among Middle-Aged Women." <u>American</u> Journal of Health Behavior 28.3 (2004): 250-9.
- Turner, L. W., M. Q. Wang, and Q. Fu. "Risk Factors for Hip Fracture among Southern Older Women." <u>Southern Medical Journal</u> 91.6 (1998): 533-40.
- van Daele, P. L., et al. "Bone Density in Non-Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. The Rotterdam Study.[See Comment]." <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 122.6 (1995): 409-14.
- Van Langendonck, L., et al. "Association between Bone Mineral Density (Dxa), Body Structure, and Body Composition in Middle-Aged Men." <u>American Journal of Human Biology</u> 14.6 (2002): 735-42.
- Vanderschueren, D., et al. "Androgens and Bone." Endocrine Reviews 25.3 (2004): 389-425.

- Visser, M., et al. "Muscle Mass and Fat Mass in Relation to Bone Mineral Density in Very Old Men and Women: The Framingham Heart Study." <u>Applied Radiation & Isotopes</u> 49.5-6 (1998): 745-7.
- Wagner, D. R., and V. H. Heyward. "Measures of Body Composition in Blacks and Whites: A Comparative Review." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 71.6 (2000): 1392-402.
- Walker-Bone, K., E. Dennison, and C. Cooper. "Epidemiology of Osteoporosis." <u>Rheumatic</u> <u>Diseases Clinics of North America</u> 27.1 (2001): 1-18.
- Wang, M. C., et al. "Bone Mass and Hip Axis Length in Healthy Asian, Black, Hispanic, and White American Youths." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 12.11 (1997): 1922-35.
- Ward, K. D., and R. C. Klesges. "A Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Cigarette Smoking on Bone Mineral Density." <u>Calcified Tissue International</u> 68.5 (2001): 259-70.
- Watts, Nelson. "Bisphosphonates, Statins, Osteoporosis, and Atherosclerosis." <u>Southern Medical</u> Journal 95.6 (2002): 578-82.
- Weinstock, R. S., et al. "Bone Mineral Density in Women with Type Ii Diabetes Mellitus." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 4.1 (1989): 97-101.
- Woodson, G. C. "Risk Factors for Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal African-American Women." Current Medical Research & Opinion 20.10 (2004): 1681-7.
- Wright, N. M., et al. "Greater Secretion of Growth Hormone in Black Than in White Men: Possible Factor in Greater Bone Mineral Density--a Clinical Research Center Study.[See Comment]." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 80.8 (1995): 2291-7.
- Wu, F., et al. "Prospective 10-Year Study of the Determinants of Bone Density and Bone Loss in Normal Postmenopausal Women, Including the Effect of Hormone Replacement Therapy." <u>Clinical Endocrinology</u> 56.6 (2002): 703-11.
- Zmuda, J. M., et al. "Vitamin D Receptor and Aromatase Gene Interaction and Bone Mass in Older African-American Women." <u>Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental</u> 52.5 (2003): 521-3.
- ---. "Vitamin D Receptor Gene Polymorphisms, Bone Turnover, and Rates of Bone Loss in Older African-American Women." Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 12.9 (1997): 1446-52.
- ---. "Bone Mass and Breast Cancer Risk in Older Women: Differences by Stage at Diagnosis." Journal of the National Cancer Institute 93.12 (2001): 930-6.
- Zmuda, J. M., J. A. Cauley, and A. B. Newman. "Bone Mineral Density and Rate of Decline in Bone Mineral Density with Aging among Older Black and White Men and Women: The Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study." <u>25th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research</u>. Minneapolis, MN, 2003.